ISOTOPIC TRACER INVESTIGATIONS OF MECHANISM AND STRUCTURE IN INORGANIC CHEMISTRY

D. R. STRANKS

Chemistry Department, University of Leeds, Yorkshire, England

AND

R. G. WILKINS

Chemistry Department, University of Sheffield, Yorkshire, England

Received September 20, 1956

CONTENTS

-		
I.	Introduction	144
II.	Isotopic exchange reactions	745
	A. Kinetics of isotopic exchange reactions	746
	B. Assignment of rate constants	748
	C. Complications accompanying exchange reactions	750
	D. Important considerations in the interpretation of exchange data.	754
	E. Incidental applications to reaction kinetics	757
III.	Factors influencing the choice of a tracer isotope	758
	A. Availability of isotopes	758
	B. Assay procedures.	760
IV.	Exchange reactions in the detection of equilibria	762
	A. Solvent systems	762
	B. Miscellaneous equilibria.	764
v.	Exchange reactions and molecular structure	769
VI.	Bates and mechanisms of exchange of complexes of the transitional elements	782
• 11	A. Relative advantages of metal and ligand exchange	783
	B Complexes of coördination number four.	785
	1 Exchange of the central atom.	785
	2 Exchange of ligands	788
	C Complexes of coördination number six	792
	1 Exchange of the central atom	792
	2 Exchange of monodentate ligands	794
	3. Exchange of hidentate ligands	801
	D. Exchange of processes	804
	E Evidence for unusual oxidation states	806
	E. Extraction of unusual characteristics	808
	C. Comprehensive table of literature data	809
VII	Isotopa affects in evaluance reactions	819
¥ 11.	A Theoretical treatment	810
	R. Limitations imposed by isotope affects in exchange reactions	825
	C. Experimental exchange equilibrium constants	826
WITT	The tracing of "teggod" stome through chemical reactions	831
v 111.	A Detection of bond cleavage	831
	R. Determination of molecular structure	837
	C. Significance of isotope effects in unidirectional reactions	849
IV	Deferences	954
. 42.		

I. INTRODUCTION

The history of the application of isotopic tracers to the study of inorganic chemistry is marked by three distinct periods. Before 1934 only the heavy elements which had radioactive isotopes, for example, lead, bismuth, thallium, and thorium, could be used to "trace" the movement of atoms during reaction. Simple experiments were involved and the utility of the methods was very limited. The discovery of artificial radioactivity in 1934 (124) provided the chemist with radioactive isotopes (or "radioisotopes") of many of the more familiar and useful lighter elements. Because of the low neutron fluxes attainable at this time, only short-lived radioisotopes of low specific activity could normally be produced. These included Cl³⁸ ($t_{\frac{1}{2}} = 38 \text{ min.}$), Br^{80*} (4.4 hr.), I¹²⁸ (25 min.), S³⁵ (87 days), Mn⁵⁶ (2.6 hr.), As⁷⁶ (26 hr.), and P³² (14 days). Moreover the difficulties encountered in the accurate assay of the radioactive materials combined with the unreliability of the detection instruments (usually electroscopes and Geiger-Müller tubes) severely limited their general use. While some very important experiments were performed, it is probably true that the research topic was often planned around the isotope. It was fortunate that about this time stable isotopes, notably H^2 (D) and O^{13} , also became available for tracer investitions. These isotopes were relatively easily analyzed and many quantitative experiments were possible. Accordingly so much work was carried out with deuterium that it was worthwhile holding a symposium in 1937 devoted entirely to the chemistry of this isotope (57). Full reviews of the work of this period have been given by Reitz (388) and by Seaborg (415).

Since 1945, the successful operation of nuclear reactors and the continued development of particle accelerators has made possible the attainment of high particle fluxes. Consequently radioisotopes, both short- and long-lived, of nearly all the elements have become commercially available. This, coupled with the production of reliable and sensitive detection equipment, has marked the beginning of the third and most fruitful period. Earlier exploratory and qualitative studies have now given way to quantitative and more detailed investigations. The lack of suitable radioisotopes of the important elements nitrogen and oxygen has been offset by the commercial availability of enriched stable isotopes of these elements and of instruments for their accurate estimation (mass spectrometers, etc.).

Only one textbook has been published in English which deals solely with the applications of radioisotopes to chemical problems (464); it includes a comprehensive literature survey up to January, 1950. Its wide coverage precluded a detailed discussion of any particular topic. A bibliography devoted to isotope separation and isotope exchange and covering a good deal of the published work between 1907 and 1953 is particularly useful (40). Other books have included discussions of exchange and other tracer reactions in inorganic chemistry (114, 174, 279, 317). Haissinsky (209, 210), Edwards (149a), and Amphlett (15) have discussed the subject of isotopic exchange reactions in recent reviews, and in

reviews dealing with the mechanism of complex-ion reactions (36, 445) the application of isotopic investigations has been incidentally mentioned.

This review sets out to enumerate the value of tracers in (a) the study of the mechanism of inorganic reactions and (b) the determination of the structure of inorganic molecules. Particular stress will be placed on their unique value and limitations. Because reviews have been recently published dealing with electron-transfer processes (15, 492) this important application of tracers will not be dealt with specifically, but some examples from this field will be used to illustrate principles involved. Although a few heterogeneous reactions and reactions involving organic molecules may be used as examples to clarify points, the bulk of the discussion will be concerned with homogeneous reactions involving inorganic molecules. Dole (134) has dealt with the chemical applications of oxygen-18, and only work subsequent to 1952 will be incorporated in the extensive tables which form an important part of this review and which are believed to be comprehensive up to March 1957.

II. ISOTOPIC EXCHANGE REACTIONS

An exchange reaction occurs when atoms of a given element interchange between two or more chemical forms of this element. The term "isotopic exchange reaction" arises since such a process can only be detected by isotopic labelling methods. A typical isotopic exchange may be described by the chemical equation:

$$\operatorname{Fe}(\operatorname{phen})_{\mathfrak{z}^{2+}} + \operatorname{Fe}^{*2+} \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{Fe}^{*}(\operatorname{phen})_{\mathfrak{z}^{2+}} + \operatorname{Fe}^{2+}$$

This equation expresses the fact that when a solution containing Fe^{2+} tagged with radioactive iron atoms is mixed with a solution containing $Fe(phen)_{3}^{2+}$, radioactive iron atoms will gradually disappear from the Fe^{2+} species and reappear in the $Fe(phen)_{3}^{2+}$ species. This net transfer continues until equal concentrations of radioactive iron atoms exist in the two species and a kinetic isotopic equilibrium will be established. (A discussion of the possible mechanisms by which such a transfer can occur will be given in later sections.) It is important to realize that this continual transfer of iron atoms from one chemical species to another will occur in the absence of tagged iron atoms; the latter are only introduced as an analytical tool to detect and measure the rate of the process.

A knowledge of the rate at which isotopic exchange reactions proceed is extremely important in all tracer investigations. Thus if it is desired to study the mechanism of decomposition of aqueous O¹⁸-labelled hydrogen peroxide, the rates of exchange of hydrogen peroxide with the product oxygen and of these separately with solvent water must be known, and for the tracer method to be worthwhile, these exchange rates should preferably be negligible compared to the duration of the experiment. Frequently it may be possible to assume that these exchanges between reactant and product are immeasurably slow, but any such assumptions must be based on experimental studies on analogous exchange systems. Therefore investigations of isotopic exchange reactions not only yield important results in themselves but also form the basis of other tracer studies.

A. KINETICS OF ISOTOPIC EXCHANGE REACTIONS

The general equation for an isotopic exchange reaction may be written

$$AX + BX^* \rightleftharpoons AX^* + BX$$

where * designates the distinguishable (radioactive or stable) isotope. The rate of disappearance of the isotopic species from an initially labelled reactant (BX) or the rate of appearance in an initially unlabelled reactant (AX) is described by a first-order rate law. This law was first derived by McKay (325), but it is fair to point out that earlier investigators had used equivalent, but less general, forms of the first-order law in the exchange of iodide with organic iodides (247) and of arsenious and arsenic acids in the presence of iodide ion (484). Subsequently it has been shown that this first-order exchange law will be applicable irrespective of the actual exchange mechanism, the number of chemically equivalent exchangeable groups, the reactant concentrations, any differences in isotopic reaction rates, and the concentration of the labelling isotope, provided tracer amounts are employed (218). (For radiotracer investigations, this last condition is amply fulfilled but for studies employing macro amounts of deuterium special rate laws must be derived (77).¹) Then, provided the reaction is conducted in a stable homogeneous phase and the overall concentrations of AX and BX do not change owing to net reaction or dilution, the rate R at which X atoms (both labelled and unlabelled) interchange between AX and BX is

$$R = \frac{-2.303}{t} \frac{ab}{a+b} \log_{10} \left(1 - F\right) \tag{1}$$

a and b signify the total concentrations $(AX + AX^*)$ and $(BX + BX^*)$, respectively. Should AX or BX contain n equivalent exchangeable atoms or groups, the effective concentrations will be n times the ordinary (molar) concentrations. F, the fraction of exchange at time t, is given by:

$$F = \frac{x_t - x_0}{x_{\infty} - x_0}$$
(2)

where x, for a particular molecular species, represents either specific activity for a radiotracer or percentage isotopic abundance excess (i.e., above normal abundance) for a stable tracer. If the exchange reaction is followed by measuring the rate of appearance of activity in the initially unlabelled species (AX), then x_0 is zero and equation 2 simplifies to:

$$F = \frac{x_t}{x_{\infty}} \tag{3}$$

(Norris (352) has set down a number of useful alternative expressions for the fraction of exchange.) The infinite time value x_{∞} , substantially attained after

¹ The kinetics of competitive exchange between three species have been recently derived (496).

six to eight exchange half-times have elapsed, is determined from the specific activity of the initially labelled species BX by the material balance:

$$(a+b)x_{\infty} = b(x_0)_{\mathbf{B}\mathbf{X}} \tag{4}$$

isotope effects being neglected for the present (see Section VII,C).

R can be determined from the slope of the $\log_{10} (1 - F)$ against time linear plot or more conveniently by estimating the half-time of exchange, t_1 , from this plot (when F = 0.5) and substituting in the expression:

$$R = \frac{0.693}{t_{\rm i}} \frac{ab}{a+b} \tag{5}$$

The rate of an isotopic exchange reaction is most usually characterized by the half-time and hence by R, which is the total number of exchanges (tracer and nontracer) occurring in unit time and expressed in the concentration units of AX and BX (normally moles per liter). For a given set of reaction conditions R will be a constant. However R is not a rate constant but is dependent on the concentrations of AX and BX, this functional dependence being determined by the detailed mechanism of the exchange process, e.g., in the simplest case of bimolecular second-order exchange

$$R = k_2[AX][BX]$$

where k_2 is the rate constant for the exchange reaction.

Since R is estimated from the slope of the semi-log plot of the rate of approach to isotopic equilibrium, it is not essential to know the value of x_0 at t = 0. The first experimental value of x_t can be taken as the zero-time sample and the reaction-time scale adjusted accordingly. Furthermore, Guggenheim's modification for first-order reactions is applicable and although this method has only been used once (14) in a published exchange study, it has some advantages. An experimental determination of the specific activity of AX (or BX) at infinite time is avoided (and this might be difficult if marked decomposition occurred), and once again a knowledge of the exact time of commencement of the exchange is unnecessary. Ames and Willard (14) measured the rate of exchange of S³⁵O₁²⁻ with S₂O₃²⁻ and used the expression

$$R = \frac{2.303}{t} \cdot \frac{[\mathrm{SO}_3^{2^-}][\mathrm{S}_2\mathrm{O}_3^{2^-}]}{[\mathrm{SO}_3^{2^-}] + [\mathrm{S}_2\mathrm{O}_3^{2^-}]} \log (x_{t+\epsilon} - x_t)$$
(6)

where ϵ represented a constant time interval (about two half-lives) and x the specific activity of the S₂O₃²⁻ (initially inactive).

The experimental determination of an exchange rate can therefore be seen to involve the following:

(a) Mixing AX and labelled BX: This is preferably performed by mixing two inactive solutions of AX and BX, allowing them to settle to the required temperature, and injecting a small amount of BX* of relatively high activity to initiate the exchange.

(b) Separating AX and BX at various times: Usually this includes at least one

early separation in addition to one when exchange has sensibly reached equilibrium. A discussion of the various separation methods available and of their relative advantages has been given by Amphlett (15). These include precipitation, solvent extraction, ion-exchange, diffusion, and electrophoretic methods. As to the question of the optimum times of exchange to use, Davidson and Sullivan (128) have discussed this point. They assume that the errors involved in measuring concentrations and time are usually small compared with the errors in radioassay (both in the statistical counting and in the preparation of samples for counting). Dealing more particularly with the simpler case where the rate is measured by the decrease in activity of that component initially active (BX* in the above equation), they find that the minimum error due to radioassay occurs at a time of reaction about $t = 1.4 t_i$ (for BX > AX) and about $t = 1.4 t_i$ to $4 t_i$ (for AX \gg BX). Jones (270) also considers the fractional error in R as a function of the extent to which the reaction has proceeded and comes to similar conclusions.

(c) Measuring the specific activity (or enrichment) of the separated reactants AX and BX: This involves standard analytical procedures (see Section III,B). Allowance must be made for any natural decay of the radioisotope during the counting operation. This may be accomplished either by making use of the known half-life of the isotope (285) or preferably, experimentally, by counting samples at various times and from the constructed exponential curves reducing all counting rates to a common time. With a few radioactive isotopes an isomeric transition occurs between a parent and a daughter isotope (e.g., Br^{80*}). In these cases the separated samples should be left for at least six half-lives of the daughter isotope in order for equilibrium to be attained before counting. It is possible to measure exchange reactions involving two radioactive isotopes of the same element. This naturally arises with the actinides which only exist as radioactive isotopes. Thus the Np(V)–Np(VI) exchange was studied using Np²³⁷ (α , 2.2 × 10⁶ yr.) as the "normal" isotope and Np²³⁹ (β , 2.33 days) as the tracer isotope. The amounts of Np²³⁹ in each species could be determined by absorbing the Np²³⁷ alphas during the counting operation (109).

B. ASSIGNMENT OF RATE CONSTANTS

As in nontracer kinetic studies, the determination of the form of the rate expression is of prime importance in indicating the probable mechanism of isotopic exchange reactions. The functional dependence of the exchange rate R upon reactant concentrations may be deduced by the general methods available in chemical kinetics (179, 288). Perhaps the simplest is to assume the rate expression to be of the general form:

$$R = k_p [AX]^m [BX]^n \tag{7}$$

In the special case where it is possible to conduct the investigation at varying, but equal, reactant concentrations ([AX] = [BX] = a), then for a first-order rate expression $t_{\frac{1}{2}}$ (= ln 2/2k₁) will be independent of concentration, for a second-

order law t_i (= $\ln 2/2k_2a$) will be inversely proportional to the concentration, and for the general rate law of the p^{th} order ($p = m + n + \cdots$)

$$t_{\frac{1}{2}} \alpha \frac{1}{k_p a^{p-1}} \tag{8}$$

This approach was first suggested by Duffield and Calvin (142) in the exchange of copper chelates with copper acetate in pyridine solution. In this case the observed second-order law was then presumed to be first order in each exchanging species. Alternatively, from measured values of R at various reactant concentrations, the rate constant k_p (equation 7) can be calculated directly on the basis of a first, second \cdots order rate law; constancy of k_p then indicates the desired overall rate law. This approach fails however when two concurrent exchange paths of different order are operative; this circumstance frequently arises in exchange reactions in aqueous solution.

A more general, and more satisfactory, method is to study in turn the dependence of R on a single reactant concentration, the other concentrations being maintained constant. Then a plot of log R versus log [AX] should be linear of slope m, and similarly for the other reactant concentrations. Such an approach was adequate for the thermal U(IV)-U(VI) exchange reaction (401) for which

$$R_{25^{\circ}} = 2.5 \times 10^{-5} [\mathrm{U(IV)}]^2 [\mathrm{U(VI)}] [\mathrm{H^+}]^{-3}$$

and even for the relatively complex Fe^{3+} - $Fe(EDTA)^-$ exchange system (see Section VI) when the rate expression includes three distinct terms (268). In the latter case the three exchange paths were operative in different pH ranges and the separation of rate terms was unambiguous. However, when more than one concurrent exchange path is important, the rate R is not expressible by an equation of the form of equation 7 and fractional reaction orders are often found. Thus the Br_2 - BrO_3^- exchange was found (47) to be described by the law:

$$R_{25^{\circ}} = 0.023 [\text{Br}_2]^{0.3} [\text{BrO}_3]^{1.7} [\text{H}^+]^{1.1}$$

Therefore in the interpretation of exchange data, it is preferable to plot first R versus [AX] (at constant [BX] and vice versa); the shape of the curve will immediately indicate the importance of possible concurrent exchange paths and the probable dependence of R upon reactant concentrations. For example. Rich and Taube (391) found for the AuCl₄--Cl^{*-} exchange system that a plot of R versus [Cl⁻] (at constant [AuCl₄-]) was linear with a positive intercept at [Cl⁻] = 0. The rate expression was therefore:

$$R = k_1[\operatorname{AuCl}_4^-] + k_2[\operatorname{AuCl}_4^-][\operatorname{Cl}^-]$$

and the two rate constants could be readily deduced from the slopes and intercepts of the plot. This approach is also illustrated by the analysis of the data for the Ce(III)–Ce(IV) exchange reaction (143). The evaluation of rate constants by this method is more accurate than that from a log R versus log (concentration) plot. It will be appreciated that if one rate term were smaller than the main rate term, then the former could be missed in a logarithmic plot. Having evaluated the rate expression, the normal procedure is then to postulate an exchange mechanism consistent with the kinetics and chemical behavior of the system. Harris and Stranks (220) have adopted an alternative, but completely equivalent, approach in deducing the detailed first-order exchange law for a postulated mechanism and fitting this law to the observed kinetic results. In deducing rate constants, these authors have plotted $0.693/t_4$ (rather than R) versus concentration. In the common circumstance for which $R = k_1[a] + k_2[a][b]$, then

$$\frac{0.693}{t_1} = \frac{a+b}{ab}R = k_1\left(\frac{a}{b}+1\right) + k_2(a+b)$$
(9)

This method has no advantage over the previous method (R versus concentration) for determining the form of the rate law and in fact the law is not immediately apparent from such graphical plots. However, when significant isotope effects occur in the exchange reaction, these effects can be assigned to definite steps in the exchange mechanism. The approach has been recently improved (241) whereby the detailed exchange law for a postulated mechanism is calculated in the form of equation 1 and R is plotted as a function of reactant concentrations.

C. COMPLICATIONS ACCOMPANYING EXCHANGE REACTIONS

Complications can arise from "zero-time" exchange or from a nonlinearity of the log (1 - F) against time plot (the exchange curve).

1. Zero-time exchange

Although extrapolation of the exchange curve to zero time should lead to a value of F = 0, it is often found that this is not the case. The explanation for this may be simple. Systematic errors in the estimation of times could lead to zero-time exchange (especially if the exchange is a fast one) (383, 417). Alternatively the separation procedure may not lead to a complete separation. In some cases, a zero-time exchange is observed which can be correlated with a definite phenomenon. For example, although the electron-transfer reaction between Hg(I) and Hg(II) in perchloric acid is known to be extremely fast (486), the addition of cyanide ions to the Hg(II) before mixing with Hg(I) slows down the electron-transfer rate appreciably, although a zero-time exchange is observed. This zero-time exchange varies from 8 to 50 per cent as the $[CN^-]/[Hg(II)]$ ratio decreases from 1.83 to 0.50. With these conditions, Hg²⁺, Hg(CN)⁺, and Hg(CN)₂ will be present in concentrations governed by the known disproportionation constant (487) for the equilibrium:

$$Hg^{2+} + Hg(CN)_2 \rightleftharpoons 2Hg(CN)^+$$

Isotopic exchange is immediate only for the uncomplexed Hg(II) present, since the cyanide-complexed and the uncomplexed Hg(II) are not in labile equilibrium and electron transfer between Hg(I) and Hg(II)-CN complexes is slow. The amount of zero-time exchange can be exactly correlated with the (known) proportion of uncomplexed Hg(II) present (486, 487). Related to this cause is one arising from extreme differences in the exchangeability of the atoms within a molecule. The exchange of phosphorus pentachloride with chlorine in carbon tetrachloride solution gives a straight-line exchange curve which does not extrapolate to zero exchange at zero time. The amount of the initial very rapid exchange can be shown to correspond in amount to three-fifths of the chlorine of the phosphorus pentachloride. The three equatorial chlorine atoms undergo then a very rapid exchange with chlorine, while the apical chlorine atoms exchange at a slower measurable rate (140).

In the exchange studies of the ferric ethylenediaminetetraacetate complex, $Fe(EDTA)^-$, with labelled ferric perchlorate in acid solution, a small zero-time exchange is observed. The partial dissociation of the ferric complex in acid will lead to the production of inactive ferric ions:

$$Fe(EDTA)^{-} \rightleftharpoons Fe^{3+} + EDTA^{4-}$$

The active ferric ions added will then be diluted by these inactive ferric ions. Addition of hydroxyl ions (as the separation method) will precipitate, even at zero time, ferric hydroxide of a lower specific activity than that initially added. Since this decrease in activity is a measure of the amount of dissociated inactive ferric ions (a variation of the isotopic dilution method), the extent of the zerotime exchange can be related fairly easily with the dissociation constant of the $Fe(EDTA)^-$ complex (112, 268).

Zero-time exchange may be induced by the separation procedure ("separationinduced" exchange). Prestwood and Wahl (385) have deduced that provided this effect is reproducible at each exchange time, the *slope* of the exchange curve will still be a true measure of the exchange rate. They illustrated this conclusion by considering the Tl(I)-Tl(III) exchange. Depending on whether, in the separation procedure, Tl(I) was precipitated as the bromide, chromate, or chloroplatinite or Tl(III) was precipitated as the hydroxide, 10 per cent, 5 per cent, 5 per cent, or 50 per cent zero-time exchanges, respectively, were observed. Nevertheless the slopes of the exchange curves were identical. Therefore, provided a first-order law is obeyed, which means that the separation-induced or incomplete separation effects are reproducible, an amount of zero-time exchange presents no difficulties.

These small separation-induced exchanges are possibly due, in the case of the Tl(I)-Tl(III) system at least, to the transient formation of labile species which undergo partial exchange before actual precipitation is complete. The precipitant for separation of thallous chromate includes a high concentration of cyanide ion (to complex the Tl^{3+}) and it is significant that large amounts of cyanide ion do catalyze the Tl(I)-Tl(III) exchange (372). Since chloride ion is also a very effective catalyst, it would be informative to correlate the induced exchange occurring on precipitation of bromide ion with a possible catalytic exchange effect of bromide ion.

Unfortunately, definite examples are known where the separation method induces *complete* exchange and, naturally, this is a much more serious matter.

The exchange of nickel perchlorate with both bis-N, N-di-n-propyl- and bis-N, N'-diisoamyldithiocarbamate nickel in acetone is extremely slow. The

separation procedure used involves the addition of water to precipitate the complex. If, instead of water, concentrated aqueous ammonia is added to facilitate this precipitation, then complete exchange is observed within the 5-min. separation time. Apparently ammonia adds on to the nickel complex and in weakening the binding increases the exchange lability (see Section VI). The ammonia also affects the form of the Ni_{aq}^{2+} , converting it into $Ni(NH_3)_{a}^{2+}$. One of the earliest exchanges studied was that between plumbous and plumbic acetates in glacial acetic acid (237). Complete exchange was observed after the mixture had been heated for 10 min. at 80°C., water added, and lead dioxide precipitated on boiling. Similar results were recently obtained by Evans, Huston, and Norris (154), but they draw attention to the work of Zinth and Rauch (491), who showed that the two lead atoms in the oxide Pb₂O₃·3H₂O are not equivalent. When this oxide was dissolved in strong base to give a mixture of plumbite and plumbate and the plumbate separated off as barium plumbate, no exchange was observed.

$$\mathrm{HPb}^*\mathrm{O}_2^- + \mathrm{PbO}_3^{2-} \to \mathrm{Pb}_2^*\mathrm{O}_3 \xrightarrow{\mathrm{OH}^-} \mathrm{Pb}^*\mathrm{O}_2^{2-} + \mathrm{PbO}_4^{4-}$$

but when it was dissolved in acid with lead dioxide precipitating, complete exchange occurred,

$$Pb_2^*O_3 + 2H^+ \rightarrow Pb^*O_2 + Pb^{*2+} + H_2O$$

so that a separation involving the precipitation of lead dioxide seems highly likely to induce complete exchange. When a less drastic separation procedure was used, such as allowing plumbic acetate to separate on cooling, no exchange was observed (154), a result which is more easily understood chemically. Fava has observed similar induced exchange during a study of Pb_3O_4 (157).

The situation regarding separation-induced exchange appears thus: the detection of complete exchange may arise from the separation procedure, especially if this involves chemical precipitation, in the process of which transient (labile) species may be produced. If more than one separation procedure is used (preferably involving a different type of method) with the same result, then this is some evidence for the correctness of the result. If the separation procedure has been used with similar inert molecules with no induced exchange, this also constitutes good evidence for the separation procedure not being the cause of complete exchange with the labile molecule.

2. Nonlinearity of exchange curve

A distinct curvature for the exchange plot might be expected under the following conditions (47, 352):

(a) Nonequivalence of atoms in the molecule: If, as in the case of phosphorus pentachloride mentioned above, there is a large difference in the rates of exchange of the nonequivalent atoms no difficulties arise. If, however, the rates of the two exchanges (considering two distinct types) had been comparable, then a log (1 - F) versus time curve convex downwards would have been obtained. This

might, under simplifying assumptions, be resolvable into the two linear first-order exchange components (343).

(b) Chemical equilibria not established rapidly: One of the assumptions used in the derivation of the first-order exchange law is that the exchange process is unaccompanied by a net chemical reaction. In a study of the rate of exchange of free carbonate ion and the complex ion $[Co(NH_3)_5CO_3]^+$, if exchange were initiated soon after the two reactants were mixed a curvature was obtained for the exchange plot. If, however, a solution of the two inactive exchange reactants was allowed to stand until aquation equilibrium had been attained (determined by separate experiments) and then exchange initiated, the semi-log plot was then linear. "Aging" of the solution for longer times did not affect the result (434). Luehr, Challenger, and Masters (311) have considered the case in which BX* undergoes thermal exchange with AX simultaneously with chemical conversion of BX to AX. If BX* is counted, then the rate expression is independent of the amount of BX converted to AX and is identical with equation 1. If AX is counted, it is necessary only to know how much BX has been converted to AX at the time when each sample is taken for counting. The kinetics of the conversion of BX to AX are immaterial. This has been illustrated for the Tl(I)-Tl*(III) exchange system under the conditions of a chemical conversion of Tl(III) to Tl(I). The rate constant so deduced (1.29 l. mole⁻¹ min.⁻¹) agrees well with that observed for the ordinary exchange system $(1.22 \text{ l. mole}^{-1} \text{ min.}^{-1})$.

(c) Catalytic effects: Lewis, Coryell, and Irvine (300) found that the ingress of oxygen, even in amounts only enough to oxidize a small percentage of the cobaltous complex, markedly catalyzed the $\text{Co}(\text{en})_3^{2+}-\text{Co}(\text{en})_3^{3+}$ electron exchange. The effect disappeared within an hour or so and, provided the zero-time exchange was small because of this effect, the later linear portion of the resultant curve could be used to determine the true rate. The catalysis by oxygen was explained by the formation of a metastable cobaltous oxygen complex $[\text{CoN}_5\text{O}_2]^{2+}$ which exchanged more rapidly than did $\text{Co}(\text{en})_3^{2+}(\text{CoN}_6)^{2+}$.

(d) Other possible causes of nonlinearity about which little further need be added include heterogeneity of exchange (343a), tracer isotope in secular or transient radioactive equilibrium with the parent (264), a case unlikely to be met in practice, and radiation-induced exchange (47). An example of the latter case arises during the radiation-induced O_2 -H₂O exchange (221). Hydrogen peroxide is an inhibitor but until it attains a concentration of $10^{-5}M$ the exchange is fast; after this, it is much slower.

When changing rates of exchange are encountered it is possible sometimes to find the initial rate by extrapolating the exchange rates to early times. This procedure was adopted, for example, by Brown and Ingold (71) in their investigation of the exchange of chlorine between chloride ion and cis-[Co(en)₂Cl₂]⁺ in methanol. The exchange of the second chlorine atom overlaps that of the first and the trans complex concurrently produced also has exchangeable chlorine. Extrapolation of the specific rate constants obtained at various stages of exchange to zero exchange gave the initial specific rate.

In the same way there was a continual loss of Cr(II) during the Cr(II)- $CrCl^{2+}$

electron-transfer exchange; Taube and King (448) extrapolated their observed rate to zero time to correct for this effect.

D. IMPORTANT CONSIDERATIONS IN THE INTERPRETATION OF EXCHANGE DATA

Before any detailed kinetic exchange studies can be undertaken there are several points which should be considered.

The nature and amount of the species likely to be present in the exchange mixture should be known. This is especially important when complex ions are involved in the study. Occasionally the conditions of the experiment can be adjusted so that only the two exchanging reactants are present; otherwise a knowledge of the stability constants governing the systems is essential in a detailed interpretation of the mechanism. The following examples, all involving electron-transfer processes, will illustrate this point. Hudis and Wahl (246) investigated the effect of fluoride ion upon the rate of the iron(II)-iron(III) exchange reaction in perchloric acid at 0.5 ionic strength. They measured the specific rate constant, k, defined by

$$R = k[Fe^{II}][Fe^{III}]$$

as a function of the fluoride-ion concentration. Since the formation constants of the iron(III)-fluoride complexes had been measured at this ionic strength (131), it was possible to correlate the variation of the specific rate constant with the free fluoride-ion concentration in terms of the various possible electron-transfer processes:

$$R(\text{overall rate}) = k_0[\text{Fe}_{aq}^{3+}][\text{Fe}_{aq}^{2+}] + k_1[\text{Fe}_{aq}^{2+}][\text{Fe}_{aq}^{2+}] + k_2[\text{Fe}_{2}^{+}][\text{Fe}_{aq}^{2+}] + k_3[\text{Fe}_{3}][\text{Fe}_{aq}^{2+}] + k_4[\text{Fe}_{n}^{2+}][\text{Fe}_{aq}^{2+}]$$
(10)

In this way an intimate picture of the gross exchange process was obtained. Since iron(II)-fluoride complexes were considered not to form at the low fluoride concentrations used in most of the experiments (131) and in the acid concentrations used the amount of $Fe(OH)^{2+}$ was negligible, these complex species were ignored for the purposes of the interpretation of the results.

Rossotti (404) has also stressed the importance of a knowledge of the equilibrium data in interpreting kinetic results by considering the exchange reaction between monovalent and trivalent thallium, which had been previously examined by two independent investigators (215, 385) with substantially the same experimental results. At the time of these investigations, however, the hydrolysis of trivalent thallium had not been quantitatively studied. With this information now available (48) Rossotti was able to show that the only important thallium(III) hydroxy complex present in the exchange solutions was $Tl(OH)^{2+}$ and represented the overall exchange, R, in terms of two processes:

$$R = 0.154[Tl^{3+}][Tl^{+}] + 1.22[TlOH^{2+}][Tl^{+}]$$
(11)

Although the amount of $TlOH^{2+}$ present in the various acidities of the exchange experiments never exceeded 10 per cent of the total Tl(III) present and was often much less, the higher specific rate constant for the electron transfer involving this ion and Tl⁺ means that its contribution to the observed exchange is substantial. Monovalent thallium was completely unhydrolyzed, and the different interpretations of the two investigations (215, 385) arose mainly because of the absence of the hydrolysis data. The importance of such data is therefore selfevident, and although thallium(III) is hydrolyzed more readily than most metallic ions, similar considerations will obviously apply to other metal-ion electron-transfer processes.

Neumann and Brown (349) have simplified the apparent complexities of the Sb(III)-Sb(V) electron-transfer process in hydrochloric acid solution. The data can be interpreted if it is assumed that $SbCl_6$ - is the Sb(V) species which exchanges with Sb(III). Previous difficulties apparently arose from the fact that the rate of formation of $SbCl_6$ -, rather than the electron-transfer process, is rate-determining under certain conditions.

When exchange studies in nonaqueous solvents are undertaken, it is equally important that the nature of the species present be considered. This point is well brought out in the exchange studies of organic bromine compounds with metal bromides (129, 153, 405); the results are equally pertinent, for example, to exchange between inorganic halogen compounds and halides in nonaqueous solvents. In the work of Evans and Sugden (153) the apparent bimolecular rate constant, k', for the exchange reaction:

$$n-C_4H_9Br + Br^{*-} \rightleftharpoons n-C_4H_9Br^* + Br^{--}$$

in acetone was observed to increase with decreasing concentration of lithium bromide. The latter is incompletely dissociated in acetone at the concentrations used, and

$$R = k[C_{4}H_{9}Br][Br^{-}] = k[C_{4}H_{9}Br][LiBr]\alpha$$

= $\frac{-2.303}{t} \frac{[C_{4}H_{9}Br][LiBr]}{[C_{4}H_{9}Br] + [LiBr]} \log_{10} (1 - F)$ (12)

 α , the degree of dissociation of lithium bromide, does not enter into the large expression because as far as distribution of Br^{*-} is concerned it does not distinguish lithium bromide and bromide ion because these are in rapid equilibrium. Then,

$$k\alpha = \frac{2.303}{t} \cdot \frac{1}{[C_4H_9Br] + [LiBr]} \log\left(\frac{1}{1-F}\right) = k'$$
 (13)

If the apparent bimolecular rate constant k' is therefore divided by α , to allow for this effect, an appreciably constant $k = k'/\alpha$ is obtained, as shown in table 1 (153). Undissociated lithium bromide exchanges very slowly with *n*-butyl bromide. No similar difficulties were encountered with the ethyl iodide exchange with sodium iodide in methyl alcohol, since it can be shown that over the concentration range used in the study, sodium iodide is almost completely dissociated in this solvent.

One of the assumptions made in the original derivation of the exchange law is that no net reaction accompanies the exchange. However, it is quite possible

	acete	one solution (12	53)	
104[C4H9Br]	104[LiBr]	α	10ªk'	$10^{3}k'/\alpha = 10^{3}k$
mole l1	mole l. ⁻¹		l.mole ⁻¹ min. ⁻¹	l.mole ⁻¹ min. ⁻¹
440-470	0.504	0.925	3.93	4.3
440-470	1.28	0.848	3.99	4.7
440-470	2.49	0.774	3.13	4.0
440-470	4.38	0.696	3.48	5.0
440-470	22.7	0.457	2.22	4.9
440-470	79.4	0.314	1.44	4.6
440470	191.0	0.241	1.07	4.4

Data	related	to	the	exchange	reaction	between	butyl	bromide	and	lithium	bromide	in
					acetor	ne solutio	n (153)				

TABLE 1

to obtain a first-order exchange law even when there is a net change (vide supra), so that it is important to verify that such a change in the type of species is not important. Otherwise the exchange behavior may apply to a species other than the one intended. For example, during the exchange study of $C^{14}N^{-}$ with the complex ion $Mn(CN)_{6}^{3-}$ (10) it was noticed that, although initially the color of the solution was orange-red, this faded to a pale yellow over 10 to 15 min. Obviously such behavior could have seriously vitiated the interpretation of the exchange results. It might be that it was the red form which was $Mn(CN)_{6}^{3-}$, which then changed to an entirely different yellow species. If the complex was dissolved in potassium cyanide solution and then potassium radiocyanide solution added immediately (red solution), the rate of exchange was similar to the normal results obtained on the yellow solution by allowing this color to develop before adding the potassium radiocyanide solution. This result, as well as subsidiary investigations of the color change, strongly suggested that the yellow solution does contain $Mn(CN)_{6}^{3-}$ and that the initial color is due to a slight impurity which does not affect the results. On the other hand, the slow fading in color of permanganate in strong acid (214) casts some doubts on the results of the exchange between Mn^{2+} and MnO_4^{-} in this solvent (4). It may be that an intermediate oxidation state and not MnO_4 is involved in the exchange; however, a first-order exchange law is observed and the results obtained using two very different separation procedures are somewhat similar (4, 214), so that until the color change is understood, its importance cannot be fully assessed.

The drastic effect of small amounts of impurities on the reaction rates of complex ions has been noticed in several exchange studies. Ordinary distilled water induced some initial exchange of Cl⁻ and AuCl₄⁻ and the usual log (1 - F)/time plot showed a distinct curvature. Redistilled water was used therefore to investigate the uncatalyzed exchange (391). The observation made in ordinary water led to a study of the induced exchange between these species by reducing agents, especially Fe²⁺ ion (392).

Rich and Taube (390) also found during the study of some exchange reactions of Cl⁻ and PtCl₆²⁻ that the spontaneous exchange rate for the complex platinum(IV) ion derived from commercial H₂PtCl₆·6H₂O was much *less* than from prepared Na₂PtCl₆·6H₂O purified from rhodium, palladium, and iridium. Since the exchange is inhibited by (for example) Fe(CN)₆³⁻ and IrCl₆²⁻, it was concluded that the commercial specimen contained iridium or other possible inhibitors. Although in these two examples the anomalous results led to the uncovering of important effects, such behavior could result in incorrect results or interpretations if based on desultory experiments.

It is important that the chemical identity of the tracer used in an exchange study is completely characterized. It is certainly unsafe to assume that a labelled complex in tracer amounts will exist in the same chemical form as the added carrier even if both tracer and carrier have been subjected to the same chemical treatment. This is especially true of complex ions which undergo slow chemical substitution reactions. Sloth and Garner (420) encountered a good deal of difficulty because of this in their electron-transfer study of the IrCl₆³--IrCl₆²- exchange. Reduction of commercial H_2IrCl_6 containing Ir^{192} produced an Ir(III)tracer, which was assumed to be H₃IrCl₆ and which was therefore used to initiate exchange by addition to a mixture of inactive $IrCl_6^{3-}$ and $IrCl_6^{2-}$ ions. A slow and somewhat erratic exchange behavior was observed. If the Ir(III) tracer was then oxidized and reduced and the new Ir(III) tracer used in exchange studies, once again a slow rate (different from before) with an initial rapid drop was observed. Evidence was adduced that these tracers probably existed as Ir(III) aquo complexes, which might be expected to undergo slow charge-transfer reactions. Amongst others, a third tracer, unequivocally labelled as Na₂IrCl₆, was prepared by neutron irradiation of iridium metal, converting the irradiated material to solid Na₂IrCl₆ by heating a mixture of sodium chloride and the former with chlorine at 600°C. At no time was an inactive iridium compound added. The exchange reaction was rapid, using this material, as might be expected for the two anionic species (492). This behavior undoubtedly arises from the different reaction rates of carrier-free tracers and the different stability of intermediates in processes involving tracers. Related to this is the observation (274) that it is difficult to effect complete exchange between tracer amounts of fission iodine and macro amounts of iodine or iodide.

E. INCIDENTAL APPLICATIONS TO REACTION KINETICS

A feature of isotopic exchange reactions is that the overall concentrations of exchanging reactants do not change during the course of the exchange, which is simply a redistribution of isotopes. Factors such as pH and ionic strength which markedly influence the course of a reaction in solution also remain constant (at least in the ideal case). Exchange reactions should therefore serve as very useful systems for the testing of theories concerned with the influence of ionic strength and dielectric constant upon reaction rates. In view of this important advantage, it is rather surprising that so little work on these lines has been performed. Several inorganic systems have been studied with regard to the effects of ionic strength upon the exchange rate, but these effects have been used to confirm mechanisms rather than to test theories (10, 268, 308, 430). In organic systems the effect of the dielectric constant of the solvent on the rate of the hydrogen iodide—butyl iodide exchange (238) and the effects of pressure on the exchanges of *n*-propyl iodide and *n*-propyl bromide with alkali halides in ethanol have been investigated (346).

The rate of a photoinitiated exchange reaction can be used to determine quantum yields in a simple manner. For the general exchange reaction

$$AX + BX^* \rightleftharpoons AX^* + BX$$

in which exchange is initiated by light absorption by AX, the rate will be given by:

$$R = \phi I_{abs} = \phi I_0 E da \tag{14}$$

(at low AX concentrations) where E is the extinction coefficient of AX and d the path length of the light. Combining equation 14 with equation 5, the exchange rate law may be written:

$$0.693/t_{i} = \phi I_{0} E d(a/b + 1)$$
(15)

A study of the variation with intensity of the incident light of the exchange half-time at known reactant concentrations will thus evaluate the primary quantum yield, ϕ . This principle has been used in the C¹⁴O-COCl₂ exchange system (435) to evaluate the primary quantum yield for the process:

$$\operatorname{COCl}_2 + h\nu \rightarrow \operatorname{COCl} + \operatorname{Cl}$$

for which ϕ was found to be 1.00 at 2537 A. and 30°C. for both C¹² and C¹⁴ molecules. The homomolecular exchange:

$$O_2^{16} + O_2^{18} \rightleftharpoons 2O^{16}O^{18}$$

is photosensitized by both chlorine and mercury vapor. The chlorine-initiated reaction has a quantum yield of much less than unity (360), whereas the mercurysensitized reaction exhibits an overall quantum yield of 125 (267). Gazith and Noyes (185) have adopted the converse approach in assuming the primary quantum yield for iodine to deduce individual rate constants for the exchange between iodine and benzyl iodide.

The principle enunciated above is also applicable to radiation-induced exchanges for the deduction of G values, i.e., the number of molecules transformed per 100 e.v. of energy absorbed. The Ce(III)–Ce(IV) electron exchange is induced by unfiltered 50-kvp x-rays and in 0.8 N sulfuric acid the increased exchange rate is completely accounted for by the rate of Ce(IV) reduction. The G values for Ce(IV) reduction and for exchange are 3.28 and 3.2 ions/100 e.v., respectively (94). Exchange between water and dissolved oxygen is induced both photochemically and by Co⁶⁰ γ -radiation and appropriate G values have been calculated (221). A kinetic study of the homomolecular H₂–T₂ exchange revealed that the exchange rate was proportional to the square root of the intensity of the absorbed β -radiation from the tritium (136).

III. FACTORS INFLUENCING THE CHOICE OF A TRACER ISOTOPE

A. AVAILABILITY OF ISOTOPES

The production of both radioactive and enriched stable isotopes has now advanced to the stage where the chemist may frequently choose from more than one

isotope for use as a tracer element in an experiment. Generally speaking, the technical assay problems are considerably reduced if a radioactive isotope of an element is chosen. Moreover considerable dilution of a radioisotope can be tolerated in experiments (e.g., 10⁶ is common), but dilution of a stable isotope is normally limited by the natural abundance of this isotope (e.g., deuterium or O^{13} cannot be diluted below their natural abundances of 0.016 per cent and 0.204 per cent, respectively). Nevertheless certain technical limitations, characteristic of radioisotopes alone, can modify the chemist's choice. The high neutron flux available in a nuclear reactor permits the production of suitable radioisotopes of many elements, most commonly by (n,γ) reactions, e.g., $Co^{59}(n,\gamma)Co^{60}$, although other reactions are important in several cases: e.g., $N^{14}(n,p)C^{14}$; $S^{32}(n,p)P^{32}$; $Cl^{35}(n,p)S^{35}$; $Li^6(n,\alpha)H^3$. The product nuclide of (n,γ) reactions is necessarily isotopic with the target element and this, combined with a low excitation cross-section or a long half-life of the product nuclide, may yield a radioisotope in only low specific activity; e.g., the activation crosssection for the $Be^{9}(n,\gamma)Be^{10}$ reaction is only 0.0085 barn, the Be^{10} product nuclide having a half-life of 2.7×10^6 yr. When such low specific activity is only attainable, the chemist may have to use large amounts of active material to obtain measurable disintegration rates, yet these concentrations may be too high for the desired experiment. This difficulty may sometimes be overcome, e.g., with Fe⁵⁹, by conducting the (n,γ) reaction on electromagnetically enriched material $(Fe_2^{58}O_3)$ or utilizing a Szilard-Chalmers reaction (the recoil product from potassium ferrocyanide). A more serious objection is that neutron irradiation may only yield an isotope of inconveniently short half-life; e.g., Na²⁴ (14.8 hr.), F^{20} (12 sec.). In selected cases, cyclotron bombardment may then be favored: e.g., $\text{Li}^{7}(d,n)\text{Be}^{7}$ (53 days); $O^{18}(p,n)\text{F}^{18}$ (112 min.); $\text{Mg}^{24}(d,\alpha)\text{Na}^{22}$ (2.6 yr.). For further details the review by Garrison and Hamilton should be consulted (184). Should both these production methods be unsuitable, several isotopes can be conveniently derived from separated fission products; e.g., $(Sr^{89} + Sr^{90})$ is abundantly available from this source, whereas Sr⁸⁹ (reactor) and Sr⁸⁵ (cyclotron) can only be produced in relatively low specific activities. Good accounts of the production of radioisotopes are contained in the texts of Kamen (275) and Whitehouse and Putman (473).

Despite the general availability of radioisotopes of most elements, there still remain some deficiencies, notably for nitrogen and oxygen. The cyclotronproduced isotopes N¹³ and O¹⁵ have half-lives of 10.1 and 2.1 min., respectively, which render them well-nigh useless for normal experiments. (For convenience, the half-life of the tracer should not be less than the duration of an experiment, although decay over some four half-lives in that time can usually be tolerated.) The choice of the enriched stable isotopes N¹⁵ and O¹⁸ is thus almost inevitable. Helium, boron, neon, magnesium, and aluminum are other elements which do not possess suitable radioisotopes or whose long-lived isotopes (e.g., Mg²⁸) are not yet generally available.

A further difficulty with radioisotopes arises when the energy of the emitted radiation is particularly low (e.g., tritium with a maximum β energy of 0.018

m.e.v. has a range of only 0.7 mg./cm.² in matter) and specialized assay techniques, such as internal gas counting, become necessary. Deuterium is therefore the normally preferred tracer for hydrogen, but even in this case recent simplified techniques (87, 93) have rendered the task of counting tritium far less formidable than is commonly assumed.

Two distinct advantages of stable isotopes should be indicated. Firstly, duplicate assays of stable isotopic samples can be performed with present-day highresolution mass spectrometers to a standard deviation error of ± 0.1 per cent. The assay of radioactive samples (especially solids) may be rapidly and conveniently performed to a standard deviation of ± 1 per cent, but further improved precision to even ± 0.5 per cent is difficult owing to irreproducibilities in sample preparation and to the inherent statistical uncertainty occasioned by the random nature of radioactive disintegrations. Secondly, the detection of the actual position of a stable tracer atom in a labelled molecule may be deduced frequently from the mass-spectral pattern obtained in the assay of the molecule. On the other hand, the position of a radioactive atom in a molecule can only be determined by a series of degradative steps, which in themselves must not cause isotopic exchange or rearrangements among the various positions in a molecule. When employing mass-spectrometric analysis, care should be taken to assign mass numbers correctly. For example, the alkaline oxidation of ammonium salts to nitrogen by hypobromite gave lines at mass number 44 due to traces of nitrous oxide formed during the reaction and at mass number 30 due to NO⁺ formed by ionization cleavage of nitrous oxide (396). The latter might be incorrectly assigned to N_2^{15} and invalidate N^{15} experiments based on this reaction. A second limitation in using stable isotopes is the need for greatly increased dispersion in mass spectrometers when isotopes are used as tracers for elements of high atomic weight.

B. ASSAY PROCEDURES

1. Radioactive isotopes

In this section only general principles will be outlined; further details are readily available in standard texts (113, 174). In many radiotracer experiments the active sample is isolated from a reaction mixture as a precipitate. The accuracy of the subsequent assay largely depends upon the uniformity and reproducibility with which this solid can be mounted on a suitable support (such as a metal pan). The problem of sample mounting is especially serious for weak β -emitting nuclides such as C¹⁴ and S³⁵ ($E_{max} = 0.15$ m.e.v.) but is less important for higher-energy β -emitters (i.e., $E_{max} > 0.6$ m.e.v., such as P³² 1.7 m.e.v.) and γ -emitters. In general the solid may be dissolved in a suitable reagent and evaporated in an assay pan (421), slurried in an inert solvent, and dried (91) or collected in either a filter cup or on filter paper (233). The precipitate chosen for the assay procedure must therefore be chemically and physically stable and amenable to a suitable method of sample mounting. Thus C¹⁴ is frequently assayed as barium carbonate, S³⁵ as barium sulfate or benzidine sulfate, and P³²

as magnesium ammonium phosphate. The dried solid sample may then be positioned reproducibly under an end-window Geiger or scintillation counter (113) or inserted in an internal gas-flow proportional counter (397). To assay duplicate solid samples to a standard deviation of 1 per cent by this general method requires a fair degree of manipulative skill. If the sample can be assayed as a liquid in a skirted-wall Geiger counter, sample preparation and reproducibility are not major problems. Geiger counting of liquids is only possible for strong β -emitting nuclides $(E_{\text{max}} > 0.5 \text{ m.e.v.})$ and γ -emitting nuclides, but the liquid counting of weak β -emitting nuclides (notably C¹⁴ and S³⁵) in a gas-flow proportional counter (413), in the presence of a suitable liquid scintillator (222) or in a plastic-scintillator dish (437), is now feasible. When a high detection efficiency is required or when a weak β -emitter (e.g., tritium) is to be assayed, recourse must be normally made to gas-phase counting. In such cases the possible chemical form of the labelled gas is limited to those molecules which have suitable ionization characteristics. Methane, butane, and acetylene are frequently favored for the assay of both C^{14} and H³, although less suitable gases such as H_2^3O can be introduced at a low pressure (87, 93) with a carrier gas used to operate the counter. Operation of a gas counter in the proportional, rather than the Geiger, region is preferred, owing to the higher stability and lower sensitivity to contaminant gases such as oxygen. A scintillation gas counter, which is very insensitive to gas impurities, has been recently described (437). Nevertheless from the manipulative viewpoint, all gas-counting methods are more complex than liquid- and solid-counting methods, which are to be preferred for most normal tracer experiments.

2. Stable isotopes

In principle it is possible to use the difference in any property of normal and isotopically enriched molecules as the basis of an assay method for an enriched stable isotope. This difference must be sufficiently large for convenient and accurate measurement. Kirshenbaum (281) has discussed the detailed procedures, difficulties, and relative merits of various assay methods for isotopic water, and Dole (134) has subsequently indicated more recent refinements to experimental techniques. The general principles enunciated are pertinent to all stable isotopes. Mass spectrometry, density measurements, and absorption spectrometry now appear to be the most favored analytical methods, although thermal conductivity (156) and refractometry (121) may also be employed. The mass spectrometer represents the most versatile instrument in that most chemical samples can be analyzed, although these samples must normally be converted into a suitable gas either by direct decomposition (281), e.g.,

$$Zn + CaO + HDO \xrightarrow{550^{\circ}C.} CaZnO_2 + HD$$

or by equilibration (110), e.g.,

$$\mathrm{CO}_{2}^{16} + \mathrm{H}_{2}\mathrm{O}^{18} \rightleftharpoons \mathrm{CO}^{16}\mathrm{O}^{18} + \mathrm{H}_{2}\mathrm{O}^{16}$$

the latter procedure requiring a knowledge of the relevant exchange equilibrium constant (Section VII). Density measurements are normally restricted to the analysis of isotopic water samples $(D_2O \text{ and } H_2O^{13})$ and are frequently based on the use of either a micropycnometer (186) or a quartz temperature-float (297). This method gives results almost comparable to those for a routine mass spectrometer used in analyzing water samples and the instrumentation required is substantially less. Absorption-spectrometric methods (infrared, microwave, or ultraviolet) can be applied to any molecule exhibiting a distinct spectral shift on isotopic substitution. The method should be generally applicable to deuteriumlabelled compounds, all of which exhibit gross spectral shifts (e.g., D-substitution in the boranes (278) but can also be applied when the spectral shifts are much smaller (e.g., N¹⁵ substitution in nitrogen (256)). This method is eminently suitable for the assay of stable isotopes, since exchange or decomposition reactions can be followed without removal of samples from the reaction mixture. In all other assay methods for both stable and radioactive isotopes, samples must normally be removed from the reaction mixture (but see 500); this is especially inconvenient for gas-phase studies.

IV. EXCHANGE REACTIONS IN THE DETECTION OF EQUILIBRIA

The observation of isotopic exchange between two chemical species can be used to detect a chemical equilibrium involving these same species. The majority of examples where this principle has been used involve immeasurably fast exchange produced as evidence of the existence of rapid equilibria. Particularly is this the case with nonaqueous solvent systems where tracers have been mainly used in an attempt to detect the small amount of autoionization which is considered to exist in many protonic and nonprotonic solvents (30).

A. SOLVENT SYSTEMS

The addition of either tagged NH_4^+ or NH_2^- ions to liquid ammonia should rapidly lead to labelling in the solvent *via* the rapid dissociative equilibrium:

$$2\mathrm{NH}_3 \rightleftharpoons \mathrm{NH}_4^+ + \mathrm{NH}_2^-$$

and in fact a rapid exchange between added N¹⁵H₄Cl and the solvent ammonia has been observed even at -60° C. (357). Unfortunately, another interpretation of this result is possible, since direct proton transfer will as easily explain the rapid exchange:

$$N^{15}H_4^+ + NH_3 \rightleftharpoons N^{15}H_3 + NH_4^+$$

Certainly, Ogg has shown from work with magnetic resonance spectra that the latter reaction is very fast, as well as the relevant one,

$$\mathrm{NH}_{2}^{-} + \mathrm{NH}_{3} \rightarrow \mathrm{NH}_{3} + \mathrm{NH}_{2}^{-}$$

with rate constants of the order of 10^{11} mole⁻¹ cm.³ sec.⁻¹ (361a). Similarly, proton transfer rather than self-ionization of acetic acid might easily account for the rapid exchange of CH₃C¹⁴OO⁻ with CH₃COOH (154). With the oxygen-con-

taining solvents (for example, sulfur dioxide) the situation is no better. The rapid exchange of the "base" tetramethylammonium pyrosulfite, $[(CH_3)_4]_2S_2O_5$ with $S^{35}O_2$ is probably better explained (265) by a mechanism involving a direct oxideion transfer:

$$S_2O_5^{2-} \rightleftharpoons SO_3^{2-} + SO_2$$
 (1)

$$SO_3^{2-} + S^{35}O_2 \rightleftharpoons SO_2 + S^{35}O_3^{2-}$$
 (2)

rather than by the alternative one, which supports the idea of autoionization in sulfur dioxide (reaction 3):

$$S_2 O_5^{2-} \rightleftharpoons SO_3^{2-} + SO_2 \tag{1}$$

$$2S^{35}O_2 \rightleftharpoons S^{35}O^{2+} + S^{35}O_3^{2-} \tag{3}$$

That the exchange takes place via equilibrium (1) alone is unlikely, since the pyrosulfite ion has the structure



with nonequivalent sulfur atoms and only half of the pyrosulfite sulfur would exchange with the sulfur of $S^{35}O_2$. The evidence for the mobility of oxide ions in liquid sulfur dioxide is strong. The fast exchange of oxygen (344) and the very slow exchange of sulfur (257) between sulfur dioxide and sulfur trioxide at room temperature led Huston (257) to suggest a mechanism involving an oxide-ion transfer:

$$SO_2 + SO_3 \rightleftharpoons SO^{2+} + SO_4^{2-} \text{ (or } SO_2 + 2SO_3 \rightleftharpoons SO^{2+} + S_2O_7^{2-})$$

to account for these differences. A mechanism involving self-ionization of the sulfur dioxide (344) would necessarily lead to exchange in both cases:

$$2SO_2 \rightleftharpoons SO^{2+} + SO_3^{2-}$$
$$SO_3 + SO_3^{2-} \rightleftharpoons S_2O_6^{2-}$$

Mechanisms involving oxide-ion transfer processes have also been postulated for the observed catalysis by dissolved ionic halides of the thionyl bromide-sulfur dioxide (235) and the thionyl chloride-sulfur dioxide (320) exchanges. For the latter exchange, for example, a rate law

R = k[catalyst][thionyl chloride][sulfur dioxide]

was observed and the mechanism suggested was:

$$S^{35}O_2 + Cl^- \rightarrow S^{35}O_2Cl^- \text{ (fast)}$$

$$S^{35}O_2Cl^- + SOCl_2 \rightarrow S^{35}OCl_2 + SO_2Cl^- \text{ (slow)}$$

An oxide-ion transfer could account for the rapid exchange of N_2O_4 with $N^{15}O_3^-$ (108). An exchange result possibly free from objections of the kind out-

lined above involves nitrosyl chloride. The rapid exchange of Cl³⁶⁻ with nitrosly chloride has been adduced as definite evidence for the self-ionization of this solvent (299). A nitrosonium-ion transfer mechanism seems much less likely, i.e.,

$$Cl^{*-} + NOCl \rightleftharpoons Cl^{*}NO + Cl^{-}$$

Both chloride ion and nitrosyl chloride, which would be the participating species in such a mechanism, are electron donors. Only kinetic studies of these very fast exchanges and the accumulation of rate laws will possibly resolve these ambiguities.

Does then the converse hold true that the *absence* of rapid exchange between dissolved solute and solvent invalidates the idea of rapid self-ionization of the solvent? Here again the results have to be treated with caution. The absence of exchange of thionyl compounds with liquid sulfur dioxide (197, 265, 337) might easily arise from incomplete ionization of the former, e.g., $SOCl_2 \rightleftharpoons SOCl^+ + Cl^-$ to produce a species (SOCl⁺) which did not exchange with the solvent. The negative result does mean, however, that *both* ionizations

$$2SO_2 \rightleftharpoons SO^{2+} + SO^{2-}$$

and

$$SOCl_2 \rightleftharpoons SO^{2+} + 2Cl^{-}$$

do not occur at the same time. Similar considerations apply to the slow exchange of acetic anhydride and acetic acid (154) and possibly of aluminum chloride and phosgene (258).

Exchange work in solvent systems is difficult experimentally. High-vacuum apparatus is invariably used and care has to be taken that, as far as possible, moisture is excluded. The purification of reactants and their preparation in an anhydrous condition are essential. Neat devices have been described for the addition of solute to solvent and for other manipulative techniques (e.g., 154). Although the separations used (invariably distillation methods) very probably preclude separation-induced exchange, separation times of less than several minutes are not easily attained. A table showing the application of exchange studies to solvent systems is given (table 2).

B. MISCELLANEOUS EQUILIBRIA

By the same kind of reasoning as in Section IV, A the absence of exchange may indicate that a certain reaction is "irreversible" and an upper limit may be assigned to the equilibrium constant. The hydration of hypophosphoric acid is known to lie well to the right, but a small amount of hypophosphoric acid, not easily detected by analytical methods, may remain when equilibrium is attained:

$$H_2O + H_4P_2O_6 \rightleftharpoons H_3PO_3 + H_3PO_4$$

The existence of a reversible equilibrium involving $H_4P_2O_6$, H_3PO_3 , and H_3PO_4 will necessarily lead to phosphorus exchange between H_2PO_3 and H_3PO_4 provided

Solvent	Solute(s)	Temperature	Exchange Rate	Remarks	References
COCI2	AICI [*]	°c. 0	$t_{ m j} \sim 12$ -60 hr.	Homogeneous; nonphotochemical; addition of halide does not catalyze exchange (see reference 235)	(258)
COCI	CaCl [*] NoCl*	25 85	<1% in 119 days	Heterogeneous	(258)
CH-COOH	CH ₂ C*OON ₈	07	1/0 III 110 URVS	rierogeneous	(154)
CHaCOOH	(CH ₃ C*00) ₃ Pb		$t_1 < 1$ min.		(154)
CII ₃ COOII	(CH ₃ C*00)4Pb		$t_{\rm H} < 1$ min.		(154)
$CH_{3}C*OOH$	$(CII_{3}CO)_{2}O$	25	$t_1 \sim 10$ hr.		(154)
$(CH_3CO)_2O$	CH3C*00Na	Room temperature	Slow	Heterogeneous	(154)
(CII ₃ CO) ₂ O	(CH ₃ C*00) ₄ Pb	Room temperature	$t_{\rm b} \sim 1 {\rm min.}$		(154)
(CH ₃ CO) ₂ O	СН3С*00П	0	th ~ 5 hr.		(154)
(CH ₃ C*0) ₂ O	CH ₃ COCI	0	$t_{\rm b} \sim 10$ hr.		(154)
NH ₈	N*H4CI	-33, -60	$t_{i} < 2 \text{ min.}$		(357)
N ₂ O ₄	(CH ₃),NN*O ₃		Complete exchange		(108)
NOCI	(C ₂ H ₅) ₄ NCl*	-36	Complete within 3 min.	Nonphotochemical	(299)
S^*O_3	SO_2	132	1.5% (624 hr.)		(257)
S^*O_2	SO ₃	132	None (72 hr.)		(257)
SO_3	SO [*]	20	Moderately fast		(344)
$S*O_2$	[(CH ₃) ₄ N] ₂ S ₂ O ₅	-21	$t_{\rm s} < 20 {\rm ~min.}$		(265)
		-75	Fast; 80% in 20 min.		
SO_2^*	SOC12	0	Negligible in 9 days		(161)
S^*O_2	S*OCl2	61	$t_{\rm i} \sim 2-6 { m yr}.$		(265, 337)
$S*O_2$	SOB ^{r2}	25	$t_{1} \sim 1.9 \pm 0.4 \text{ yr.}$		(265)
S^*O_2	S*OBr2, (CH2),NBr	-22 to 25	$R = 2.50 \times 10^{8}e^{-13,200/RT} \times [\text{catalyst}]$	Slight heterogeneous catalysis; KCl, KBr,	(235)
c*O.	S*OCI, (TH2), NCI	0.05	$B = 1.68 \times 100^{-11} \text{ M}/RT \times [701.001]$	HDBT, RDUI, and USDT also catalyze	(066)
201		67-0	ISOCIAI [SOC]a	catalveis: mechanism sugrested	(070)
SO_2	8*OCI2, RbCl	0-25	$R = 5.31 \times 10^{66-14,700/RT} \times [RbCl] [SOCl_2]$	As for previous system	(320)
			[SO ₂]		
S*OCl ₂	SO ₂ , (CH ₃) ₄ NCI	0-25	$R = 5.11 \times 10^{6} e^{-13.600/RT} \times [(CH_3)_4 NCI]$	As for previous system	(320)
00			[SOC12] [SO2]		(190)
202 50-	(C2H5)8NS*U2 (C2H-)-MS*O-H-O	-70, -80	Complete exchange within 4 min.	Ready dissociation of complex	(234) (924)
502 2001	(CITE) SING OFFE	-10, -30	Complete exenange wuunt 4 mm.	Also convertate is SO - column / 90%	(101)
SOCI.	CULINAL CLUE	• =	C 80 mm.	AUBANOS SOR HI SASHING OSTA	(201)
POCI	(CH3) NCI*	35 ¢	C 10% min.		(201)
SeOCl ²	KCI*	2 23	C 50 min.		(201)
SeOCI ₂ *	FeC13	40	C 150 min.		(201)

TABLE 2 Exchange in solvent systems t The letter C preceding a listed time indicates that ≥95 per cent exchange occurred at the lowest concentrations and temperature conditions.

ISOTOPIC TRACERS IN INORGANIC CHEMISTRY

765

that hypophosphoric acid has a symmetrical structure (331) but not if it possesses an unsymmetrical one:

$$H_{3}PO_{3} + H_{3}P^{*}O_{4} \xrightarrow[k_{1}]{k_{2}} O = P \xrightarrow{P} P^{*} O \xrightarrow{k_{2}}{k_{1}} H_{3}PO_{4} + H_{3}P^{*}O_{3}$$

$$H_{3}PO_{3} + H_{3}P^{*}O_{4} \rightleftharpoons O = P \xrightarrow{O} O + O + P^{*}$$

$$H_{3}PO_{3} + H_{3}P^{*}O_{4} \rightleftharpoons O = P \xrightarrow{P} O - P^{*}$$

$$OH OH + H_{2}O$$

Wilson (483) observed negligible exchange between H_3PO_3 and $H_5P^{32}O_4$ in 26 days at 25°C. By placing an upper limit on the amount of exchange after this time, it was possible to assign a maximum value for k_1 , and hence for the equilibrium constant for the reaction $(K = k_1/k_2)$, since k_2 was known from independent hydrolysis experiments. Thus K was estimated to be less than 8×10^{-5} liter mole⁻¹ at 25°C. in 5.6 N hydrochloric acid, assuming a symmetrical structure for hypophosphoric acid.

Owen and Johnson (367) have suggested that the slow exchange between arsenic trichloride and chlorine in carbon tetrachloride constitutes good evidence for the nonexistence of arsenic pentachloride, since rapid exchange would have been expected from a reversible equilibrium:

$$AsCl_3 + Cl_2 \rightleftharpoons AsCl_5$$

This argument presupposes that the formation of arsenic pentachloride in solution would be rapid, which seems reasonable in view of the rapid reaction between phosphorus trichloride and chlorine. The exchange is markedly catalyzed by traces of hydrogen chloride which seem always to be present and the observed exchange is believed to occur via hydrogen chloride:

$$HCl + AsCl_3 \rightleftharpoons HAsCl_4$$

with rapid $HCl-Cl_2$ exchange also occurring (266).

From the results of such experiments as these, evidence for the probable absence of a molecular species in solution may be deduced.

So far the discussion has centered mainly around rapid or very slow exchange. The value of these studies has been seen to be somewhat limited. If, however, the equilibrium is approached at a measurable rate, then it is possible to correlate exchange *rates* with *equilibrium* data obtained by other means (i.e., forward and reverse reaction rates and equilibrium constants). The "classical" example of this correlation is the study of exchange between labelled arsenic acid and inactive arsenious acids in the presence of I_3^- (484). This has been fully discussed by Crompton (122).

766

The results of exchange studies and the interpretation of the mechanism of the nitrogen pentoxide decomposition constitute a more recent example of both the detection of an equilibrium and its subsequent quantitative investigation.

Ogg (358) suggested that in the decomposition of nitrogen pentoxide the initial step involved a rapid equilibrium lying well to the left:

$$N_2O_5 \xrightarrow{k_1}{k_2} NO_2 + NO_3$$
 (rapid equilibrium) (1, 2)

and that the subsequent stages were:

$$NO_2 + NO_3 \xrightarrow{k_3} NO_2 + NO + O_2$$
 (slow) (3)

$$NO + N_2O_5 \xrightarrow{k_4} 3NO_2$$
 (rapid) (4)

This mechanism demanded that nitrogen pentoxide should exchange rapidly with nitrogen dioxide via the fast equilibrium (1, 2) (either nitrogen compound being tagged). Ogg (359) used the 10-min. N¹³ isotope to study the exchange of nitrogen pentoxide with $N^{13}O_2$ in carbon tetrachloride and found in agreement with his ideas that using approximately 0.1 M exchange reactants the exchange was fast ($t_i \sim 2 \text{ min.}, 10^{\circ}\text{C.}$). The half-life of the decomposition of the nitrogen pentoxide under similar conditions would be as much as 60 hr. This constituted therefore the first experimental proof of the reversibility of the first step. The procedure involved quenching the exchange (which at the same time separated the exchanging species) by addition of alkali $(N_2O_5 \rightarrow NO_3^-; NO_2 \rightarrow NO_3^- +$ NO_2^{-}) and following the decrease in activity of the NO_2^{-} (counted as silver nitrite) as a measure of the exchange. At the same time it was necessary to confirm that the NO₂--NO₃- exchange did not occur in solution during these operations. The confirmation of step 1 in the gas phase (120, 362) was accomplished without the necessity of a separation by the elegant device of following the change in infrared absorption of a mixture of $N^{15}O_2$ and normal N_2O_5 . The exchange reaction:

$$N_2^{14}O_5 + N^{15}O_2 \rightleftharpoons N_2^{15}O_5 + N^{14}O_2$$

leads to a diminishing amount of N¹⁵O₂ which could be directly followed by a fast scanning spectrometer, using the very strong ν_3 fundamental band of nitrogen dioxide at 1621 cm.⁻¹ The exchange rate R was shown to be approximately represented by the relationship:

$$R \simeq 0.5 \left[N_2 O_5 \right] \tag{16}$$

(at 27°C. and with 500 mm. of mercury partial pressure of carbon dioxide added to improve the resolution of the N¹⁵O₂ P branch). This is essentially in agreement with the value obtained from a study of the reaction N₂O₅ + NO \rightarrow 3NO₂ (362), which is also presumed to be governed by the N₂O₅ bond-breaking stage (1).

$$N_{2}O_{5} \xrightarrow{k_{1}} NO_{2} + NO_{3} \qquad (1, 2)$$
$$NO_{3} + NO \xrightarrow{k_{4}} 2NO_{2} \quad (k_{4} \gg k_{2})$$

Amell and Daniels (13) investigated the kinetics of the $N^{15}O_2-N_2O_5$ exchange in the gas phase. The exchange reaction was stopped at various times by adding sodium hydroxide solution in the same way as for the work with N^{13} (359). Sulfamic acid was added to destroy nitrite, and the nitrate remaining was converted into nitrogen gas with sodium hypobromite. The N^{15}/N^{14} ratio of the nitrogen gas was measured.

If the exchange proceeds via equilibrium 1, then because $k_1 \ll k_2$ the rate of exchange, R, will be given by

$$R = k_1[N_2O_5] = \frac{2.303}{t} \frac{2[N_2O_5][NO_2]}{2[N_2O_5] + [NO_2]} \log\left(1 - \frac{x_t}{x_{\infty}}\right)$$
(17)

 x_t and x_{∞} representing the concentration of N¹⁵ in nitrogen pentoxide at times t and at equilibrium. A full account of the calculations involved in determining x_t/x_{∞} from the experimental data is given by Amell and Daniels, whose paper should be consulted for these useful details. The data obtained conform with the value for $k_1 = 6 \times 10^{12} e^{-19,000}/RT$ sec.⁻¹ and this is, once again, in fair agreement with the rate constant and energy of activation obtained for the NO + N₂O₅ reaction under comparable experimental conditions. The kinetics of the decomposition of nitrogen pentoxide are fully discussed by Frost and Pearson (180).

The confirmation of the tautomeric equilibrium existing in an aqueous solution of hypophosphorous acid (489) illustrates the importance of the isotopic exchange approach.

The slow oxidation of hypophosphorous acid to phosphorous acid by various oxidants, including the halogens (489), iodate (223), and iodine monochloride (166), has been the subject of several investigations. The rate of oxidation is independent of the concentration of oxidizing agent provided this is sufficiently large. The results are best explained by the assumption of a slow, acid-catalyzed change from a normal form of the acid $[H_3PO_2]_I$ to an "active" form $[H_3PO_2]_{II}$. Virtually only the latter form (which is present in very small concentrations) is oxidized, and when the oxidant concentration is high, the tautomeric change (step 1) is the rate-determining step:

$$[\mathrm{H}_{3}\mathrm{PO}_{2}]_{\mathrm{I}} \xrightarrow{k_{1}} [\mathrm{H}_{3}\mathrm{PO}_{2}]_{\mathrm{II}} \qquad (1, 2)$$

$$[H_3PO_2]_{II}$$
 + oxidant $\xrightarrow{k_3}$ H_3PO_3 + reductant (3)

The irreversibility of step 3 is shown by the nonexchange of phosphorus between H_3PO_2 and H_3PO_3 even in the presence of iodine or iodide ion (67). Strong evidence for the reality of the proposed tautomeric forms has been provided by two independent studies of exchange between labelled water and hypophosphorous acid (69, 262). In one case HTO was used and the rate of increase in radioactivity of the dissolved acid determined (as precipitated thallous hypophosphite) (262). In the other work (69) the rate of loss of the deuterium content of D_2O was measured after contact with the acid. In both cases the rapid exchange of one hydrogen of the H_3PO_2 (in the hydroxyl group) was allowed for, and the exchange rate of the remaining two hydrogens was related quantitatively to the relevant oxidation rate constant. Considering the results of Jenkins and Yost (262): when hypophosphorous and oxonium acids only are present

$$R \text{ (exchange)} = k_1^{\mathrm{H}}[\mathrm{H}^+][\mathrm{H}_3\mathrm{PO}_2] + k_1^{\mathrm{H}_3\mathrm{PO}_2}[\mathrm{H}_3\mathrm{PO}_2]^2$$
(18)

and at 30°C. $k_1^{\rm H}$ and $k_1^{\rm H_3PO_2}$ are 3.3 \pm 0.15 and 2.9 \pm 0.14 liters mole⁻¹ hr.⁻¹ Comparing these results with the study of the oxidation of hypophosphorous acid by iodine (196)

$$R \text{ (oxidation)} = k_1^{\mathbf{H}}[\mathbf{H}^+][\mathbf{H}_3\mathbf{PO}_2] + k_1^{\mathbf{H}_3\mathbf{PO}_2}[\mathbf{H}_3\mathbf{PO}_2]^2 \tag{19}$$

where at 30°C. $k_1^{\rm H}$ and $k_1^{{\rm H}_3 {\rm PO}_2}$ are 21 and 7.6 liters mole⁻¹ hr.⁻¹, the form of the rate equation and the values of the rate constants (bearing in mind isotope effects) are in good agreement with each other. The Russian workers (69) visualized the mechanism for the tautomerism (and the exchange path) as:

$$\begin{bmatrix} H \\ HO \rightarrow P = O \\ H \\ H \end{bmatrix} + H^{*+} \rightleftharpoons \begin{bmatrix} HO \rightarrow P \rightarrow OH^* \\ H \\ H \end{bmatrix} + H^+$$
$$[H_3PO_2]_{II} \qquad [H_3PO_2]_{II}$$

For a detailed discussion of this and other exchanges of inorganic molecules the reader is referred to an article by Brodskii (64).

In the ion $H_2PO_2^-$ exchange with D_2O is slower by a factor of 10^{6} – 10^{7} and an analogous tautomerism is probably unimportant (69). The nonexchange of D_2O with the one phosphorus-hydrogen bond of H_3PO_3 (69) appears to rule out an analogous mechanism involving a pretautomerism of phosphorous acid which had been suggested (330) for the much slower subsequent oxidation of orthophosphorous to orthophosphoric acid. On the other hand, the rate of oxidation in water of dialkyl phosphites, $HPO(OR)_2$, by excess iodine is independent of the iodine concentration and is the same rate as with bromine oxidation (356). The tautomerism, which has been proposed for this case also, should be checked by tagged water exchanges.

An exchange study of the PH_3 - D_2O system (471) has been used to assign an acid and base constant to phosphine. The IO_3 - I_2^{131} system (111, 342) constitutes a good example of the necessity of considering activity coefficients in assessing rate data and has been fully discussed in a previous review (15).

V. EXCHANGE REACTIONS AND MOLECULAR STRUCTURE

Exchange processes, which are usually carried out on nonreacting systems, can give information as to the structure of the exchanging species, the intermediates, and, in some cases, even the transition state. When diborane reacts with ammonia at -120°C. a salt-like solid of composition $B_2H_6 \cdot 2NH_3$ is obtained. Burg (84) was able to show from deuterium-exchange studies that six hydrogen atoms were different from the other six. He studied the exchange of $B_2H_6 \cdot 2NH_3$ with nearly pure ND₃ at -78°C. and found that the ND₃ was

"diluted" with ordinary hydrogen to the extent of half of the hydrogens of the boron compound. In another experiment he showed that no loss of deuterium content of the ND₃ occurred in 60 hr. at 18°C. between $B_2H_6 \cdot 2ND_3$ and ND₃ and that even heating the mixture at 40°C. (during which extensive ammonolysis occurred) induced no exchange between B—H and N—D. These observations were in agreement with the favored structure $NH_4^+(H_3B \cdot NH_2 \cdot BH_3)^-$ and ruled out suggested alternatives such as $(NH_4)_2^{2+}(B_2H_4)^{2-}$. The deuterium content of the separated ND₃ was measured by vapor tension against that of known mixtures, using a differential tensiometer.

Another example of the different exchangeability of atoms within a molecule is afforded by phosphorus pentachloride. The phosphorus pentachloride-chlorine exchange in carbon tetrachloride (140) has been already referred to in Section II. The "zero-time" exchange of three of the five chlorine atoms followed by slow exchange of the remaining two constitutes unique evidence for the different reactivity of the equatorial and apical chlorines of the phosphorus pentachloride molecule, and also indicates a trigonal bipyramidal, rather than a tetragonal pyramidal, structure for phosphorus pentachloride.

An exchange study that yields information on the structure of the reactant (and possibly on the transition state) is the $S_2O_3^{2-}$ - SO_3^{2-} exchange thoroughly examined by Ames and Willard (14). The exchange equilibrium corresponded to exchange of only one sulfur atom (the outer) of the thiosulfate group:

$$S*O_3^{2-} + SSO_3^{2-} \rightleftharpoons SS*O_3^{2-} + SO_3^{2-}$$

Since the rate R (= $k[SO_3^{2-}][S_2O_3^{2-}]$ for most of the conditions studied) varied little with a pH change from 12 to 5, it appeared that both SO_3^{2-} and HSO_3^{-} were equally able to collide with $S_2O_3^{2-}$ and effect the transfer of sulfur. The species present in the solution under the conditions of the exchange were considered (including possible ion-pairs) and the suggested mechanism involved a symmetrical activated complex:

It is perhaps worth digressing a little here to point out that the existence (on paper) of a symmetrical transition state obviously does not mean that exchange will necessarily occur between two exchanging species. The SO_3^{2-}/SO_4^{2-} exchange, which is formally similar to the $SO_3^{2-}/S_2O_3^{2-}$ system, is extremely slow and possible reasons for this have been discussed (14). Whilst the exchange of thiocyanate ion and cyanide ion through the symmetrical transition state (NCSCN)²⁻ might appear possible at first sight, in fact no exchange occurs (8).

A good example of the observation of exchange and the formulation of the activated complex comes from the Cr^{2+} -catalyzed $CrCl^{2+}$ - Cl^{-} exchange (448). This exchange in perchloric acid is immeasurably slow in the absence of cata-

lysts and does not arise from Cr^{2+} -catalyzed dissociation of $CrCl^{2+}$. From some preliminary experiments at 0°C. a rate law

$$R = 31[Cr^{2+}][Cl^{-}][CrCl^{2+}]$$

is indicated and the exchange path is considered to be via the equilibrium:

$$CrCl^{2+} + Cl^{-} + Cr^{2+} \rightleftharpoons CrCl_{2^{+}} + Cr^{2+}$$

which lies well to the left. The reverse reaction is a known electron-transfer process (449). Since the activated complex is readily accessible from $CrCl^{2+}$, Cl^- , and Cr^{2+} ions, and the chromium-chlorine link is preserved during the process (from chloride tracer studies; see later), no juxtaposition of groups occurs during the process and the most reasonable formulation of the transition state appears to be (448):

Some care has to be taken however in assigning *molecular structure* on the basis of exchange experiments. The rapid exchange of NO and N¹⁵O₂ at -35° C. was adduced (295) as proof that N₂O₃ had a symmetrical structure with an oxygen bridge:

$$NO + N^{16}O_2 \rightleftharpoons N - O - N^{16} - O \rightleftharpoons NO_2 + N^{16}O$$

rather than a direct N-N link:

$$NO + N^{15}O_2 \rightleftharpoons O$$

 O $N^{15}-NO$

It is, however, the structure of the activated complex that is suggested by these experiments. N_2O_3 in point of fact probably has the unsymmetrical structure (366).

Table 3 summarizes isotopic exchange investigations which have been conducted on compounds of elements of Groups I to VII. Broadly speaking, the findings of these investigations are similar to those described in Sections IV and V.

Key to table 3

Exchanging species: An asterisk denotes the labelled species used. When both species were labelled and used in separate experiments, both are marked with asterisks. The exchanging species are arranged according to the periodic classification. Within a periodic group, the exchanging species are arranged in order of increasing complexity. The species indicated are not necessarily those existing under the conditions of the exchange (e.g., pH will govern the predominant form).

Exchange conditions: Columns 3 and 4 indicate the concentrations (in nor-

TABLE 3	compounds of elements of Groups I to VII
	reactions of
	c exchange
	Isotopi

Ехсһапв	ing Species	E	xchange Conditio	su	Exchange Rate	Remarks	References
				Group I			
H ₂	112	42-52%	57-47%	643-737°		K; diffusion of air into reaction vessel pre- vented; lower rates than previously ro- ported, $B = 59.8 \pm 0.4$; rate accelorated by oxygen traces (282a) and inhibited by	(56a)
IIs	H_2^*	59-400 mm.	46–133 mm.	Induced by β -radiation	1-14 hr.	NO and propylene (426) K; chain process; variation with intensity of <i>B</i> -indiction and total pressure investi-	(136)
Π_2^*	-H0	1	0.12-0.88		30–240 min. (100°)	$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{g}_{aucu}\\ \textbf{K}; \ \textbf{suggested} \ \textbf{mechanism}: \ D_2 + \textbf{OII}^- \rightarrow \\ \textbf{K}: \ \textbf{number of } \ \textbf{M}: \ $	(481)
H_2^{\star}	NH2-	1	10-4-10-8	Liquid ammonia	30-110 min. (-53°)	$D + 100$ H; HOA + $D \rightarrow 0$ H ⁻ + HD Analogous kinetics and mechanism to those	(480)
$Na_2(Ph_4-PO)$	Na*]	I	Pyridine	C 6 min.	given in 401	(35)
				Group II			
Mg(HQ)2† Chlorophylls a and b	$Mg^{*2+}Mg^{*Cl_2}$	1.5 mg.	2.6 mg.	Absolute ethanol or 80% acctone	~30 min. N 7 hr.	Heterogeneous	(407) (39, 406)
				Group III			
BBr_3	Br_2^{*}			Liquid mixture	Complete ex-		(291)
ВЩ. ⁻ В2Н6-2NП3 В2Н6-2NН3	H2 [*] O [*] 1H NH3 [*] NH4 [*] NH4 [*]	1.5 Liquid solution	Lxccss	pH 12	Change (39) N 17 hr. C 70 sec. (80°) N 60 hr. (18°)	No exchange of protons in diborane during	(187) (84) (84)
${ m B_2H_6}$	11,	0.025-0.096 (g atoins II per	0.0086-0.042	Gas	42-109 (55°)	substantial ammonolysis K; see 316	(322)
B₂H ₆ B₂U6	B2H B2H B	1.00 miles 2.4–19 cm.	2.4–19 cm.	Gas	7-20 min. (24°) Rapid (25°)	K Postulated via BH ₃ dissociation fragments	(322) (416)
$\dagger Ph_4 - PO = 1$	etraphenylporphyri:	n. HQH = hydroxy	quinoline.				

772

D. R. STRANKS AND R. G. WILKINS

B ₅ II ₉	B₅II,⁵			Gas or liquid	N (room tem- perature); C		(416)
B ₆ H ₉	B ₅ [*] H ₉			Gas or liquid	(200°) N 100° (liquid) N 250° (200)	Absence of dissociation frugments	(118)
Al ³⁺ Al2CI [*]	H ₂ O* HCl*	$\frac{1.0}{7 \times 10^{-4}}$ mole	Excess 6×10^{-4} mole	0.3-1.0 H ⁺	C 3 min. ~150 min.	Previous nonexchange (394) due to traces of	(110) (254) (56)
Al ₂ Cl6 AlBr3	HCI* Br ₂ *	(solid) 21 cm. AlBra in liquid	(gas) 16 cm.	Gascous	C in <76 hr. (213) Complete ex-	moisture in AlzCia N 12 hr. (21°)	(394) (167)
Al (oxalate), ³⁻ Ga ³⁺ TICI4 ⁻	Oxalate*2- H [*] 20 Cl*-	bromine 0.03 1.0 0.025	0.01 Excess 0.05	рН 4.5-6.0 0.3-1.2 Н ⁺ рН 2	change C 20 sec. C 2.5 min. C 1 min.		(307) (254) (391)
	_		_	Group IV			
CN0-	C*N-	0.05	0.05	pH 10	N 43 hr.		(6)
CS ₂ CS ₂	S_8^* $\Pi_2 S^*$	Excess 0.1	0.05	Celle	N 68 hr. (100°) N 95 hr. (120°)	CS ₂ may be used as solvent in S* studies	(116) (137)
CCI4	HCI*	48 mm.	10 mm.		N 15 hr.		(105)
Sire"		0.17	0.017	pH 0.5-1.0	C 5 min.		(25) (105)
SiBr,	Br_2^*	SiBr4 in liquid			N 6 hr. (100°)		(167)
SiBr4	$AlBr_3^*$	bromine			Complete ex-		(167)
SiI4 SnCl4	I <u>*</u> HCI*	15-25 mm.	5.5 mm.	Xylene Gas	change (100°) 140 min. (130°) 100 sec. (or less)	C 60 min. (130°); melt; no solvent ~50% induced exchange; catalyzed by py-	(345) (244)
$SnCl_4^*$	HCI*	0.0004	0.015	Liquid	~40 sec. (-31°)	rex or silica surface; inhibited by chlorine Slow diffusion of HCl from gas into solution	(244)
SnCl [*]	HCI*	0.0004	0.0003	Solid	Rapid (-78°)	Involved Surface layer probably exchanges very	(244)
SnBr4 SnBr4	Br_2^* Br_2^*	0.04 SnBr4 in liquid	0.04	cclı	C 2 min. Complete ex-	rapidaly, used solved diffusion theory of the	(485, 127) (167)
SnI4 PbI2	I2* I*	bromine 4 × 10 ⁻⁶	10-6	ccl4	C in time of pre- c in time of pre- civitation of		(273) (97)
Th_{aq}^{4+}	H_2O^*	1.0	Excess	0.1 H ⁺	C 3 min.		(254)

ISOTOPIC TRACERS IN INORGANIC CHEMISTRY

773

Exchang	ing Species	<u>ସ</u> ି	xchange Conditio	su	Exchange Rate	Remarks	References
				Group V			
+ ' HN	H [*] 20	Used NH4NO ₃ , (NIII,)2O4, and NH1.C ¹			I-10 min. (0°)	Exchange rate retarded by acid added to suppres $NH_4^{4} + H_2O \rightarrow NH_3 + H_3O^{+}$	(68)
NH4NO3	H20			54% aqueous	~3 min. (0°)	suggestor exchange path Also NH4 ⁺ salts and C4IIsOH [*] in chloro-	(276)
*HN	NO2	0.23	0.23	0.01 H ⁺	N 92 min.	$3.3 \pm 2.6\%$ exchange, 92 min.	(326)
NO ₂	H20*	na 0	10 true	рН 4-6 А её а е и печес	C 5 sec.	K; rate = $2.6 \times 10^{8} \times [\text{II}^{+}]^{2}[\text{NO}_{2}^{-}]$	(123) (16)
NO2	N [*]	0.05		100 017 M 70-000	N 15 days	A; rate = 32[11102]* (0 / As expected; compare rapid exchange re-	(271, 351)
N *03- N03-	$\mathbf{N_2^{\bullet}}$	0.0ā			N 30 min. N15 days	potted in reference and As expected; compare rupid exchange re-	(13, 359) (271, 353)
#NO3	1120*	46.8 mole per cent			4 hr.	ported in reference 350 K; marked rate increase for HNO ₃ > 40 mole	(62)
HNO3	*O*H	8.2 mole per cent		0.003 mole per	9 min.	per cent Catalysis by HNO2 marked below [HNO3]	(80)
NH ₂ OH-HCl	N_2^*	0.1		pH = 7.3	N 1 day	40 mole per cent. As expected; compare rapid exchange re-	(376, 271)
NII2NO2 Na2N2O2 N22N-O2	H20.			l < lid I < lid	C I hr. (5°) N 16 hr.	N2O evolved; inactive	(291) (58) (58)
N2O	*0*			Alkali or acid	N 40 hr.		(58)
N*03	N2 O	Total pressure			N (750°) C 15 sec. (~35°)	No exclunge during decomposition of N ² O Suggests that structure of N ² O ³ is symmet-	(178) (295)
N [*] 03 N°04	ON N	0.1	âl 0	CCI.	C 5 min. (-118°) ~9 min. (10°)	Interrogeneous; NzO3 solid	(295) (359)
N ₂ O ₅	N*02	0.0002	0.0003	Gas (~5 cm. total pressure)	~100 sec.	K; $k = 6 \times 10^{12} \times e^{-19,000/RT}$ sec. ⁻¹ ; enhanced rate in presence of NO; increase of pres-	(13, 362, 120)
PH,	0 [*] H			pH 3.4-4.95	10-270 hr.	Bure (a) cm. WILD CU2) had livele ellect K; B = 17.6; enhanced rate at higher acidi-	(471)
PCIa PCIa	CI: HCI•	0.04 61 mm	0.06 8 mm.	CCII CCII Gaseous	o-210 hr. C 5 min. C 45 min.	nes, actd and buse cacatyzed	(286) (105)

TABLE 3—Continued

774

D. R. STRANKS AND R. G. WILKINS

orine K; exchange of apical chlorine atoms mark- anged edly accelerated by HCl and moisture (cf. 139) then 286); no simple rate law obtained; prob- ably nonheterogeneous (2003)	$ \begin{array}{c c} B = 17.6; \text{ bimolecular; } t_1 = 1 \text{ sec. (9^{\circ}) in ni-} \\ \text{trobenzene} \\ 0^{\circ} \\ \text{K; } B = 13.5; \text{ bimolecular} \\ (140) \\ (160) \\ (161) \\ (105) \\ (105) \\ (105) \\ (107) \\ (10$	 dark K; P; probably homogeneous dark omplete exchange in CCl4 and in abseco of solvent (167) Basence of 12 or 1⁻ (67) HaASO₄/HASO₄ exchange) 	(a) $H_2PO_2^-$ all oxidized to $H_2PO_4^-$ (b) $H_2PO_2^-$ all oxidized to $H_2PO_4^-$ (374) Rute accelerated by acetic acid and 0.1 (69, 262, 151) K; one OH- exchanged rapidly (69, 262, 151) K (70) (70) K (70) K	
0.7 mm. (10) 40 min. 9-36 sec. (-20°) >20 days	N 30 min. C 3 min. C 60 min. (60°) C 10 min. Complete excha	 5-30 days da (50°) C 1 hr. (50°) C 10 min. C 10 min. C 10 min. (13°) C 4 min. (18°) N hours (70°) 	$ \begin{array}{l} & \text{N} \ \text{Doturs} \ (AU) \\ & \text{N} \ 24 \ \text{hr.} \ (100^\circ) \\ & \text{N} \ 4 \ \text{days} \ (280^\circ) \\ & 21 \ \text{hr.} \ (100^\circ) \\ & 16 \ \text{min.} \\ & 6 \ \text{min.} \ (40^\circ) \\ & 10 \ \text{hr.} \ (100^\circ) \\ & \text{N} \ 45 \ \text{hr.} \\ & \text{N} \ 45 \ \text{hr.} \\ & \text{N} \ 10 \ \text{hr.} \ (100^\circ) \\ & \text{N} \ 10 \ \text{hr.} \ (100^\circ) \\ & \text{N} \ 10 \ \text{hr.} \ (100^\circ) \\ & \text{N} \ 10 \ \text{hr.} \ (100^\circ) \\ & \text{N} \ 10 \ \text{hr.} \ (100^\circ) \\ & \text{N} \ 10 \ \text{hr.} \ (100^\circ) \\ & \text{N} \ 10 \ \text{hr.} \ (100^\circ) \\ & \text{N} \ 10 \ \text{hr.} \ (100^\circ) \\ & \text{N} \ 10 \ \text{hr.} \ (100^\circ) \\ & \text{N} \ 10 \ \text{hr.} \ (100^\circ) \\ & \text{N} \ 10 \ \text{hr.} \ (100^\circ) \\ & \text{Hr.} \ (100^\circ) \ & \text{Hr.} \ (100^\circ) \\ & \text{Hr.} \ (100^\circ) \ & \text{Hr.} \ (100^\circ) \\ & \text{Hr.} \ (100^\circ) \ & \text{Hr.} \ (1$	N 26 (lays N 4 (lays (280°) N 24 hr. (100°)
	CHCIa Acetonitrile CCIA CCIA	CCIA CSs Liquid	Neutral or acid	5.6 HCl
	0.005 0.007-0.04 9 mm. 0.04 0.04	0.005-0.067 0.039 mole 0.04 mole Excess AsCla	0.05 0.1-1.0	0,36
Transa DOCI.	Excess FOCIA 0.007 0.007-0.024 12 mm. 12 mm. 0.03 0.03 50 mm. 50 mm. 500	0.038 mole 0.038 mole 0.05 mole	0.05 0.1-1.0	0.35
-==	B	SbCl ₄ Br ⁴ HP ⁶ As ⁴ Br ₃ As ⁴ Br ₃ Cl ⁶⁻ HaPO ₃	нь ²⁰⁴⁻ 111,00- 112,00- 113,0 11,0 11	HsP*O.
į.	POCIA POCIA POCIA POCIA POCIA PBCIA AsBra AsBra	Sb*Cl ₃ SbBr ₃ SbF ₆ As*Cl ₃ AsCl ₃ H ₄ P*O ₃	Ны ^{го} . Нароз- Нароз- Нароз- Нароз- Нароз- Нароз- Нароз- нароз- нароз-	HaPO, HaPO,

ISOTOPIC TRACERS IN INORGANIC CHEMISTRY

775

Exchang	ing Species	Ē	kchange Conditio	su	Exchange Rate	Remarks	References
				Group V-Conch	uded		
H _a PO ₄ PO ₄ ²⁻ , HPO ₄ ²⁻ , or H ₂ PO ₄ ⁻	П20* Н20*				70 hr. (100°) No exchange		(0 <i>T</i>)
H2P*04-	(IIPO ₃) _n	0.02	0.01	pH 2.0	N 2 min. (100°) N 3 min. (100°), DH 12	Indicates $H_4P_2O_7 \rightarrow HPO_3 + H_3PO_4$; irreversible	(219)
H2P*04 ⁻	$H_2 P_2 O_{7^{2-}}$	0.017	0.008	pH 2.0	N 30 min. (100°) N 3 min. (100°), bH 12	Indicates 21HPO ₃ + H ₂ O \rightarrow H ₄ P ₂ O ₇ and H ₄ P ₂ O ₇ + H ₂ O \rightarrow 2H ₃ PO ₄ ; both irrevers- ible	(249)
H2P*04- II2P*04-	H2P2062- (NaPO3)6	0.05 0.015	0.05 0.03	pH 1, 5, and 10 Presence of 0.005 (NaP*0 ₃) ₃	N (90°) N 25 hr.		(333) (462)
(NaP*O3)3	(NaPO2)6	0.005	0.03	pH 10	N 15 min. (100°)	Also N 25 hr. (25°) at pII = 2; N 0.17 hr. (100°) at pIH = 5; indicates (NaPO ₃) ₆ \rightarrow (NaPO ₃) ₃ \rightarrow Na ₂ PO ₄ (proposed mecha- mism of lytolysisis (NaPO ₄) and occur- mism of hytolysisis (NaPO ₄) and occur-	(462)
11. P*O.2-	("UdH)		0.01	11.9 2	N 15 (100°)	ting untilg even ange) is itteversible	(0)6)
P,*O7	(L1 U3)n H2P2O62-	0.005	0.005	pH 1. 5. and 10	N (90°) N (90°)		(233)
AsCl	HCI*	Liquid	10 mm.		C 60 min. (60°)		(105)
$\Lambda_{s}Cl_{3}^{*}$	HCI			CCI4	C 6 min.		(367)
AsCl ₃	Cl ³	0.02-0.20	0.03-0.11	ccl,	2-15 hr.	K; cutalyzed markedly by HCI (probably always present and precluding thorough study)	(367)
AsO4 ³⁻ H.AsO.	A8*0,8- 11.48*0.			1 NaOH HCI	N 3 hr. (100°) N 3 hr. (100°)		(484)
118ASO4	H _a As*Os	0.1 - 0.4	0.1-0.15	0.1-0.24 HCl, 0.01- 0.1 KI, 0.1 NaCl	6 hr.	K; excluance takes place exactly through $H_3AO_3 + I_3^+ + H_2O_3^-^- H_3ASO_4 + 3I^- + 2H^+$	(484)
As*0.3-	AsS4 ²⁻				Fast	1	(318)
As*O4 ³⁻ BiI3	AsS ³⁶⁻				N 20 min. C in time of pre-		(318) (97)
					cipitation of NH4Bil4		
Bil.	I*-				C 5 min.		(126)
As(S203) 5 ⁷ Sb(S203) 5 ⁷ Bi(S203) 5 ³⁷	As*(III) Sb*(III) Bi*(III)			2.0 HCl 2.0 HCl 2.0 HCl	Us tew seconds (3°) Us few seconds (3°) C few seconds (17°)	Fuster than arsenic analog	(414) (414) (414)
	_	_	-	-	-		

TABLE 3-Continued

776

D. R. STRANKS AND R. G. WILKINS

03	02	20 cm.			N years		(363, 267)
02	02	2 cm.		In presence of O ₃	3 min.	$0_3 = 0 + 0_2; 0 + 0^{*0^*} \to 00^* + 0^*$	(363, 364)
ę	*0			(15 cm.)			Leo.
70	2 2			IL 2001 A. T INET-	4 (lays	Wantum yield 125 for mercury-sensitized	(267)
O_2	0_2^*	5 mm.	200 mm. Cl ₂	Unfiltered mer-	Several hours	Quantum yield $\ll 1$; involves CIO and CIO ₂	(360)
	•			cury lamp		intermediates	
02	0_i	20 mm.	20 mm. N20s			K; exchange faster than N ₂ O ₅ pyrolysis; NO ₄ rostulated as intermediate	(361)
O_2	+O*			0.04 HClO4	N 5 days	Shorthorn on the second	
0,	II ₂ 0*			In presence of 10 ⁻³	10% exchange	(Accompanied by loss of O ₃ and H ₂ O ₂)	
			1	11_2O_2		Evidence for existence of OII exchange car-	(170, 171, 182)
					,	rier:	
			-			H_{2}^{0} + 011 \rightarrow 0*H + 1120	
						$0^*\mathrm{II} + 0_3 \rightarrow 1100^* + 0_2$	
						$HUU^* + U_3 \to 0H + 0U^* + U_2$	
						Innibited by high [NU3 ⁻] and low [U3] or [H ₂ O2]	
011	H ₂ 0*	Hydroxyl radical	Excess	pH 0.5-13.4	$\sim 10\%$ exchange	Independent of pH (Grotthus type mecha-	(277)
		generated by			in evolved oxy-	nism postulated)	
		KU3			gen; rapid		
	S [*] (element)				C I hr. (90–100°)	S slowly dissolves	(19)
SF6	HF,			Vapor	N 45 min.		(399)
S ₂ Cl ₂	S _s	Excess	0.03		30 min. (98°)	Postulated $S_8^* \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} S_6 + S_2^*$ (slow)	(115)
				-		$2S_2CI_2 \equiv S_2CI_4 + S_2$	
						$R = k[S_5][S_2Cl_2]; cf. 115$	(164)
S ₂ Cl ₂	HCI*	10 mm.	J0 mm.	Gaseous	N 60 min. (60°)	N 180 min. (60°) with liquid S ₂ Cl ₂	(105)
H_2S^*	S*02			Variety of condi-	N in appreciable		(229)
				tions	time before sul-		
	(fur precipitates		
H251	8 0 2			CHCl ₃	No exchange	Yellow solution formed containing S_nO_2 ;	(192)
CON-	Cant.					inactive SO ₂ emitted on warming	
DCIN	C.N.	0.19	0.59	pH 0.5-14	N 160 hr.	Precludes formation of NCSCN ²⁻ as transi- tion state	(8)
KSCN	S* (element)	0.1	~0 UI	Alashal	N K dowe	N 5 ha (115º) in income all all all all all all all all all al	1967
			10.0		eren e ti	ture (287)	(07)
NH4SCN	S* (element)	0.05	~0.005	Acetone	N 21 days	Preparation of SCN ⁻ irreversible: CN ⁻ +	(26)
	C1#9-					$\mathbf{S} \rightarrow \mathbf{SCN}^{-}$	
(SCN)2	KS*CN	0.1	0.1	Singhtly alkaline CCI4-acetone CCI ametic mitit	N 2 days (100°) C, minutes	N 23 days (pH 13), (8)	(230) (75)
				CON-REGUE REIG			

Group VI

ISOTOPIC TRACERS IN INORGANIC CHEMISTRY

	References		(75)	(66)	(101, 401)	(351)	(460, 461)		(14, 460, 461)	(147, 146)	(163, 158)		(158)	(226)	(224)	(224)	(191)	(162, 161) (460, 461)	(363)	(65)	(460, 461)	(395, 148)	(144)	(147, 146)										
	Remarks		Large induced exchange	Slicht 15 hr (980°) with mater	THE TALL IN THE VERY AND A MANNE	Probably homogeneous in liquid phase; $E_{\text{set}} \sim 22.0$; rate $\gg 80_{\circ}$. S0 ₃ rase schanne	Suggested $S_2O_{3^{2-}} \xrightarrow{\sim} S + SO_{3^{2-}}; E \sim 15$ (14)		K ; $k = 2.3 \times 10^{6e^{-14.500}/R}$ [S20.3 ²⁻][S0.3 ²⁻] Slight chornes in rate or <i>R</i> from a H <i>E</i> -14	(N 44 hr.; pH 13)	K; pH independent rate 7-10; homogeneous;	enhanced by bl- and trivalent cations at constant u	Supports the reaction: $0_{a}SS = SS0_{a^{2^{-}}} + SS0_{a^{2^{-}}} = 0$		C 10-20 sec. (pH 1, 7)		Control on Jone 10 Land	α sound of def. $B \sim 10$ kcm.	K; data for other organic thiosulfates in- cluded				$S_2O_{6}^{2-}$ \rightleftharpoons SO_{4}^{2-} + SO ₄ not important in	persultate oxidation										
inued	Exchange Rate	uded	Slow	N 26 hr. N 17 hr (900°)	slight 24 hr. (335°)	~7.5 hr. (211°)	N room tempera-	(100°) 24 nr.	10 min. (89°)	N 75 min.	100 min. (50°)		Rapid	N 5 days	N 90 sec.	N 96 hr.	No exchange	N 35 hr. (100°)	30–150 min.	N 26 hr. (25°)	N 36 hr. (100°)	N 7 days (room temperature)	N 12 hr. (34°)	N 44 hr.										
TABLE 3-Cont	ıg Species Exchange Conditions	Group VI-Concl	CCI4-acctic acid, acctic anhydride				1 NaOH		pH 5.0	pH 6	рП 7-10		n = 3, 4, 5, 6		1 N NaOH	$pH \sim 7$			p11 7		Alkaline solution	pH 1, 7, and 10	Water or concen-	trated acette acid Neutral or weakly	BCIG									
L													0.2	0.015	0.1		0.15	0.002	0.005	0.002		0.1 N HCl or	arkan 0.002-0.02			0.001	7.7 × 10 ⁻⁴							
																Excess 97.2% II ₂ SO,			0.06	0.015	0.1		0.15	0.002	0.006	0.007			0.005-0.02	_		0.001	1.5×10^{-3}	
													KS*CN	S [*] 0, ²⁻ S*0.	2	SO_2	HS*		S*0,2-	S204-	S ₃ O ₆ ²⁻		8"062-	HOCH ₂ SO ₂ Na	S2042-	S2067	3206 ⁴	S*04	00CCH2SS0,2-	S ₃ O ₆ ²⁻	24	S2082-	S2082-	8,06*-
	Exchangi		(SCN) ²	SCN-		H ₂ S*0,	S2O32-		8 ₂ 03 ²⁻	S203-	S²O₃⁺−		S203+	S*SO*	S*032-	HS*0 ¹⁻		80s ²	S*0₅≠	804 ^{*-}	-*10•S	S*042	8*0,*-	S*042-										

778

D. R. STRANKS AND R. G. WILKINS
H2SO4 SO2Cl2	H20* H2S*O3	3-15 f	16-49 f		3 min. to 3 yr.	K; activation energy depends on [H ₂ SO ₄] Partial exchange during hydrolysis of SO ₄ Cls- not consistent with any of several	(498) (227)
H ₂ Se*0,	H2SeO4	0.1	1.4		N 2 days (100°)	suggested mechanisms N 14 days (88°) in presence of H_2O_3 , indicat- ing that oxidation of H_2SeO_3 by H_2O_3 does	(248)
SeOCl ₂ SeBr [*] Cr ₂ 0,2- TeI ₆ 2-	CI* Br [*] Cr*(III) I*	Fqual concer	ntrations	${ m CS_2}$ Neutral or pII ~ 3	C 55 min. (18°) C 1 hr. (45°) N 2 hr. C 5 min.	not involve HaSeO1-HaSeO4 couple Not affected by I- (cf. arsenite-arsenate)	(298) (386) (341) (126)
				Group VII		name waarde de ferste de lander en bestellen de ferste andere en de service en de service en de service de land	
F2	*4H	0.003-0.02	0.001-0.03	Gas	50 min. (194°)	K; heterogeneous by metal fluoride metal	(3, 130, 399)
CIF.	F.2	0.0004-0.016	0.008-0.036	Gas	19 min. to 4 hr. (194°)	coaturg; N room tempcrature (130) K; part heterogeneous (metal fluoride sur- face); homogeneous due to dissociation	(2, 44)
${ m BrF}_6^*$	$\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{z}}$	0.0005-0.005	0.006-0.035	Gas	30 min. to 2.5 hr.	CiFi₁ — CiFi + Fi K; mainly heterogeneous via BrFic-F2 com-	(2, 44)
\mathbf{IF}_7^*	Fr2	0.001-0.02	0.003-0.03	Gas	(193) 30-60 min. (194°)	K; part heterogeneous (metal fluoride sur-	(2, 44)
CIF ₃ BrF ₃	HF*			Liquid or gas	C 10 min. C 10 min.	face); homogeneous $\Pi^{r}_{1} \longrightarrow \Pi^{r}_{6} + \Gamma_{2}$ All HF-fluorohalide exchanges consistent	
BrF. IF.	HF*			Liquid or gas Liquid	C 10 min. C 10 min.	HIF + BrF ₃ \implies BrF ₂ ⁺ + HR ₂ ⁻ Probably not heterogeneous in gas-phase	(300)
IF, CIF	HF* BrF3			Gas Liquid or gas	C 10 min. C 10 min.	exchanges	
ð	HCI	0.0015	0.0085	Gus	16 hr. (fluorocar- bon surface)	Faster with pyrex surface and adsorbed water (503); $P(t_3 = 40 \text{ min.})$ Probably through $Cl_3^* \rightleftharpoons Cl^* + Cl$	(266, 130)
CI,	CI+-	<0.01	0.15	0.5 H ₂ SO ₄ + 0.06 acetanilide	$C < 10^{-3}$ sec.	$Cl^* + IICl \rightarrow IICl^* + Cl$ Competition of Cl_2-Cl^- exchange with fast elloringtion of acetanidie (known rate);	(310, 211, 452)
5 5 5 5	CI-0; CI-0; CI-0; CI-0;	0.03 0.1 0.015-0.025 0.015-0.025	0.04 0.04 0.02 0.75-1.0	0.06 HCl 0.05 HClO4 0.03 HClO4 0.03 HOCl; pH 6.2 2.0-4.5 H ₂ SO4	N 66 min. N 60 min. Slight, 67 min. N 90 min.	productly via $C(t + C) + C(t)$ Also N 55 min. (pH 7) Accompanying ClO ₂ \rightarrow ClO ₃ reaction N 60 min. (93°, sealed tube, decomposition); ef. reference 302, which gives $l_{4} = 90$ min.	(132) (132) (132) (132) (447)

ISOTOPIC TRACERS IN INORGANIC CHEMISTRY

	References		3, 60) 1, 60)	(2) (1)			(2)	(2)	(2)	(11	H)	30, 213, 62, 803, 301)	M, 133, 167,	(2) (2)	7, 302, 380) 30)	(1))1) 0, 272, 133, 31)	(10)	(2)	(1)
	Remarks			Also ~6 sec. (0.5 HClO ₄) (1; 2H ⁺ + ClO ₂ ⁻ + Cl [*] O ₃ ⁻ \rightarrow H ₂ O + Cl [*] O ₂ ; (4;	much less than acid disproportionation of $HC10_2 \rightarrow \text{inactive } C10_2^{-1} + C10_3^{-1}$	slow indicated by exchange (132)	Therefore 2ClO ₂ + H ₂ O \rightleftharpoons 2H ⁺ + ClO ₂ ⁻ + (i) ClO ₂ ⁻ , not math for ClO ₂ ⁻ ClO ₂ ⁻ areheneon	Probably via Cl_{2}^{*} , ClO_{2}^{-} or $HOCl^{*}$, ClO_{2}^{-} (4)		N 1 hr. (99°); N 19.5 hr. at pH 1 or 13 [2]	(2)	SiO ₂ wool increases rate $(t_1 \sim 0.06 \text{ sec.})$; het- (2) erogeneous, σ' . 130; non-P; not radiation : induced; irreproducibility precludes ki- netics	(20	Disagrees with reference 62 (who found slow (4) exchance)	K (4.	K; $E = 14.2$ (4)	Also fast in dry pentane (3) (2)	Disagrees with reference 62	$k \simeq 8 \times 10^{10}$ ml. mole ⁻¹ see. ⁻¹ ; $E = 2-3$ kcal. (3) indirectly from iodine/ <i>trans</i> -diiodocthylene	exchange Exchange independent of complex organic (29 anion
luded	Exchange Rate	uded	N 60 min. (510°) N 60 min. (510°)	~6 sec. No activity in	evolved ClO ₂ after 20% chlo-	rite decomposi- tion (15 min.)	N 43 min.	<5% 45 min.	N 43 min.	N 2 yr.	C 1 day	0.14 0.75 sec. C 2 min. (CCI4, 454)	C 1 min.	C 1 min. (-30°)	35 hr. N 8 davs (100°)		Fast C 1 min.	C 1 min. (-30°)		C in time of mixing
TABLE 3-Conclu	ions Group VII-Con	Group VII-Concl	Solids	$pH \sim 5$ 0.73 H ₂ SO ₄			pH \sim 7 or \sim 1	0.1 OH- (0.017 CI-	present) 0.05 HClO ₄ (0.05	CJU3 present)	4.5 IICIO4 ⁻	Gas	•	Ethanol, acctone, or giverol	1.65 JICIO4		Gas	Ethanol, acctone, or elvcerol		Pyridine
	xchange Condition			5 × 10 ⁻³ 0.14			0.05	0.017	0.05	0.056	Excess	total pressure	0.8	0.15-2.0	0.082	Excess		0.15-2.0		2×10^{-2}
	ы Ы			10-4 0.04			0.04	0.05	0.04	0.056	1.45	Equal pressures; 0.5-2.0 mm.	1.5	0.15-2.0	0.0024	0.02 - 0.80		0.15-2.0		10- 1-10-7
	ing Species		CI03- CI04-	CI*03-			Cl03-	0C]*-	C104-	CI04-	H_2O^*	HB	Br-	Brorg.	BrO _z - BrO _z -	0,11	+II -+I	lorg.	I atoms	I (pyridine) ⁺
	Exchang		1 1 1 1 1 1	CI02- CI02-			C1*02	CI02 ⁻	C1*02	C1*03 ⁻	ClO4-	Br *	Bra	${ m Br}_{ m aq}^{*-}$	Вл * Вг-	BrO ₃ *	I2 I2	J*.	I.	L2*

D. R. STRANKS AND R. G. WILKINS

A North Manual Contract of the Owner of the							
КІ , 8					C 15 sec.	Polyiodide solution formed by shaking KI	(375)
						solid with II ₂ (aq)	
- - -	10,-	0.005	0.1	Neutral	N 67 days (50°)		(342, 380)
1	IO3 ⁻	~0.1	0.14	Scaled tubes (100– 300°)	100 min. (250°)	K; $E = 32$	(490)
I,	I0 ²⁻	0.22-1.0	0.001-0.002	0.001-0.002 IIIO2	12 days	K; 0.2 HClO ₄ ; $l_4 \sim 50 \text{ days}$	(342, 111, 250)
I:	-104-			0.5 IINO1	Slow	Rate decreases with decreasing acid; com- parable to 10^{3-1} I couple	(11)
I*O3-	I04 ⁻	0.030	0.030	N HNO2	100-200 days (98°)		(119, 118)
1	-10-				C min.		(231)
ICN	-+-			Water, water-	C min. (0 [°])		(499)
				dioxane			
ICN	C*N-			Acetone, alcohol	C min. (-80°)		
ICN	Iz			Water, water-	C min. (30°)		(466)
				dioxane			
				Heptane	C min. (0°)		(499)
ICI	1_2^{\bullet}			0.4 N HCl	C 5 min. (18°)		(202)
MnO4~	Mn*2+	0.002 - 0.016	0.007 - 0.001	1.5-3.0 M IICIO,	20 hr.	K; $R = k[H^{i}]^{1.0^{-1.6}}[Mn^{2+}]^{1.0^{-1.6}}[MnO_{4^{-}}]^{0.0^{-0.6}};$	(4)
	_					inhibited by MnO ₂ which precipitates	
						under these conditions much later than as	
						given in reference 382	
MnO.	Mn ^{*2+}				N 15 min.	Precludes $3Mn^{2+} + 2MnO_{4^{-}} \rightarrow 5Mn(IV);$	(382)
						rapid; MnO ₂ precipitated completely dur- ing this time,	
MnO_4^-	Mn*2+	0.0009 - 0.0013	0.0003 - 0.0006	1.0-2.0 HNO ₃	8-16 hr.	K; different separation from that given in	(214)
						reference 4; some agreement with rate	
						given in reference 4; color change during	
						exchange	

ISOTOPIC TRACERS IN INORGANIC CHEMISTRY

malities or molarities for reactants in solution or millimeters of mercury pressure for gaseous reactants) of the exchanging species listed in columns 1 and 2, respectively. Column 5 refers to any other important condition(s) employed in the experiment. Unless indicated in column 5, all experiments were performed in water.

Exchange rate: The times listed in column 6 denote the exchange half-times. The letter N preceding a listed time signifies that ≤ 5 per cent exchange occurred at the highest concentrations and temperature conditions. The letter C preceding a listed time indicates that ≥ 95 per cent exchange occurred (usually within the separation time) at the lowest concentrations and temperature conditions. When no quantitative information is available, the rate is denoted simply by "fast" or "slow". All temperatures refer to $20 - 30^{\circ}$ C., or room temperature, unless otherwise specified.

Remarks: Included in this column is an indication that a kinetic study was performed (K), that an activation energy for a simple mechanism was obtained (E = x kcal./mole), or that the exchange was photosensitive (P).

References: When more than one reference is given, then the stated conditions of the exchange refer to the first reference cited, and unless otherwise stated the results of the other studies confirm the general conclusions of the first.

VI. Rates and Mechanisms of Exchange of Complexes of the Transitional Elements

The coördination complexes of the transitional elements represent compounds in which the following factors, all of which influence the lability of molecules, can be varied at will: the oxidation state of the central atom in otherwise identical molecules, the nuclear charge of the central metal atom in a series of analogous molecules, the stereochemical configuration and bond hybridization in complexes of the same element, and the number and electronegativity of groups coördinated to a metal atom.

If a series of compounds react by identical mechanisms with a common reagent, then a measure of the bond labilities will be reflected in the relative values for the respective rate constants. Such an assumption is not without objections, however, since the final equilibrium states for the various reaction systems will probably differ and the more significant quantity for comparison purposes is the extent to which the equilibrium states are approached in a given time or the "degree of attainment" of the reactions, as originally discussed by De Donder (135). Thus a "labile" molecule may undergo reaction with a low rate constant because of an unfavorable equilibrium position for that reaction. Taube (445) has discussed this point in an earlier review.

The measurement of the rate of isotopic exchange of a ligand bound in a coördination complex (and somewhat less favorably the corresponding rate for the central metal atom) with its corresponding "free" entity in solution is not subject to this complicating factor. Since the heat of reaction for an isotopic exchange is essentially zero, the free-energy change for the process, which will always be negative, is derived directly from the entropy of isotopic mixing. The equilibrium state for an isotopic exchange is known to be always that corresponding to random distribution of the labelling isotope between the exchanging reactants (with perhaps slight allowance for isotope effects) and failure to observe exchange is, for ligands at least, a direct indication of inert chemical bonds.

The processes of dissociation and solvolysis detectable by nontracer techniques provide one type of reaction path by which isotopic exchange can occur. The other important reaction path is that involving direct bimolecular collision and replacement of (say) a ligand in a coördination complex by a labelled free ligand in solution. Such a process is detectable only by the use of isotopic tracers ("direct exchange path"); its rate and its contribution to the overall exchange rate are of the greatest significance in estimating labilities.

It has been possible to classify coördination compounds as either "ionic" or "covalent" depending on the state of electron pairing in the molecules as shown by their measured magnetic moments (369). While it is often the case that "ionic" compounds undergo rapid exchange reactions, examples will be presented later of "ionic" complexes which exhibit relatively slow rates of exchange. Conversely, several "covalent" complexes undergo fairly rapid exchange reactions. Other considerations then besides the nature of the bonding are involved. Increasing acceptance is now being given to the classification (85, 445) of bonds as either "outer orbital" (e.g., $4S4P^{3}4D^{2}$) in which, owing to the use of d orbitals of higher principal quantum number, the number of unpaired electrons in the compound is that in the free ion of the central metal atom, or "inner orbital" (e.g., $3D^24S4P^3$), in which maximum electron pairing normally occurs with the use of lower quantum number d orbitals. A classification of inner-orbital hexacovalent complexes into "labile" and "inert" classes by virtue of available d orbitals (445) is extremely effective and for such complexes a prediction of exchange rates is simple. However, it must be remembered that while the magnetic moment indicates the ground state of the coördination complex it cannot indicate the importance of any higher-energy states in a molecule. In complexes formed by the coördination of rather electronegative ligands, an outer-orbital paramagnetic state may be only slightly above the diamagnetic state in energy (445). Accordingly, whilst a complex may exhibit a magnetic moment characteristic of "innerorbital" bonding, it may undergo isotopic exchange according to the properties of the more polar, higher-energy state (see page 796). Such polarization effects are well known in organic chemistry and are now appearing in inorganic chemistry as more quantitative exchange and other studies on coördination complexes are performed.

A. RELATIVE ADVANTAGES OF METAL AND LIGAND EXCHANGE

In general, the rate of exchange of the metal atom will be complicated by the interaction of the metal M with the complex MX_n to form all possible intermediate species, in concentrations determined by their relevant stability constants. Such interactions frequently lead to practical difficulties in the separation of the exchanging species and may be one of the basic causes of the phenomenon

of induced exchange. Furthermore, precipitation commonly occurs on addition of a metal ion to a metal-complex anion, as Long (308) has observed for example in the exchange of Ni^{*2+} with Ni(CN)₄²⁻. All that one can say about such studies is that exchange is fast (or slow) compared with the rate of precipitation of that salt, which often occurs in a fraction of a second. Metal-complex interaction can also cause difficulties in the interpretation of exchange data. Wolfgang and Dodson (487) studied the exchange of Hg_{aq}^{2+} with HgCN⁺ and Hg(CN)₂ by allowing the equilibrium amounts of the three inactive species to form and then injecting a highly active Hg^{*2+} solution of extremely low concentration. By separating the Hg^{2+} ion as the iodate, it was shown that the slow exchange observed was that between Hg^{2+} and $HgCN^+$ at low concentrations of mercuric cyanide. At high concentration of mercuric cyanide, the disproportionation reaction:

$\mathrm{Hg^{2+}} + \mathrm{Hg(CN)_2} \rightleftharpoons \mathrm{HgCN^{+}} + \mathrm{HgCN^{+}}$

provided an additional path for isotopic exchange and suitable allowance was necessary. These difficulties do not arise when, owing to their relatively low stability, the formation of intermediate complexes is unimportant and the parent complex can exist with significant concentrations of the free metal ion: e.g., $Fe(phen)_{3^{2+}}$ (407) and Ni(tetrameen)₂²⁺ (476).² A further exception arises when the central atom is coördinated with a single polydentate chelate: e.g., $Fe(EDTA)^{-}$ (268) or chlorophyll (407). However, it will be appreciated that if the aim of a research is to measure the lability of the M—X bond in a complex MX_n , then the probability that isotopic exchange will be observed for the central atom M is considerably less than the corresponding probability of ligand exchange, requiring as it does the rupture of only one or two M-X bonds for mono- and bidentate ligands. It has been pointed out (72) that for some complexes of Fe(III), Fe(III), and Ni(II) the rates of metal and ligand exchange are approximately equal. In such cases the first M-X bond rupture is probably a slow bimolecular aquation which is followed by rapid heterolysis. However, this concept is admitted (72) to be of limited applicability. Moreover Taube (445)has described a kinetic scheme for which it is possible for ligand exchange to be measurable whilst the metal exchange would be immeasurably slow. The study of metal exchange in such an instance would give a false estimate of the lability of the complex. On the other hand, rapid exchange of a metal ion with its corresponding entity bound in a complex is a definite indication of high lability within the complex.

From the foregoing discussion it would appear that the study of ligand exchange in coördination complexes has definite advantages over the corresponding study of metal exchange. Nevertheless some difficulties are encountered when ligand-exchange studies are performed on intermediate species of a thermodynamic series. Whilst Hg^{*2+} exchanges very slowly with mercuric cyanide, C^*N^- ion is observed to exchange very rapidly (9). This is due to the formation

² phen = 1,10-phenanthroline; tetrameen = 2,3-dimethyl-2,3-diaminobutane; EDTA = ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid.

of $Hg(CN)_{\delta}^{-}$ and $Hg(CN)_{4}^{2-}$, containing equivalent cyanides, from which cyanide is "torn" by the separation procedure (addition of silver ion). Thus the "exchange rate" observed is in reality the rate of formation of $Hg(CN)_{\delta}^{-}$. Therefore ligand exchanges should be conducted on the last thermodynamic member of a series, e.g., MA_{δ}^{n+} , to avoid this complication. Metal-ion exchanges can be carried out on the first member, e.g., MA^{n+} , which can usually exist with an excess of M^{n+} with the formation of negligible amounts of higher complexes. If a suitable separation method is available, these experiments provide a convenient means of measuring the lability of MA^{n+} . Another practical difficulty arises in the actual preparation of suitably labelled ligands, but with increasing availability of labelled starting materials, these difficulties are steadily disappearing.

B. COMPLEXES OF COÖRDINATION NUMBER FOUR

1. Exchange of the central atom

Duffield and Calvin (142) performed one of the earliest (kinetic) isotopeexchange studies on the exchange of a series of copper chelate compounds (mostly salicylaldehyde derivatives) with copper acetate in pyridine solution. The general reaction may be represented as:

$Cu(II)Ke_2 + Cu^*(II) \rightleftharpoons Cu^*(II)Ke_2 + Cu(II)$

where Ke₂ represents either two bidentate chelates or one quadridentate chelate. Whilst copper salicylaldehyde itself exhibited complete exchange in 15 sec. (the time of separation), other substituted salicylaldehyde-chelate complexes exhibited longer half-times which, in the case of bis-(salicylaldehyde-ethylenediimine)copper was several hours at room temperatures. Since the exchange half-time of the latter complex was proportional to the reciprocal of the reactant concentration (both reactants being of equal concentration), the exchange rate could be described by a second-order rate law (Section II,B). Mechanisms based on a dimer of the complex (for which $t_i \propto c^{-\frac{1}{2}}$) or proceeding via $S_{>1}$ ionization and recombination (for which t_i is independent of c) could therefore be rejected. The mechanism suggested was one involving direct bimolecular collision, with the complexed copper atom being directly replaced by the "free" copper atom. This process would require considerable energy of activation to effect simultaneous rupture of four metal-ligand bonds. It would seem highly likely that the copper chelate complex becomes substantially modified on solution in pyridine such that a complex with one or two coördinated pyridine ligands is formed. The resultant complex might be considerably more labile to substitution. If such a process were operative, the observed lability would be that of the intermediate solvated complex rather than that of the parent complex. A further conclusion drawn from this work was that the higher the polarographic reduction potential of the chelated complex (and hence the higher the stability of the complex), the slower the rate of isotopic exchange. It now appears that any general relation between exchange rate and thermodynamic stability is not to be expected, since the factor which principally determines exchange rates is the

activation energy required to rupture the appropriate metal-ligand bonds, which in turn is largely determined by the electronic structure of the chelated metal atom. In the present series of copper complexes derived from very similar chelating agents, the orders of increasing activation energies for substitution and increasing thermodynamic stabilities are parallel. Such a circumstance cannot be generally expected.

West (468) has considered the relation between bond type (as indicated by magnetic moment measurements) and the exchange rate of cobalt(II) complexes of substituted salicylaldehyde bidentates with cobalt acetate in water and pyridine solutions. Most of these complexes exhibit magnetic moments of about 4.5 Bohr magnetons, indicating three unpaired electrons in the Co(II) orbitals; the corresponding "outer-orbital" bonds would be expected to be labile to isotopic exchange. This was indeed observed, exchange being complete within the separation time of 1 min. at 20° C. On the other hand, cobaltous phthalocyanine does not exchange with cobaltous acetate in pyridine over many hours at 30°C. This result is also consistent with the electronic state of the central cobalt atom in the phthalocyanine complex, which possesses a bond moment corresponding to dsp^2 , inner-orbital bonding. That this result is not due to the solvent is shown by the equally negligible exchange with cobaltous sulfate of the water-soluble ammonium cobaltous phthalocyaninetetrasulfonate. The Co(II) complex derived from the quadridentate chelate N, N'-disalicylidene-ethylenediamine exchanges "instantaneously" with cobaltous acetate in pyridine at 30°C. and with reactant concentrations of $10^{-2}M$ in the absence of oxygen (470). Reducing the reactant concentrations to $10^{-4}M$ and the temperature to 15° C. enabled exchange half-times of the order of 20 min. to be measured. The salicylideneethylenediamine cobalt(II) complex readily absorbs oxygen to form oxygenated species (215a) and the exchange half-time thereby increases from 20 min. to some 3 hr.

This example illustrates the point that many of the earlier exchange studies, conducted at a single reactant concentration and temperature and reported to exhibit "instantaneous" exchange, could be profitably repeated under more suitable conditions of lower concentrations and temperature and earlier separation times. Should kinetic studies be thereby possible, much more quantitative information will be forthcoming as compared to the large amount of purely qualitative observations which has accumulated at present. Indeed, subsequent discussions will eite several kinetic studies of exchange systems exhibiting half-times of a minute or less. The supreme example is the elegant study by Sheppard and Wahl (417) of the MnO_4^{-}/MnO_4^{2-} electron exchange, whereby half-times of 3–12 sec. were reproducibly measured.

Like the copper(II) bidentate complexes, N, N'-disalicylidene-o-phenylenediamine cobalt(II) exhibits a second-order rate law for exchange with cobaltous acetate. West (470) suggests an analogous bimolecular collision mechanism between the complex and free cobalt, but the observed activation energy of 17 kcal./mole (23 kcal. for the copper complex) seems rather low for such a mechanism involving a complex of considerable stability. Consideration should again be given to possible modification of the complex by coördination of solvent pyridine molecules.

Studies of the exchange of nickel with tetracoordinated nickel complexes (212, 263) reveal that significant modification of the bonding in such complexes can occur in certain solvents (e.g., methyl cellosolve, pyridine). Whilst certain solid diamagnetic nickel complexes exchange extremely slowly with nickel chloride in methyl cellosolve at room temperature, other diamagnetic solid complexes which dissolve in methyl cellosolve or pyridine with obvious modification of the dsp^2 bonding to sp^3d^2 by solvent coördination, exchange readily. Basolo and Matoush (38) have isolated crystalline compounds of hexacoördinated Ni(II) containing two molecules of solvent pyridine. Thus while bis-(N-methylsalicylaldimine)nickel forms such a paramagnetic compound and readily exchanges with nickel chloride in pyridine, bis-(salicylaldehyde-ethylenediimine)nickel remains tetracoördinated in pyridine and does not exchange. The inertness of this latter complex to isotopic exchange might appear puzzling when it is recalled that copper acetate in heated pyridine will displace nickel from bis-(salicylaldehyde-ethylenediimine)nickel (377). Apart from the fact that the conditions are somewhat more drastic than in the case of the exchange studies, this net replacement reaction must involve a large free-energy decrease in passing from a less stable to a very stable state; the much smaller free-energy change for the exchange reaction arises only from the entropy of isotopic mixing.

It has been pointed out (28, 470) that whereas the order of increasing thermodynamic stability of chelated complexes for the first transition series is Co < Ni < Cu > Zn, with zinc complexes somewhat less stable than cobalt complexes, this order is not maintained for studies of the rate of isotopic exchange (see table 4). The apparently anomalous position of nickel was then attributed to considerable solvation of nickel chloride in pyridine. However, the relative stabilities (and labilities) of the planar, tetrahedral, and octahedral configurations of the complex, when solvation is possible, are probably additional factors determining such an order. It should be reiterated that there is no *a priori* reason for a correlation between thermodynamic stability and exchange lability.

Long (308) has performed an interesting study of the exchange of nickel between pairs of nickel complexes. The exchanges $Ni^*(NH_3)_x^{2+}-Ni(CN)_4^{2-}$ and $Ni^*(en)_3^{2+}-Ni(CN)_4^{2-}$ exhibit half-times of less than 1 min. at 23°C., whereas the systems $Ni^*(C_2O_4)_2^{2-}-Ni(CN)_4^{2-}$ and $Ni^*(tartrate)^--Ni(CN)_4^{2-}$ exhibit half-times of 3 hr. and 46 hr., respectively. Increase of ionic strength reduces the exchange rate of the former two systems but increases the rate of the latter systems. This presumably indicates rate-determining steps involving oppositely

Exchange r	ates of metal co	omplexes of bis-sai	licylaldehyde-ethyl	enediimine
Metal	Cu	Ni	Co	Zn
Concentration (M)	0.015	0.01	0.017	0.01
Exchange temperature	25° C.	Room	30°C.	25°C.
Exchange rate	$t_{\frac{1}{2}} = 2.1$ hr.	None after 48 hr.	Complete in 6 min.	Complete in 0.5 min.
Reference	(142)	(212)	(470)	(28)

TABLE 4

charged ions and like-charged ions in the two types of systems. Long points out that the exchange rate between oppositely charged complex ions is fast but is slow for like-charged ions. This generalization is of course only applicable to a series of complexes involving a metal atom in the same electronic state in each complex.

That the electronic structure of the central metal atom is not always the predominating factor determining exchange rates is shown by the immeasurably slow exchange of the central atom with chlorophyll (39, 406), cupric pheophytin (407), and zinc phthalocyanine (28). From a consideration of their available bonding orbitals and the behavior of other complexes of the same metals, all these compounds would be expected to be extremely labile, as found for instance with the rapid exchange of magnesium ion and zinc ion with the 8-hydroxyquinolate complexes (28, 407). Undoubtedly the rupture of the four metal-nitrogen bonds necessary for exchange to proceed is made difficult by the fused-ring structure of these complexes. Indeed the only exception to the general rule of inertness of these "fused-ring" compounds appears to be the disodium tetraphenylporphyrin complex, which rapidly exchanges with sodium iodide in pyridine (35). Owing to their large size, the sodium atoms lie well outside the plane of the porphyrin ring, thereby rendering them more susceptible to substitution and exchange reactions.

An examination of the work performed so far on the exchangeability of the central atom in tetracoördinated complexes reveals that a large fraction of these studies has not provided the chemist with entirely new data. It has however confirmed already known ideas regarding the structure and lability of these complexes and the importance of solvolytic equilibria in determining their apparent lability.

2. Exchange of ligands

Several kinetic studies of ligand exchange have been reported, especially for the square complexes of Pt(II) and Au(III), and some indications have now emerged of the relative importance of the various mechanisms by which these exchanges can proceed. Therefore the results obtained from these studies appear to have much more relevance to the quantitative estimation of bond labilities than those studies concerned with the exchange of the central atom.

Grinberg and Nikolskaya (202) have studied the exchange rates of a series of Pt(II) complexes:

$$(PtX_4)^{2-} + X^{*-} \rightleftharpoons (PtX_4^*)^{2-} + X^{--}$$

where X is CN, I, Br, or Cl. The order of increasing exchange rate (i.e., decreasing half-time) appeared to be opposite to the order of increasing thermodynamic stability of the complex anions (202) (see table 5). However, it is not known if these four exchange systems even proceed by the same mechanism and what relative contribution aquation makes to the observed exchange rate in each case. Therefore these figures, as such, cannot be taken as a direct quantitative measure of the labilities of the respective metal-ligand bonds.

A more detailed kinetic study (203) of the (PtBr₄)²⁻-Br^{*-} system revealed

that the rate is approximately first order in complex concentration but independent of the bromide-ion concentration. This observation is consistent with either of two mechanisms in aqueous solution:

(a) Rate-determining $S_N 1$ dissociation:

$$(PtBr_4)^{2-} \xrightarrow[fast]{fast} (PtBr_3)^{-} + Br^{-}$$

 $(PtBr_3)^{-} + Br^{*-} \xrightarrow[fast]{fast} (PtBr_3Br^{*})^{2-}$

(b) Rate-determining $S_N 2$ aquation followed by rapid "anation" of the intermediate aquo complex:

$$(PtBr_4)^{2-} + H_2O \xrightarrow{\text{slow}} (PtBr_3H_2O)^{-} + Br^{-}$$
$$(PtBr_3H_2O)^{-} + Br^{*-} \xrightarrow{\text{fast}} (PtBr_3Br^{*})^{2-} + H_2O$$

However, when the K_2PtBr_4 was allowed to "age" in aqueous solution before being mixed with the labelled potassium bromide solution, the exchange rate increased with the "age" of the solution. This "aging" represents the gradual establishment of the equilibrium concentration of the intermediate aquo complex; mechanism (b) is therefore favored. The observed exchange rate of $PtBr_4^$ with bromide ion thus represents the rate of aquation of the former ion and not, as might have been inferred in the absence of a kinetic study, the rate of direct Br^- -ligand exchange. Indeed, as will transpire in subsequent discussions, there are very few unambiguous and authentic examples of direct ligand exchange of transition metal complexes in aqueous solution. This is due to the relatively high nucleophilic character, i.e., complexing power, of the solvent water molecules. Kinetic exchange studies of aqueous systems normally reveal either partial, or sometimes complete, aquation superimposed on the rate of any direct ligand exchange. The rate constant for aquation (and the observed overall exchange rate) will however give some indication of the magnitude of the bond lability.

An example of these considerations is provided by the very thorough study of the $PtCl_{4^{2}}-Cl^{*-}$ exchange system performed by Grantham, Elleman, and Martin (195). All the experiments to be described were performed in the dark

	TAB:	LE	5	
Exchange	rates	of	PtX42-	ions

X-	Concentration of Complex	t z
	M	minutes
CN	0.037	1
I	0.103	5
Br ⁻	0.05	8
Cl	0.072	280

because of the photosensitivity of this exchange system; such effects are discussed in Section VI,F. The $PtCl_4^{2-}$ ion undergoes reversible aquation:

$$PtCl_4^2 - + H_2O \xrightarrow{k_1} PtCl_3H_2O + Cl$$

the rate term for the forward reaction being $k_1[\text{PtCl}_{4^{2-1}}]$ and that for the reverse being $k_2[PtCl_3H_2O^-][Cl^-]$. The $PtCl_3H_2O^-$ ion, as a weak acid, can be readily titrated with sodium hydroxide, and from a potentiometric titration curve the equilibrium constant for aquation was determined to be 0.018 mole/l. at 25° C. The reversible aquation of the $PtCl_4^{2-}$ ion, the rate of which could be readily measured, provides one possible path for the exchange of free chloride ion. The authors found that the rate of chloride exchange in freshly prepared $K_{2}PtCl_{4}$ solutions of high chloride content (i.e., with $PtCl_{3}H_{2}O^{-}$ initially absent) could be accounted for (to within 10 per cent) by the assumption that aquation was the sole mechanism for exchange; e.g., for reactant concentrations of 0.017 (complex) and 0.27 (chloride) at 25° C, the observed exchange half-time was 15.3 hr., whilst that calculated from the previously measured rate of aquation was 16.8 hr. Hence the direct exchange of chlorine-ligands proceeds, at the most, at 10 per cent of the rate of exchange via aquation. However, using aged K₂PtCl₄ solutions (i.e., solutions which had been left for at least 20 hr. to attain the equilibrium concentration of up to 60 per cent of $PtCl_3H_2O^-$ before exchange was initiated) the observed chloride exchange rate is significantly greater than that calculated on the assumption that the aquation path is solely responsible for exchange. Under the reaction conditions employed, the rate of formation of the diaguo species $PtCl_2(H_2O)_2$ is too slow to account for this increased exchange rate and thus the direct exchange:

$$PtCl_{3}H_{2}O^{-} + Cl^{*-} \rightleftharpoons PtCl_{3}^{*}H_{2}O^{-} + Cl^{-}$$

must be significant. This exchange process is described by the rate law:

$$R = k' [PtCl_3H_2O^-]$$

In this case it would seem that the mechanism does involve $S_N 1$ dissociation of the complex, since the rate of the alternative $S_N 2$ aquation is known to be slow. The detailed mechanism may then be written:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} \operatorname{PtCl_{3}H_{2}O} & \xrightarrow{\operatorname{slow}} & [\operatorname{PtCl_{2}H_{2}O}] & + & \operatorname{Cl} \\ [\operatorname{PtCl_{2}H_{2}O}] & + & \operatorname{Cl}^{*-} & \xrightarrow{} & \operatorname{PtCl_{2}Cl^{*}H_{2}O} \\ & & & & \\ \end{array}$$

The measured entropy of activation (table 6) is also in accord with this $S_N I$ dissociation process. It is interesting to note that the chloride ion can compete favorably with the solvent water molecule for reaction with the uncharged intermediate $PtCl_2H_2O$. However, with the charged parent $PtCl_2^{2-}$ ion, the coulombic energy barrier is such that the chloride ion does not react at a significant rate as compared to that of the water molecule.

The kinetic data in table 6 have been obtained for this exchange system.

	$PtCl_{4}^{2-}$	Cl ⁻ exchange	
	<i>k</i> 1	k2	k'
25° C	0.14 hr. ⁻¹ 21 -8	7.7 l. mole ⁻¹ hr. ⁻¹ 15 -18	0.16 hr.^{-1} 25 +2

TABLE 6

This exchange study has therefore provided a direct quantitative estimate of the lability of the platinum-chlorine bond in the $PtCl_3H_2O^-$ ion (rate constant of direct exchange, k') but it cannot provide a similar estimate for the PtCl₄²⁻ ion since the rate constant k_1 refers to the process of aquation. The rate of the direct ligand exchange in $PtCl_{4^{2-}}$ could probably be derived from a study in nonaqueous solvents, but this lability is still not necessarily relevant to water, for which most data are required. The rate constants for the primary aquation of $PtCl_{4}^{2-}$ and PtBr₄²⁻ are, respectively, 0.14 and 3.6 hr.⁻¹ at 25°C., but the ratio of these rate constants is not necessarily an estimate of their relative bond labilities. If the hydration equilibrium is more displaced in favor of the aquo ion in the case of $PtBr_{4^{2-}}$ than for $PtCl_{4^{2-}}$ (for which K = 0.018), then the ratio of the rates at which the equilibrium states are approached, i.e., the relative bond labilities, will be less than the ratio 3.6/0.14. If, however, the hydration equilibrium constants for the two complex ions are approximately the same, then it would be correct to state that the platinum-bromine bond in $PtBr_{4}^{2-}$ is 25 times more labile with respect to aquation than the platinum-chlorine bond in PtCl₄²⁻.

Rich and Taube (391) have studied the analogous Au(III) system:

$$AuCl_4^- + Cl^{*-} \rightleftharpoons AuCl_4^{*-} + Cl^-$$

which undergoes quite rapid exchange (t_i less than 5 min. at 0°C.) as compared to the Pt(II) system (t_i about 15 hr. at 25°C.). Moreover under the experimental conditions employed, negligible aquation of AuCl₄⁻ occurs in contrast to PtCl₄²⁻. The rate law for exchange is:

$$R = k_1[\operatorname{AuCl}_4^-] + k_2[\operatorname{AuCl}_4^-][\operatorname{Cl}^-]$$

where $k_1 = 0.20 \text{ min}^{-1}$ and $k_2 = 11.0 \text{ l}$. mole⁻¹ min.⁻¹ at 0°C. The k_2 term is good evidence for the direct participation of Cl⁻ and AuCl₄⁻ in the activated complex and S_N2 chlorine–ligand exchange must be occurring. The detailed mechanism of this process was postulated to involve utilization of the vacant p orbital in the AuCl₄⁻ ion by the incoming chloride ion, the activated AuCl₅²⁻ complex thereby approximating to a trigonal-bypyramid in configuration:



(Such a mechanism is probably applicable to most square coplanar complexes and has also been suggested (9, 313) for the extremely rapid exchange of the —CN ligands in the tetracyanides of Pd(II), Zn(II), Ni(II), and Hg(II).) The mechanism of the process described by the k_1 term is far less certain. The large entropy decrease on activation (-50 e.u.) might suggest a rate-determining S_N2 hydrolysis of the square complex via an octahedral activated complex involving two solvent water molecules. In support of this view, Rich and Taube point out that the observed exchange rate by this path is about four times the rate of hydrolysis, a factor to be expected if the hydrolyzed species AuCl₃OH⁻ completely exchanges the three remaining chlorine ligands before reverting to the parent AuCl₄⁻ ion.

It is noteworthy that although AuCl₄⁻ and PtCl₄²⁻ are isoelectronic, their behavior to isotopic exchange is very different (195). The exchange of the gold compound is about 200 times faster than that of the platinum compound under comparable conditions and occurs by fundamentally different processes. Whilst a direct $S_N 2$ ligand exchange represents a substantial fraction of the total exchange for AuCl₄⁻, this path accounts for only 10 per cent (at the very most) of the total rate of PtCl₄²⁻. Undoubtedly this may be attributed to the higher charge barrier for Cl⁻ exchange with PtCl₄²⁻. The PtCl₃H₂O⁻ ion, of the same formal charge as AuCl₄⁻, also does not undergo direct bimolecular chloride-ion exchange but rather $S_N 1$ dissociation, due possibly to the labilizing influence of the $-OH_2$ ligand. Nevertheless the gold-chlorine bonds in AuCl₄⁻ must be much more labile than the platinum-chlorine bonds in PtCl₃H₂O⁻.

Provided sufficient kinetic investigations are performed, a quantitative evaluation of trans effects (387) may be forthcoming from exchange studies on tetracoördinated complexes. The magnitude of the trans effect appears to be intimately connected with the electronegativity of ligands in the various complexes; for a given central atom, this factor also largely determines the lability of the metal-ligand bonds. The exchange of —Cl ligands is reported (201) to be faster in cis-K₂Pt(NO₂)₂Cl₂ than in K₂PtCl₄, but until the relative contributions of aquation and direct exchange are known for the former complex, further quantitative deduction would seem premature.

C. COMPLEXES OF COÖRDINATION NUMBER SIX

1. Exchange of the central atom

As in the case of tetracoördinated complexes, most studies of the exchange of hexacoördinated central atoms have been concerned with those complexes which have been already classified as "ionic" or "covalent" from magnetic moment measurements. Thus free ferric ion does not exchange with ferricyanide or ferrocyanide ("covalent") but undergoes complete exchange in a few seconds with the ferri-tris-oxalate ion ("ionic") (207, 208). Whilst a series of "ionic" Co(II) tris-phenanthroline and some 5-substituted phenanthroline complexes exhibit rapid exchange with free Co_{aq}^{2+} , bis-tripyridyl-cobalt(II) exhibits a measurable exchange half-time (2.8 hr.) at 15°C. and at 0.005 *M* reactant concentrations (469). West suggested on the basis of these results that the latter compound would have $3d^24s4p^3$ bond hybridization (inner orbital) with the one

unpaired electron promoted to the 5s state. This is to be contrasted with the outer-orbital $4s4p^{3}4d^{2}$ bonding of the former complexes. Williams (479) has pointed out that whereas the dipyridyl and phenanthroline Co(II) complexes exhibit weak absorption between 450 and 600 m μ ($\epsilon_{max} = 10$) and are labile, the tripyridyl complex exhibits strong absorption over the range 400–500 m μ ($\epsilon_{max} > 1000$). This latter complex is relatively inert, like the covalent Fe(II) dipyridyl and phenanthroline complexes (e.g., the slow exchange of Fe(phen)₃²⁺ with Fe²⁺_{aq}) (407, 474), which also display a very strong absorption in this region.

Although ferric-ethylenediaminetetraacetate (FeY⁻, Y = EDTA) is "ionic," the exchange rate with Fe_{aq}^{3+} is relatively slow and Jones and Long (268) were able to study the kinetics of this system. The rate of exchange was markedly pH dependent, and by conducting experiments over narrow pH ranges in which one mechanism predominated, the rate law at 25°C. could be represented as:

$$R = 0.47 \, [\text{FeY}^-][\text{H}^+]^3 + 0.015 \, [\text{FeY}^-][\text{Fe}^{3+}] + 0.14 \, [\text{FeY}^-][\text{FeOH}^{2+}]$$
(20)

although the second rate term may include the first power of the hydrogen-ion concentration. The exchange rate exhibited a small positive salt effect at high acidities (when the first kinetic term predominates) and a small negative salt effect at lower acidities (when the second and third kinetic terms predominate). The three postulated exchange mechanisms are:

- (1) $\operatorname{FeY}^- + 2\operatorname{H}^+ \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{H}_2\operatorname{FeY}^+$ (rapid) $\operatorname{H}_2\operatorname{FeY}^+ + \operatorname{H}^+ \xrightarrow{\operatorname{slow}} \operatorname{Fe}^{3+} + \operatorname{H}_3\operatorname{Y}^-$
- (2) $\operatorname{FeY}^- + \operatorname{Fe}^{*3+} \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{Fe}^*Y^- + \operatorname{Fe}^{3+}$
- (3) $FeY^- + Fe^*OH^{2+} \rightleftharpoons Fe^*Y^- + FeOH^{2+}$

A knowledge of the entropies of activation would probably enable some decision to be made as to the detailed mechanism of processes 2 and 3, but in view of the complexity of the system such a temperature-dependence study would need to be of the highest precision to obtain significant data. The analogous Fe^{*2+-} FeY^{2-} exchange reaction proceeds at a very high rate, which has been correlated with the comparatively high dissociation constant (10⁻¹⁴). A similar kinetic study was therefore precluded, but measurable half-times were reported (309) in exploratory experiments on the $Co^{*2+}-CoY^{2-}$ and $Ni^{*2+}-NiY^{2-}$ systems, with a similar pH dependence in the latter system as for the $Fe^{*3+}-FeY^{-}$ system.

It seems that a priori the exchange reactions of metal ethylenediaminetetraacetate complexes will be complicated, with several paths being available for exchange. This is apparent from the kinetic studies of substitution of CdY^{2-} with Cu^{2+} (1) and of the substitution of PbY^{2-} with Zn^{2+} (63). In the former example four different reaction paths are available to the Cu^{2+} ion by collision with the anions CdY^{2-} , $CdHY^{-}$, HY^{3-} , and H_2Y^{2-} . The bimolecular rate constant is divisible into three terms:

$$k = k_1 + k_2[\mathrm{H}^+] + k_3[\mathrm{H}^+]^2 \tag{21}$$

over the pH range 4 to 5. The Fe*3+-FeY- exchange study was conducted from

pH 1 to 2.5, and it is interesting to note that a third-order dependence on hydrogen-ion concentration arises in these acidities. For the $Cu^{2+}-CdY^{2-}$ reaction a similar dependence could arise at these low pH values, implying reaction with $H_{3}Y^{-}$. The ferric exchange system is unfortunately complicated by the occurrence of hydrolyzed species at low acidities. This complication would not be as serious for the analogous $Ni^{*2+}-NiY^{2-}$ exchange system and a detailed kinetic study would seem well worthwhile.

2. Exchange of monodentate ligands

Kinetic studies of the rate of ligand exchange in hexacoördinated complexes in aqueous solution reveal that water again plays a significant role. In the interpretation of such studies it would be of considerable significance if the rate of water-ligand exchange in these complexes could be evaluated. Not only would such measurements assist in the general understanding of the lability of complex ions but they would serve to compare the kinetic behavior of neutral-ligand exchange systems to that observed with charged ligands in exchange and substitution reactions. Moreover the first step in ligand exchanges is frequently one of aquation and it is desired to ascertain the detailed mechanism of the subsequent "anation" reaction leading to the appearance of a labelled ligand in the complex. This anation reaction is often described by a rate law consistent with either an S_N1 or an S_N2 mechanism. Hunt and Taube (254) have illustrated this problem with reference to the reaction:

$$C_0(NH_3)_5H_2O^{3+} + Cl^- \rightleftharpoons C_0(NH_3)_5Cl^{2+} + H_2O^{3+}$$

which proceeds in the forward sense according to the rate term

$$k[Co(NH_3)_5H_2O^{3+}]$$
 [Cl⁻]

This rate law is compatible with either of two mechanisms:

(a) $S_{N}1$:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} \operatorname{Co}(\mathrm{NH}_3)_5\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}^{3+}\rightleftharpoons&\operatorname{Co}(\mathrm{NH}_3)_5^{3+}\,+\,\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O} & \text{(rapid equilibrium)} \\ \\ & & \operatorname{Co}(\mathrm{NH}_3)_5^{3+}\,+\,\mathrm{Cl}^- \xrightarrow[k_2]{k_2} & \operatorname{Co}(\mathrm{NH}_3)_5\mathrm{Cl}^{2+} \end{array}$$

(b) $S_{N}2$:

$$\operatorname{Co}(\mathrm{NH}_3)_5\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}^{3+}$$
 + $\operatorname{Cl}^- \xrightarrow{k_2} \operatorname{Co}(\mathrm{NH}_3)_5\mathrm{Cl}^{2+}$ + $\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}$

For the $S_N 1$ mechanism the rate of formation of $Co(NH_3)_5Cl^{2+}$ must be less than the rate of the exchange of water with $Co(NH_3)_5H_2O^{3+}$, but for the $S_N 2$ mechanism no such restriction applies. A discrimination between these two possible mechanisms is thus possible, at least in principle, from a measurement of the rate of water-ligand exchange.

The rate of the exchange reaction:

$$Co(NH_3)_5H_2O^{3+} + H_2O^{18} \rightleftharpoons Co(NH_3)_5H_2O^{18}^{3+} + H_2O^{18}$$

exhibits (410) first-order dependence on the concentration of the pentammineaquo ion. In an endeavor to ascertain whether the anation of $Co(NH_3)_5H_2O^{3+}$ by SO_4^{2-} proceeds via an S_N1 or an S_N2 mechanism, Rutenberg and Taube (410) observed that the water exchange half-time increased from 24 to 27.8 hr. on the addition of 0.33 *M* sodium sulfate and 0.50 *M* sodium bisulfate. This would seem compatible with S_N1 dissociation followed by competition of SO_4^{2-} and H_2O for the intermediate $Co(NH_3)_5^{3+}$ ion, thereby leading to a decreased rate of water exchange (i.e., increased half-time). An S_N2 process would tend to exhibit a slight increase in the rate of water exchange on addition of SO_4^{2-} due to the reaction:

$$Co(NH_3)_5H_2O^{3+} + SO_4^{2-} \rightarrow Co(NH_3)_5SO_4^+ + H_2O^{3+}$$

It should be pointed out that these observations merely indicate that the S_N1 mechanism predominates over the S_N2 mechanism; the latter is not completely excluded.

The general technique employed (176, 253, 254) in studying the exchange of hexaaquo cations with solvent water was to mix an aqueous cation solution with water labelled with H_2O^{18} . At suitable times the water was distilled off *in vacuo*, equilibrated with normal carbon dioxide, the latter analyzed, and the extent of exchange calculated. However, since the water coördinated to a cation represented only a small fraction of the total water in the system, experiments were of necessity conducted at high salt concentrations (>0.5 *M*) with high analytical precision in order to follow the exchange accurately. Under these conditions Al_{aq}^{3+} , Fe_{aq}^{3+} , Co_{aq}^{3+} , Ga_{aq}^{3+} , and Th_{aq}^{4+} exchanged completely in the separation time of 3 min. at 25°C. (254), but Cr_{aq}^{3+} exhibited a half-time of about 40 hr. which was independent of acidity (253). A more detailed study by Plane and Taube (378) revealed that with both ClO_4^- and NO_3^- in the presence of perchloric acid, the exchange rate could be expressed as:

$$R = k[\operatorname{Cr}_{aq}^{3+}][\operatorname{anion}] \tag{22}$$

Under the high concentration conditions employed, it is difficult to discriminate between salt effects (due to the effect of ionic atmospheres) and actual chemical effects (involving direct participation of the anion in the activated complex). Plane and Taube favor the latter interpretation and suggest that the anion operates such that a water molecule in the anion hydration sphere is replaced by a water of the cation hydration sphere, the interaction thereby reducing the energy required to remove a water ligand from the cation. However, Mackenzie and Milner (314) found no specific effects for the $Cr_{aq}^{3+}-H_2O^{18}$ exchange in the absence of acid, although the exchange rate does depend upon the ionic strength. Accordingly the anion-exchange mechanism was proposed:

$$Cr(H_2O)_{6^{3+}} + X^{-} \rightleftharpoons Cr(H_2O)_{5}X^{2+} + H_2O$$
$$Cr(H_2O)_{5}X^{2+} + X^{-} \rightleftharpoons Cr(H_2O)_{4}X_{2^{+}} + H_2O$$

which is equivalent to an isomerization reaction (or hydrolysis when $X^- = OH^-$). In solutions containing no acid the direct exchange, with $X^- = OH^-$, was assumed to predominate, but in the presence of acid other specific anions bring about the exchange reaction. The specific effects noted by Plane and Taube were thus attributed to steric factors, since the exchange rate is claimed to decrease with increasing anion size (Cl⁻ > Br⁻ > NO₃⁻ > ClO₄⁻). However the observed variation is well within experimental error. It is noteworthy that the addition of hydrochloric acid to the $Cr_{aq}^{3+}-H_2O^{18}$ system causes immediate exchange of two water ligands, followed by a very much slower exchange of the remaining four water ligands. This is presumably due to the rapid formation of the stable $Cr(H_2O)_4Cl_2^+$ ion with expulsion of two water ligands.

By precipitating Cr_{aq}^{3+} as $CrPO_4 \cdot 6H_2O$ and studying the appearance of O^{18} in this fraction, Hunt and Plane (251) have been able to study the $Cr_{aq}^{3+}-H_2O^{18}$ exchange system at low salt concentrations (0.05 *M*) in perchloric acid. No specific anion effects were observed, the exchange rate being expressible by the term $k_1[Cr(H_2O)_6^{3+}]$ [compared to the equation (equation 22) quoted by Plane and Taube]. In the presence of nitrate ion and perchlorate ion slight differences in exchange rate occurred at $\mu = 0.7$ but these could be attributed to activity effects; the extrapolated value of k_1 at $\mu = 0$ and $27^{\circ}C$. is 2.07×10^{-4} min.⁻¹ for both these anions. The activation energy for exchange is 27.6 ± 1 kcal./mole in the presence of acid at all salt concentrations and 31 ± 4 kcal./mole in the absence of acid; the difference in activation energies, if significant, may be some support for the anion-exchange mechanism of Mackenzie and Milner.

From the observed decrease of O¹⁸ content in water on complete exchange with Cr_{aq}^{3+} , Hunt and Taube (254) were able to confirm experimentally that the hydration number of Cr^{3+} was 6.0 \pm 0.2, a suitable allowance being applied for isotopic fractionation effects (see Section VII,C). With other aquo cations which undergo rapid $-OH_2$ ligand exchange, the hydration numbers must be deduced from the isotopic exchange equilibrium constant. However, the adaptation of flow methods to a study of these rapid rates may still permit the direct measurement of the hydration numbers of labile cations (444, 446). It is interesting to enquire as to the probable reason for the slow exchange of $\operatorname{Cr}_{aq}^{3+}$ on the one hand and the rapid exchange of Al_{aq}^{3+} , Ga_{aq}^{3+} , Co_{aq}^{3+} , and Fe_{aq}^{3+} on the other. The Cr³⁺ ion is by no means exceptional (254) in this series of ions with respect to factors such as ionic radius, hydration energy, hydrolysis constant, or halide stability constants. The difference must be due to the differing electronic states of the metals coördinated as the aquo cations. On formation of inner-orbital d^2sp^3 bonds, all the 3d orbitals of Cr(III) are occupied. Therefore with an S_N^2 mechanism operative necessitating the formation of a heptacoördinated activated complex, either one 3d electron would have to be promoted to a 4d state or the incoming group would have to utilize a single 4d orbital with consequent formation of a relatively unstable activated complex. A relatively slow rate of -OH₂ ligand exchange for Cr(III) thus appears reasonable; this explanation is also probably applicable to all ligand exchanges of Cr(III). In the case of Al_{aq}^{3+} , Fe_{aq}^{3+} , and Ga_{aq}^{3+} the --OH₂ ligands utilize outer-orbital sp^3d^2 bonds and rapid exchange, possibly by $S_N 1$ dissociation, is to be anticipated. At first sight the rapid water exchange of Co_{aq}^{aq} (176) may seem surprising, although Taube (445) has interpreted this as evidence for the greater stabilization by $-OH_2$ ligands of a paramagnetic Co(III)

state (and hence rapid exchange). However, the experiments on $\operatorname{Co}_{aq}^{3+}$ were complicated by the presence of $\operatorname{Co}_{aq}^{2+}$, which was independently shown to undergo rapid water exchange. A rapid electron exchange between $\operatorname{Co}_{aq}^{2+}$ and $\operatorname{Co}_{aq}^{3+}$ could cause an apparent rapid exchange of water in $\operatorname{Co}_{aq}^{3+}$.

This same principle has been used (378) to obtain an estimate of the rate of electron exchange between Cr_{aq}^{3+} and Cr_{aq}^{2+} . As distinct from Cr_{aq}^{3+} , Cr_{aq}^{2+} undergoes rapid exchange of ligand water, the change being complete in less than 2 min. On the addition of 0.16 M Cr²⁺ to 1 M Cr³⁺ ($t_{\frac{1}{2}}$ normally 27 hr.) the exchange half-time for $Cr_{aq}^{3+}-H_2O^{18}$ was 2.1 hr. The extent of the catalytic effect by Cr_{aq}^{2+} is governed by the rate of the electron exchange between Cr_{aq}^{2+} and Cr_{aq}^{3+} and it was thereby possible to set an upper limit of 0.028 l. mole⁻¹ min.⁻¹ to the rate constant of this reaction. The principle should be generally applicable to other ligand exchanges in complexes of two valency states of a given metal. The sole requirement is that one complex should be labile, and the other relatively inert, to ligand exchange.

Adamson and Wilkins (11) attempted to measure the rate of direct bimolecular exchange of SC*N with $Cr(NH_3)_5SCN^{2+}$, $Co(NH_3)_5SCN^{2+}$, and *trans*- $Co(en)_2$ -(SCN)₂⁺ but found that aquation of all these complexes was quite substantial in the times required to investigate the rates of direct —SCN exchange. To increase the sensitivity of the rate measurements, the systems were followed using labelled complex ion and measuring the rate of appearance of activity in the free thiocyanate ion for small degrees of aquation. The competing processes of aquation and exchange may then be written (neglecting isotope effects):

Aquation:
$$MA_5SCN^{2+}$$
 + $H_2O \xrightarrow{k_1} MA_5H_2O^{3+}$ + SCN^-
 $MA_5SC^*N^{2+}$ + $H_2O \xrightarrow{k_1} MA_5H_2O^{3+}$ + SC^*N^-
Direct
exchange: $MA_5SC^*N^{2+}$ + $SCN^- \xleftarrow{k_2} MA_5SCN^{2+}$ + SC^*N^-

and it was shown that the first-order rate constant for the appearance of activity in SCN⁻ (k_{app}) could be expressed as:

$$k_{\rm app} = k_1 + k_2 [\rm SCN^-]_0 \tag{23}$$

Any direct exchange should then appear as a dependence of k_{app} upon [SCN⁻]₀. With Cr(NH₃)₆SCN²⁺ the direct exchange term was only a few per cent of k_1 at 70°C.; k_2 must thus be less than 0.015 l. mole⁻¹ hr.⁻¹ at this temperature. At 90°C. with Co(NH₃)₅SCN²⁺, k_{app} did increase with concentration of free thiocyanate ion, but this increase was shown to be due to a specific catalysis of the aquation rate by thiocyanate ion. This catalysis does not occur in the aquation of Cr(NH₃)₅SCN²⁺. (A similar catalytic effect by sulfate ion has also been observed by Taube and Posey (451) in the aquation of Co(NH₃)₅SO₄⁺.) The difference in catalytic effects for the chromium and cobalt pentammine complexes was attributed to the operation of an S_N2 mechanism for Cr(III) complexes and an S_N1 mechanism for Co(III) complexes. Whilst removal of an uncharged —OH₂ ligand by S_N1 dissociation of Co(NH₃)₅H₂O³⁺ would not be expected to be influenced by ion-pair formation (as shown in the case of SO_4^{2-} ; vide supra), the removal of a charged ion by $S_N 1$ dissociation of $Co(NH_3)_5SCN^{2+}$ could be reasonably assumed to be accelerated by anion pairing.

This question of ion-pair formation may also be relevant to a study (71) of the exchange and substitution reactions of cis-Co(en)₂Cl₂⁺ in absolute methanol. The Cl⁻ exchange and SCN⁻, Br⁻, and NO₃⁻ substitutions proceed by first-order kinetics and presumably indicate rate-determining S_N1 dissociation of the dichloro complex. The S_N2 formation of an intermediate methylato complex could, however, exhibit similar kinetics. The strongly nucleophilic ions OCH₃⁻, N₃⁻, and NO₂⁻ showed partial second-order kinetics which were interpreted by Brown and Ingold as evidence for direct bimolecular replacement. An alternative explanation is that in terms of ion-pair formation, with these strongly nucleophilic ions inducing S_N1 dissociation of a ---Cl ligand. In direct physical terms, however, the distinction between ion-pair-induced S_N1 dissociation and direct S_N2 substitution is a somewhat academic point, i.e.,

$$\operatorname{Co}(\operatorname{en})_2\operatorname{Cl}_2^+ \cdot \operatorname{OCH}_3^- \xrightarrow{\operatorname{slow}} \operatorname{Co}(\operatorname{en})_2\operatorname{Cl}^{2+} \cdot \operatorname{OCH}_3^- + \operatorname{Cl}^-$$

 \mathbf{or}

 $\operatorname{Co}(en)_2\operatorname{Cl}_2^+ + \operatorname{OCH}_3^- \longrightarrow \operatorname{Co}(en)_2\operatorname{Cl} \cdot \operatorname{OCH}_3^+ + \operatorname{Cl}^-$

For purposes of discussion it is probably sufficient to interpret these results as evidence for bimolecular ligand replacement. Whilst this study in nonaqueous media is of considerable importance in itself, the basic problem of devising methods for studying bimolecular ligand exchange in aqueous solution, in the presence of aquation, still remains. Ettle and Johnson (152) in some very early work investigated the exchange of chlorine ligands in *cis*- and *trans*-Co(en)₂Cl₂⁺ and *cis*-Co(en)₂(H₂O)Cl²⁺ with free chloride ion in aqueous solution. With the two isomers of Co(en)₂Cl₂⁺ no evidence for direct exchange of chlorine was found in a contact time dictated by the relatively rapid aquation of the complexes, although at 80°C. and a contact time of 35 sec. a slight amount of exchange occurred with the monoaquo complex. In the isomerization:

$$trans$$
-Co(en)₂Cl₂⁺ \rightleftharpoons cis -Co(en)₂Cl₂⁺

in the presence of NaCl^{*}, complete randomization of activity occurred. Since direct chloride exchange is relatively slow, this transfer of Cl^{*-} is attributed to the aquation reactions:

cis- and trans-Co(en)₂Cl₂⁺
$$\rightleftharpoons$$
 Cl⁻ + Co(en)₂(H₂O)Cl²⁺
 \rightleftharpoons 2Cl⁻ + Co(en)₂(H₂O)₂³⁺

Moreover the catalysis of the inversion of d-cis-Co(en)₂Cl₂ by added potassium chloride cannot be attributed to "inversion by substitution" (a mechanism extremely common for organic compounds), since direct ligand exchange does not occur.

A rather extensive survey has been conducted of the exchange of cyano ligands

ISOTOPIC TRACERS IN INORGANIC CHEMISTRY

TABLE 7	
---------	--

Complex	Stability Constant	Approximate Concentration of Dissociating Product in 0.1 <i>M</i> Solution	Exchange Rate
Hg(CN)4 ²⁻	10-42	10-6	"Instantaneous"
Fe(CN)6 ³⁻	10-44	10-6	Very slow
Fe(CN)64	10-37	10-5	Very slow
Ni(CN)42-	10-22	10-4	"Instantaneous"
$\operatorname{Mn}(\operatorname{CN})_{6^{3^{-}}}$	10-27	10-4	Measurable

Exchange rates and stability constants of cyanide complexes

in two-, four-, six- and eight-coördinated complexes (9, 313). The dicyano complexes of Hg(II), Ag(I), and Cu(I), the tetracyanides of Zn(II), Hg(II), Ni(II), and Pd(II), and the hexacyanides of Cr(II) and V(III) all exchange in the time of reactant separation, whilst the hexacyanides of Fe(II), Fe(III), Co(III), the pentacyanoaquo complexes of Fe(II), the pentacyanonitroso complex of Fe(III), and the octacyanide of Mo(IV) undergo very slow ligand exchange. These results are a good illustration of the independence of ligand exchangeability and thermodynamic stability, as shown in table 7. It is important to appreciate that the amount of free cyanide ion produced by dissociation of a complex cyanide is unimportant compared with the rate at which this cyanide ion is produced. It is the latter which determines the rate of —CN ligand exchange. The dissociation of cyanide complexes is frequently very slow and the stability constants are calculated from electrode potential measurements (293) which only depend on rapid electron transfers.

Adamson, Welker, and Wright (10) found that the exchange rate of $Mn(CN)_6^{3--}$ with cyanide ion was first order in complex-ion concentration, but independent of free cyanide concentration, pH (from about 9 to 11), and ionic strength. The authors conclude that only one charged reactant is involved, that this reactant is not a hydrolyzed species, and that the rate-determining step in the exchange is one of the following:

(a) $S_N 1$ dissociation:

$$\operatorname{Mn}(\operatorname{CN})_{6^{3-}} \xrightarrow[fast]{\operatorname{slow}} \operatorname{Mn}(\operatorname{CN})_{5^{2-}} + \operatorname{CN}^{-}$$

(b) $S_N 2$ aquation:

 $\operatorname{Mn}(\operatorname{CN})_{6}^{3-} + \operatorname{H}_{2}O \xrightarrow{\operatorname{slow}} [\operatorname{Mn}(\operatorname{CN})_{6}\operatorname{H}_{2}O^{3-}] \xrightarrow{\operatorname{fast}} \operatorname{Mn}(\operatorname{CN})_{5}\operatorname{H}_{2}O^{2-} + \operatorname{CN}^{-}$

The entropy of activation is -44.2 e.u., which is considered too large for a normal unimolecular reaction and hence the $S_N 2$ aquation is favored. The latter path proceeds via a heptacoördinated complex formed, it is postulated, by using an available inner *d* orbital (the ground state of Mn(III) being $3d^2d^1d^1D^2D^2S^2P^2P^2P^2$). This process requires little energy for Mn(III) (which would attain an inert gas structure in the activated complex), rather more energy for Cr(III), and considerable energy for Co(III), Fe(II), and Fe(III), since in these cases promotion of electrons to higher orbitals must occur. The observed decrease in lability towards cyanide exchange was explained in this way. Somewhat similar, although more general, ideas have been described by Taube in his effective classification of hexacoördinated compounds (445).

MacDiarmid and Hall (313) subsequently observed completely analogous kinetic behavior for $\text{Co}(\text{CN})_{6^{3-}}$, $\text{Fe}(\text{CN})_{6^{4-}}$, and $\text{Cr}(\text{CN})_{6^{3-}}$ and postulate the same aquation mechanism as invoked for $\text{Mn}(\text{CN})_{6^{3-}}$. The observation of increasing exchange rate with decreasing pH constitutes further support for the aquation mechanism. It is to be noted that in all these cases of complex cyanides, the observed rate of ligand exchange is determined by the rate of aquation of the complex. The cyanide ion presumably does not enter into the seventh coördination position because of the relatively high concentration of water and the uncharged nature of the latter.

Adamson (5) has studied the exchange in the absence of oxygen of free cyanide with the cyanide complex of Co(II), which was shown to have the empirical formula $K_3Co(CN)_5$ rather than $K_4Co(CN)_6$. In solution the ion could exist as either $Co(CN)_5H_2O^{3-}$ or $Co(CN)_5^{3-}$. The latter possibility is favored, since the cyanide exchange is complete in a separation time of 2 min., which probably indicates that a S_N2 exchange mechanism operates, utilizing a vacant orbital in the complex (as already mentioned for planar complexes). The exchange behavior of $Co(CN)_5H_2O^{3-}$ would be expected to be similar to that of $Co(CN)_6^{3-}$, which is very slow (9).

The exchange of single atoms within a ligand was first studied qualitatively some twenty years ago (22, 149, 365), especially with the exchange of hydrogen atoms in ammonia ligands with deuterium oxide. Quantitative studies of the hydrogen exchange in $\text{Co}(\text{NH}_3)_6^{3+}$ and $\text{Co}(\text{en})_3^{3+}$ revealed (20) that the rate is inversely proportional to the hydrogen-ion concentration, a result which constitutes evidence for metal amide formation, as in the following kinetic scheme:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} \mathrm{Co}(\mathrm{ND}_3)_6{}^{3+} \rightleftharpoons & \mathrm{Co}(\mathrm{ND}_3)_5\mathrm{ND}_2{}^{2+} & + & \mathrm{D}^+ \\ \\ \mathrm{Co}(\mathrm{ND}_3)_5\mathrm{ND}_2{}^{2+} & + & \mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O} & \xrightarrow{\mathrm{slow}} & \mathrm{Co}(\mathrm{ND}_3)_5\mathrm{ND}_2\mathrm{H}{}^{3+} & + & \mathrm{OH}^- \\ & & \mathrm{H}^+ & + & \mathrm{OH}^- \rightleftharpoons \mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O} \end{array}$$

The greater the orbital overlap in the cobalt-nitrogen σ -bond formed in such ammine complexes, the lower will be the electron distribution on the nitrogen atom and hence the greater the probability of acid dissociation. Thus a complex more inert to substitution should exhibit a higher probability of acid dissociation. The product (K) of the exchange rate constant and the number of exchangeable hydrogen atoms can be taken as a measure of the probability of acid dissociation of the ammine complexes; these values are 4.54×10^{-6} for $Co(NH_3)_6^{3+}$ and 5.27×10^{-6} for $Co(en)_3^{3+}$ at $25^{\circ}C$. and seem to be in accord with these ideas. The rate of exchange for Co(III) complexes is greater than that for the tetrammines of platinum and palladium, indicating a higher acid strength, the higher the central atom valency (19). The K values for $Pd(NH_3)_4^{2+}$, $Pt(NH_3)_4^{2+}$, and $Co(NH_3)_6^{3+}$ at 0°C. are 1.17×10^{-8} , 2.48×10^{-8} , and $13.8 \times$ 10^{-8} , respectively. Moreover Pd(NH₃)₄²⁺ exchanges not only by the acid dissociation mechanism (at pH about 7) but at low pH exchanges also by reversible dissociation of ammonia. More qualitative studies have been reported for the ions Co(NH₃)₄(NO₂)₂⁺, Co(NH₃)₄CO₃⁺ (22), and Cu(NH₃)₄²⁺ (150). In view of the importance of such measurements, further studies of such ammine-water exchanges are desirable.

3. Exchange of bidentate ligands

An early study by Long (307) of the tris-oxalato complexes of metals revealed that whereas the Co(III) and Cr(III) complexes did not exchange with free aqueous C^{11} -labelled oxalate in half an hour at 50°C, and 35°C, respectively, the corresponding complexes of Fe(III) and Al(III) exchanged in the time of reactant separation. This is evidence for the inner-orbital type of bonding in the former pair of complexes and outer-orbital bonding in the latter pair. The short half-life of C^{11} (20.5 min.) prevented Long from studying the Co(III) and Cr(III) complexes over a longer period of time to investigate the possibility of a slow exchange. The exchanges of tris-oxalato and tris-malonato complexes of Fe(III) with their free C¹⁴-labelled ligand ions have also been recently studied (99). The measured magnetic moments of both complexes indicate these complexes to be constituted of outer-orbital bonds. Rapid exchange for both complexes is claimed, but inspection of the experimental results for the malonate complex reveals an exchange half-time of about 30 min. If this is significant, the slower half-time for the malonato complex may reflect the increased stabilization to exchange of the six-membered ring as compared to the five-membered ring in the oxalato complex. It then follows that the ferrimalonate complex might be resolvable.

An interesting ligand-exchange study (100) of the salicylaldehyde type quadridentate complexes of nickel has been recently reported. Bis-(salicylaldoxime)nickel and bis-(N-methylsalicylaldimine)nickel were shown to be paramagnetic in pyridine solution, owing presumably to formation of an octahedral adduct incorporating two pyridine solvent molecules which could be precipitated from pyridine solution by water. These two complexes exchange rapidly in pyridine with C¹⁴-labelled salicylaldoxime and methylsalicylaldimine, whilst bis-(salicylaldehyde-ethylenediimine)nickel, which is diamagnetic both as a solid and in solution, does not undergo ligand exchange. However, although a dynamic equilibrium appears to exist in pyridine solution between diamagnetic and paramagnetic forms of bis-(salicylaldehyde-o-phenylenediimine)nickel, no ligand exchange was observed. This result, at first rather surprising, was attributed to the quadridentate ligand occupying four planar positions in the complex, and the two pyridine molecules in the paramagnetic (labile) form thereby must assume trans rather than cis positions. For exchange to occur with the free quadridentate ligand ion, either four nickel-ligand bonds must be ruptured simultaneously $(S_N 1)$ or an activated complex of coördination number eight must be formed $(S_N 2)$. Since either alternative would require a high activation energy, ligand exchange is slow. This study indicates that stereochemical requirements can, under certain circumstances, outweigh the influence of the electronic structure of the central metal atom. It would be interesting to study quadridentate ligand exchange with a nickel complex which was labile with regard to nickel exchange (e.g., bis-(salicylaldehyde-trisethylenediimine)nickel (212)) to further test these ideas.

Whilst $Zn(en)_{3}^{2+}$, $Cu(en)_{2}^{2+}$, and $Hg(en)_{2}^{2+}$ exchange completely with labelled ethylenediamine in a minimum separation time of 3 sec. at 0°C., Ni $(en)_{3}^{2+}$ exhibits exchange half-times of the order of a few seconds. Popplewell and Wilkins (383) have shown that since the exchange rate is first order in concentration of Ni $(en)_{3}^{2+}$ but independent of free ethylenediamine concentration, then an $S_N 2$ associative mechanism involving ethylenediamine is excluded. Whether the ratedetermining step involving Ni $(en)_{3}^{2+}$ is one of $S_N 1$ dissociation or $S_N 2$ reaction with water is undecided. The ligand exchange of Ni $(en)_{3}^{2+}$ is immeasurable at 20°C., as is reported (263) for the exchange of nickel with the complex ion at the same temperature. A study of the latter exchange system also at 0°C. would therefore be of considerable interest.

Some quantitative information has now been gained on the influence of neutral ligands upon the carbonato-ligand lability in the complex ions $Co(NH_3)_4CO_3^+$ (217, 220), $Co(NH_3)_5CO_3^+$ (434), and $Co(en)_2CO_3^+$ (241). The general rate law for the exchange of free carbonate ion with the carbonato ligand in the three complexes may be written:

$$R = k_1[\text{complex}][\text{total carbonate}] + k_2 K[\text{complex}][\text{H}^+]$$
(24)

where the first term represents the rate of direct ligand exchange and the second term that of aquation. The equilibrium constant, K, refers to the hydration equilibria known to occur (290, 371) with such carbonato complexes:

$$C_0(NH_3)_5CO_3^+ + H_3O^+ \rightleftharpoons C_0(NH_3)_5HCO_3^{2+} + H_2O_3^{2+}$$

For the pentammine carbonato complex $K = 2.5 \times 10^6$ (289) and in the region of pH 9, only about 1 per cent of the carbonato complex will exist in the bicarbonato form. Contrary to the original interpretation (220), isotope effect (Section VII,C) and conductometric studies now suggest that both the bidentate complexes exist substantially in the monodentate forms $Co(NH_3)_4H_2O \cdot CO_3^+$ and $Co(en)_2H_2O \cdot CO_3^+$ in aqueous solution. Whilst the hydration equilibrium constants are unknown for these two complexes, the measured value for the pentammine complex will be assumed in the succeeding discussion.

The rate constant k_1 represents the rates of the direct carbonato-ligand exchange processes and in view of the additional facts now available on the hydration equilibria, these processes are best represented in terms of the predominant species existing under the experimental conditions:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} \operatorname{Co}(\mathrm{NH}_3)_4\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}\cdot\mathrm{CO}_3^+ &+ & \mathrm{HC}^*\mathrm{O}_3^- & \xrightarrow{\mathrm{T}^{k_1}} & \mathrm{Co}(\mathrm{NH}_3)_4\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}\cdot\mathrm{C}^*\mathrm{O}_3^+ &+ & \mathrm{HCO}_3^-\\ & & & & & & \\ \operatorname{Co}(\mathrm{NH}_3)_5\mathrm{CO}_3^+ &+ & \mathrm{HC}^*\mathrm{O}_3^- & \xrightarrow{\mathrm{P}^{k_1}} & & & & \\ \operatorname{Co}(\mathrm{NH}_3)_5\mathrm{C}^*\mathrm{O}_3^+ &+ & & & & \\ \mathrm{Co}(\mathrm{en})_2\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}\cdot\mathrm{CO}_3^+ &+ & & & & \\ \mathrm{HC}^*\mathrm{O}_3^- & \xrightarrow{\mathrm{E}^{k_1}} & & & & \\ \mathrm{Co}(\mathrm{en})_2\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}\cdot\mathrm{C}^*\mathrm{O}_3^+ &+ & & & \\ \mathrm{HC}^*\mathrm{O}_3^- & \xrightarrow{\mathrm{E}^{k_1}} & & & \\ \end{array}$$

rather than as previously represented:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} \mathrm{Co}(\mathrm{NH}_3)_4\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}\cdot\mathrm{HCO}_3{}^{2+} &+& \mathrm{HC}^*\mathrm{O}_3{}^{-} &\xleftarrow{k_1} \\ && & & \\ \mathrm{Co}(\mathrm{NH}_3)_4\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}\cdot\mathrm{HC}^*\mathrm{O}_3{}^{2+} &+& \mathrm{HCO}_8{}^{-}, \, \mathrm{etc.} \end{array}$$

Moreover, the postulation of this latter exchange process does not completely explain the pH dependence of the exchange rate and yields values of k_1 which seem too high for a normal ion-ion substitution reaction (from 8 to 40 l. mole⁻¹ min.⁻¹ at 25°C. for all three complexes).

The rate constant k_2 was originally identified with the aquation processes:

This detailed mechanism of aquation may have to be modified in the light of H_2O^{18} tracer studies (252, 384) which indicate that the aquation of carbonato complexes, in acid at least, involves rupture of the oxygen-carbon bond in the carbonato ligand rather than the cobalt-oxygen bond and that aquation is therefore a process of decarboxylation (82) rather than hydrolysis. The implied processes:

$$\operatorname{Co}(\mathrm{NH}_3)_4\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}\cdot\mathrm{HCO}_3^{2+} \xrightarrow{\kappa_2} \mathrm{Co}(\mathrm{NH}_3)_4\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}\cdot\mathrm{OH}^{2+} + \mathrm{CO}_2, \text{ etc.},$$

are equally consistent with the observed exchange kinetics. Detailed kinetic studies of the three exchange systems have yielded the rate constants shown in table 8, which have been expressed at 25° C. and at an ionic strength of approximately 0.04. (Stranks (430) has shown that ionic strength has little effect on the direct exchange rate for the tetrammine complex above 0.01 but does influence the rate of the aquation rate slightly. However, the chief interest is in the results for the direct exchange rate.) Taube (445) has suggested that in hexacoördinated Co(III) complexes increasing electronegativity of ligands causes greater stabilization of an excited paramagnetic state relative to the diamagnetic ground state of the Co(III) complex. Hence more electronegative ligands should result in a complex more labile to substitution. Applying this concept

Parent Complex	k 1	k2*	k2 [†]
	$l.mole^{-1}$ sec. $^{-1} \times 10^3$	sec. ⁻¹ × 10 ²	$l.mole^{-1}$ sec. $^{-1} \times 10^{3}$
$C_0(NH_s)_4CO_s^+$	0.35	1.0	0.18
$Co(en)_2CO_2^+$	0.25	0.55	0.10

 TABLE 8

 Rate constants for exchange of Co(III) carbonato complexes

• Calculated on the basis that aquation is S_N1 decarboxylation.

⁺ Calculated on the basis that aquation is a direct S_N2 process.

to the carbonato complexes, all of which react in the monodentate form, the anticipated order of rate constants for direct ligand exchange would be $_{T}k_1 > _{E}k_1 > _{F}k_1$, since an —OH₂ ligand occurring in the first two complexes only is much more electronegative than either an —NH₃ or an —en ligand. The apparently exceptional position of the pentammine complex might be due to more significant hydrogen bonding in the other two complexes, with the formation of sixmembered rings which are relatively inert to direct ligand exchange.



A similar order of rate constants appears to hold for the rate of aquation but these values are of less quantitative significance since the hydration equilibrium constants, K, are unknown for the ethylenediamine and tetrammine-carbonato complexes. The exchange of free carbonate ion with $\text{Co}(\text{tn})_2\text{CO}_3^+$ (where tn = trimethylenediamine) is inconveniently slow below 40°C. ($E_{\text{act}} = 25$ kcal.), whereas exchange of the previous carbonato complexes is measurable between 0°C. and 25°C. ($E_{\text{act}} = 15\text{--}20$ kcal.). In the former case exchange is considered to proceed (219) via the hydrated intermediate $\text{Co}(\text{tn})_2\text{HCO}_3\cdot\text{OH}^+$ and steric effects are undoubtedly important in determining the much slower exchange rates. Additional studies on the influence of other neutral ligands upon the carbonato-ligand lability would assist in a greater understanding of these effects.

D. EXCHANGE AND RACEMIZATION PROCESSES

Comparison of the rates of exchange and of racemization of an optically active complex ion can help in an understanding of the mechanism of the latter process. Once again ligand exchange is the more useful (see Section VI,A) and there are three obvious relationships between the two rates, all of which have been observed.

(a) The rates of exchange can be slower than the rate of racemization. In the now classical exchanges of Long (306, 307), it was shown that for both $Co(oxalate)_3^{3-}$ and $Cr(oxalate)_3^{3-}$ no exchange occurred (separately) between these ions and C^{11} -tagged oxalate within 25 min. at 50°C. and 35°C., respectively. At these temperatures the half-life of inversion of both ions is approximately 15 min. (86). With C¹⁴-labelled oxalate no exchange with $Co(oxalate)_3^{3-}$ occurs until direct decomposition of the complex becomes significant (412). This decomposition involves the entry of a water molecule into the complex (117), which permits the exchange of an oxalate ligand. The rupture of an oxalate group as a whole from the complex as the means of racemization is therefore excluded by these results. Further insight into the racemization mechanism is afforded by some recent work of Carter, Odell, and Llewellyn (305). The exchange of H₂O¹⁸

with $Cr(oxalate)_{3}^{3-}$ was observed at a much faster rate than the exchange of C^{13} -oxalate with the latter. In addition *all* the twelve oxygen atoms of the complex took part in the exchange. The reaction



was proposed as the initial step in the racemization, H_2O^{18} exchange and concomitant aquation to $Cr(oxalate)_2(H_2O)_2^{-}$, involving "one-ended" dissociation of the oxalate group.

(b) The rates of exchange and racemization are the same. The loss of optical activity from the cis-Co(en)₂Cl₂⁺ ion in absolute methanol is identical with the rate of exchange of lithium radiochloride with the *first* chlorine atom of the complex ion (71) (see table 9).

> cis-Co(en)₂Cl₂⁺ \rightarrow Co(en)₂Cl²⁺ + Cl⁻ (Optically inactive)

It has been shown that the exchange of labelled phenanthroline with $Ni(phen)_{3}^{2+}$ in neutral and in alkaline pH occurs by a dissociative mechanism and that the rate constant is identical with the racemization rate constant under comparable conditions (478). This work extends that showing similarity of rates of acid dissociation and accompanying racemization of the $Ni(phen)_{3}^{2+}$ ion (37). In these cases then a dissociative mechanism with rapid racemization of the complex fragment can completely account for the racemization observed. In view of the measurable exchange rates reported for $Ni(en)_{3}^{2+}$ with labelled ethylenediamine in methanol at 0°C. (383) it might be possible to resolve this ion if the attempt were made at fairly low temperatures and if the racemization of $Ni(en)_{3}^{2+}$ were a dissociative mechanism, as seems probable from the behavior of $Ni(phen)_{3}^{2+}$ and $Ni(dipy)_{3}^{2+}$ (dipy = dipyridyl).

		TABLE	9			
Exchange	and	racemization	rate	of	complex	ions

Complex Ion	Exchange Rate Constant	Racemization Rate Constant (as defined in reference 37)	Conditions	Reference
Co(en) ₂ Cl ₂ ⁺ Ni(phen) ₃ ²⁺ Ni(phen) ₃ ²⁺	$\begin{array}{c} 1.4 \times 10^{-4} \ \mathrm{sec.^{-1}} \\ 90 \times 10^{-4} \ \mathrm{min.^{-1}} \\ 113 \times 10^{-4} \ \mathrm{min.^{-1}} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.35 \times 10^{-4} \ {\rm sec.}^{-1} \\ 92 \times 10^{-4} \ {\rm min.}^{-1} \\ 111 \times 10^{-4} \ {\rm min.}^{-1} \end{array}$	35.8°C.; $\mu = 0.04$; CH ₃ OH 45.0°C.; pH = 6.8 45.0°C.; pH = 13	(71) (478) (478)

(c) The rate of exchange may be faster than the rate of racemization. Holden and Harris (241) have studied the rate of racemization of carbonato-bis-(ethylenediamine)cobalt(III) chloride and of its exchange with $HC^{14}O_3^{-}$. They have suggested that the racemization is an intramolecular process and that each complex ion species postulated to be present in the exchanging solution racemizes independently of the others.

Rate =
$$k_1[Co(en)_2CO_3H_2O^+] + k_2[Co(en)_2CO_3(OH)^+]$$

+ $k_3[Co(en)_2HCO_3H_2O^{2+}] + k_4[Co(en)_2(H_2O)_2^{3+}]$ (25)

In this case, however (unlike (a)), the process is slower than the exchange rate, which proceeds via dissociative and associative mechanisms (vide supra) apparently not involving racenization. Rapid exchange of labelled ligand with Zn(en)₃²⁺ (383), Al(oxalate)₃³⁻, and Fe(oxalate)₃³⁻ (307) compared with the reported resolution and relatively slow racemization of these complex ions may be other examples of instances where dissociative processes responsible for exchange do not directly lead to racemization (445).

E. EVIDENCE FOR UNUSUAL OXIDATION STATES

Rich and Taube (391) observed that the use of ordinary laboratory distilled water in the Cl*-AuCl₄ exchange system caused a rapid induced exchange of some 30 per cent in the first 20 sec., but that thereafter the exchange proceeded with half-times of the order of 1 to 4 min. A subsequent detailed study of this induced process (392) revealed that the exchange system was exceedingly sensitive to traces of certain reducing agents, notably Fe^{2+} . Even storage of solutions in green bottles, for instance, generated sufficient Fe^{2+} to cause a significant amount of induced exchange. A 6 \times 10⁻⁷M ferrous sulfate solution causes 50 per cent exchange of 0.015 M Cl^{*-} with 0.006 M AuCl₄⁻ in 5 sec. (uncatalyzed half-time 3 min. at 0°C.) and for every Fe²⁺ ion oxidized by AuCl₄-, about 10⁴ chloride-ion substitutions are effected. Whilst the one-electron reducing agent VO^{2+} is also capable of inducing the exchange, the two-electron reducing agents Sn(II) and Sb(III) are relatively ineffective although easily oxidized by AuCl₄-. Since Au(I) was shown to exert no catalytic effect, Rich and Taube conclude that the active species is gold in the oxidation state +2, which is efficiently formed by one-electron reduction of Au(III) by Fe^{2+} and VO^{2+} , but only in very low concentration by Sn^{2+} or Sb^{3+} .

A kinetic study of the Fe²⁺-induced exchange led to the following postulated mechanism:

- (1) Fe^{2+} + AuCl_{4-} $\xrightarrow{k_1}$ $\operatorname{Fe}(\operatorname{III})$ + $\operatorname{Au}_{Cl}^{II}$
- (2) $\operatorname{Au}_{\operatorname{Cl}}^{\operatorname{II}} + \operatorname{Cl}^{*-} \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{Au}_{\operatorname{Cl}}^{\operatorname{II}} + \operatorname{Cl}^{-}$ (very rapid)
- (3) $\operatorname{Au}_{\operatorname{Cl}^*}^{\operatorname{II}} + \operatorname{Au}\operatorname{Cl}_4^- \xrightarrow{k_3} \operatorname{Au}_{\operatorname{Cl}}^{\operatorname{II}} + \operatorname{Au}\operatorname{Cl}_4^{*-}$
- (4) $2Au(II) \xrightarrow{k_4} Au(I) + Au(III)$ (chain terminating)

In accordance with this mechanism, a function of the amount of induced ex-

change varied linearly with the square root of the initial ferrous concentration, thereby enabling k_1 to be evaluated as 1.8×10^4 l. mole⁻¹ min.⁻¹ and lower limits to be set to k_3 and k_4 of 10^8 l. mole⁻¹ min.⁻¹ and 10^{10} l. mole⁻¹ min.⁻¹, respectively, all at 0°C. The actual form of the Au(II) complex is unknown but it is possibly either AuCl₄²⁻ or AuCl₃⁻, so that reaction 3 will involve either electron transfer or chlorine-atom transfer. The great substitution lability of AuCl₄^{II} as compared to AuCl₄⁻ was attributed to the possibility of states of different coördination number for Au(II) having nearly the same energy such that the energy required for removal of Cl⁻, e.g.,

$$AuCl_{4^{2-}} \rightarrow AuCl_{3^{-}} + Cl^{-}$$

is very small.

The exceptional substitution lability of an intermediate oxidation state of an element also serves to explain induced exchanges observed in the chloride exchange with $PtCl_{6^{2-}}$. Rich and Taube (390) found that the spontaneous exchange rate for $PtCl_{6^{2-}}$ derived from commercial samples of H_2PtCl_6 is much less ($l_1 = a pprox$. 50 min. at 25°C.) than that for $PtCl_{6^{2-}}$ samples freed from traces of iridium ($t_1 = a$ few seconds). Both oxidizing agents ($IrCl_{6^{2-}}$, Cl_2 , $Fe(CN)_{6^{3-}}$) and some reducing agents (barium diphenylaminesulfonate and hydroquinone) reduce the exchange rate to very low values by destroying the postulated catalytic species of Pt(III). For discussion purposes the form of Pt(III) was assumed to be $PtCl_{6^{2-}}$ in the exchange mechanism:

$$\operatorname{PtCl}_{5^{2-}}^{*2-} + \operatorname{Cl}^{*-} \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{PtCl}_{5}^{*2^{-}} + \operatorname{Cl}^{-}$$
$$\operatorname{PtCl}_{5^{2-}}^{*2^{-}} + \operatorname{PtCl}_{6^{2^{-}}}^{*2^{-}} \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{PtCl}_{5}^{*2^{-}} + \operatorname{PtCl}_{6^{2^{-}}}^{*2^{-}}$$

The introduction of $PtCl_{4^{2-}}$ serves to catalyze the $PtCl_{6-}Cl^{*-}$ exchange due to the equilibrium:

$$PtCl_{4^{2-}} + PtCl_{6^{2-}} \rightleftharpoons 2PtCl_{5^{2-}}$$

The authors further make the interesting suggestion that, in the absence of inhibitors, the spontaneous exchange rate of $PtCl_6^{2-}$ with chloride ion may be due to the generation of $PtCl_5^{2-}$ by β -radiation from the Cl^{36} tracer. The intermediate +3 oxidation state is also important in the $PtCl_4^{2-}-Cl^{*-}$ exchange system, which is also strongly catalyzed by Ce(IV),

$$Ce(IV) + PtCl_{4}^{2-} + Cl^{-} \rightarrow Ce^{3+} + PtCl_{5}^{2-}$$

but not by chlorine (which presumably bypasses the Pt(III) state); e.g., at 0°C. 1 per cent exchange occurs in 30 min. with 0.01 M PtCl₄²⁻ and 0.03 M Cl^{*-} but in the presence of 5 \times 10⁻⁴ M Ce(IV) the initial induced exchange rate has a half-time of about 30 sec. Moreover, the relatively slow exchange of PtCl₆²⁻ with Pt*Cl₄²⁻ is inhibited by oxidizing agents (notably IrCl₆²⁻) and the exchange mechanism is probably:

$$\frac{\operatorname{PtCl_{5^{2-}}} + \operatorname{Pt^*Cl_{4^{2-}}} \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{PtCl_{4^{2-}}} + \operatorname{Pt^*Cl_{5^{2-}}}}{\operatorname{Pt^*Cl_{5^{2-}}} + \operatorname{PtCl_{6^{2-}}} \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{PtCl_{4^{2-}}} + \operatorname{Pt^*Cl_{6^{2-}}}}{\operatorname{Pt^*Cl_{4^{2-}}} + \operatorname{PtCl_{6^{2-}}} \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{PtCl_{4^{2-}}} + \operatorname{Pt^*Cl_{6^{2-}}}}$$

In a similar way evidence has been adduced (95) for Tl(II), since the thermal exchange of Tl(I)–Tl(III) is accelerated by $Fe(CN)_{6}^{4-}$ and the x-ray-induced exchange also involves this intermediate valency species.

These isotopic exchange studies have provided significant kinetic evidence for the relative lability of intermediate oxidation states of gold, thallium, and platinum. There is no other evidence for the existence of these valency states in aqueous solution, although the isolation of a few solid compounds has been claimed (283, 293). Such work might be extended to other transitional elements with considerable profit and yield results which would otherwise be difficult to obtain (415).

F. PHOTOCHEMICAL EFFECTS

The $PtCl_{6^2}$ - Cl^{*-} exchange system was also found to be strongly photosensitive, owing probably to the production of the active Pt(III) catalytic species in the reaction:

$$\operatorname{PtCl}_{6^{2-}} \xrightarrow{h\nu} \operatorname{PtCl}_{5^{2-}} + \operatorname{Cl}$$

e.g., in the dark t_4 is 50 min. but in bright sunlight exchange is complete in 10 min. Since high quantum yields were found, the exchange mechanism cannot involve hydrolysis, which exhibits a quantum yield of less than unity. Similarly the PtCl₆²--Pt*Cl₄²⁻ exchange system is photosensitive and the photosensitive reaction is inhibited by oxidants such as $IrCl_6^{2-}$ which, when present in $10^{-5} M$ concentration, reduce the rate to measurable values ($t_4 \sim 5 \text{ min.}$). It is interesting to note that whereas the PtCl₄²⁻-Cl^{*-} exchange is photosensitive, the AuCl₄²⁻-Cl^{*-} system is insensitive (at least to ordinary sunlight) and the active Au(II) catalytic species cannot be photogenerated in appreciable concentrations.

The exchanges of cyanide ion with $Mo(CN)_{8}^{4-}$, $Fe(CN)_{6}^{3-}$ (9), $Fe(CN)_{6}^{4-}$, $Co(CN)_{6}^{3-}$, $Cr(CN)_{6}^{3-}$, $Fe(CN)_{5}NO^{2-}$, and $Fe(CN)_{5}H_{2}O^{3-}$ (313) are all markedly accelerated by sunlight. Previous photochemical experiments by MacDiarmid and Hall (312) have shown that for the first four complex ions, at least, photocatalyzed aquation occurs via the process:

$$M(CN)_x^{-y} + H_2O \rightarrow M(CN)_{x-1}(H_2O)^{1-y} + CN^{-1}$$

or

$$(\mathrm{M}(\mathrm{CN})_{x}^{-y} + \mathrm{H}_{3}\mathrm{O}^{+} \to \mathrm{M}(\mathrm{CN})_{x-1}(\mathrm{H}_{2}\mathrm{O})^{1-y} + \mathrm{H}\mathrm{CN})$$

which is the same primary step postulated for the thermal exchange of cyanide ion with such complex cyanides (vide supra). However, both $Mn(CN)_{6}^{3-}$ and $Mn(CN)_{6}^{4-}$ show no photosensitivity in exchange or in aquation. On the basis of these observations MacDiarmid and Hall conclude that only those cyano complexes which are relatively inert to acids will be photosensitive to both exchange and aquation. At 25°C. the cyanide exchanges with both $W(CN)_{8}^{3-}$ and $W(CN)_{8}^{4-}$ (194) exhibit half-times of the order of two years, but radiation from a 100-watt incandescent light reduced the exchange half-times to about 10 days. Since under the conditions of complete light absorption the exchange rate is independent of both complex-ion and cyanide-ion concentrations, the rate-

determining step must be the photoactivation step:

$$4W(CN)_{8^{3-}} + 2H_{2}O \xrightarrow{h\nu} 4W(CN)_{8^{4-}} + 4H^{+} + O_{2}$$

At the lower pH resulting from this photolytic reaction, the $W(CN)_{8}^{4-}$ ion undergoes aquation with generation of free cyanide ion,

$$W(CN)_{8}^{4-} + H_2O \rightarrow W(CN)_7(H_2O)^{3-} + CN^{-}$$

thereby buffering the excess hydrogen ion and creating a photostationary state.

These studies show that photocatalysis must always be considered in studying exchange reactions of transitional metal complexes, especially when the metal atom is capable of photoreduction. Detailed actinometric studies on systems of the type described above should permit the evaluation of primary quantum yields (see Section II,E).

Summarizing then, the most important factor determining exchange rates is usually the electronic state of the central atom. Should the complex contain inner-orbital bonding, then exchange of both ligand and metal atom will normally be relatively slow. If an additional bond orbital exists for use in the activated complex, then even for inner-orbital complexes rates of ligand exchange will be rapid, as will those of outer-orbital complexes. However, even for these "labile" complexes important kinetic data should be obtainable by adjustment of reaction conditions: e.g., lower temperatures and nonaqueous solvents; lower reactant concentrations; earlier observation times and fast-reaction techniques.

Another important factor is the electronegativity of the attached ligand. Highly electronegative ligands will tend to increase the importance of the labile outer-orbital state of a complex of a given metal, thereby leading to greater exchange rates. Nevertheless more studies need to be performed on series of complexes in which small gradations of ligand electronegativity occur before the effects of electronegativity on lability can be satisfactorily evaluated.

The stereochemistry of the ligand is an important consideration. Multidentate chelates (especially with "fused" rings) often undergo reduced rates of metal exchange.

The coördinating power of the solvent must also be considered, since often a complex may be considerably modified in solution by actual coördination of solvent molecules in the complex. In this respect water and pyridine are the most notable examples. Moreover the process of solvolysis of the complex frequently competes with—sometimes to the exclusion of—the process of direct ligand or metal exchange. The effects of ionic strength, pH, photosensitivity, and susceptibility to inhibitors and catalysts (especially when intermediate oxidation states are attainable) are additional factors to be considered in evaluating isotopic exchange data.

G. COMPREHENSIVE TABLE OF LITERATURE DATA (TABLE 10)

Key to table 10

Exchanging species: An asterisk denotes the labelled species used. When both species were labelled and used in separate experiments, both are marked with

		Exchange	reactions of	complexes of the t	ransitional elements		
Exchanging S	pecies		Exchange Co	nditions	Exchange Rate	Remarks	Rcferences
				Vanadium group			
V(CN)6 ²⁻	C*N-	0.026	0.026	pH 9	C 1 min.		(313)
				Chromium group			
$Cr(H_{2}O)^{2+}$	H20*	0.4	Excess	0.4 HClO4	C 2 min.		(378)
Cr(H2O) 63+	H20*	0.4-1.4	Excess	1.8-5.2 CIO. ⁻ 0.01-1.1 H ⁺	25-80 hr.	K; $E = 24$	(378, 253, 254)
Cr(H ₂ O) _{6³⁺}	H ₂ O*	3.0	Excess	No added acid	12 ltr. (30°)	K; E = 31	(314)
$Cr(H_2O)_{\delta^{3+}}$	H ₂ O*	0.05-1.1	Excess	0.1-0.5 HCIO4	17–58 ltr.	$\mathbf{K}; \boldsymbol{B} = 28$	(251)
Cr(H ₂ O) ₆ ³⁺	H20				Rapid		(314)
Cr(CN) ⁶⁴⁻	C*N-	0.026	0.026	pH 11.3	C 40 sec.		(313)
Cr(CN) 63-	Cr*(H ₂ O) _{6³⁺}	0.01	0.01	pH 3-4	36 hr.	Decomposition at this pH (9)	(329)
$Cr(CN)_{6^3}$	CrCl ₂ (II ₂ 0),+	0.005	0.005	0.05 HCl	N 72 hr.		(329)
Cr(CN) ⁶³⁻	Cr(ac) ₃	0.008	0.008	pH 3-4 (acctic acid)	≈ 16 days		(329)
Cr(CN)6 ³⁻	C*N-	0.05	0.05	pII 10	\sim 24 days	Increased at low pH (de-	(6)
	-N+J	0 036	0.09		do dorre	composition)	1916/
	C.N. C**(H.O).a+	0701	070.0	+11 0 6 20 0	~40 days	ч	(313)
		10-0	10.0	TT 0.2-60.0	N 12 III.		(329)
Cr(SCN) **-	STCN-	0.00	0.00	0.07 Л.С.	Slow		(329)
Cr(H=0) Clist					Close	Transaction C. of	(081)
Cr(H,O),Cl+		91	2.2		Slow	Increased by Ur-	(448)
$Cr(H_{*}O)_{3}F_{3}$	Cr*(H ₂ O),2'	0.16		0 01 HNO.	~4 dave	Decreased at 1.0 H NO.	(671)
Cr(H ₂ O),SO ₄ +	S*0.2				270 min. (30°)		(168)
Cr(nrea)6 ²⁺	$Cr^{*}(H_{2}O)_{6}^{3}$	0.04	0.1	1.0 HNOa	N 16 hr.		(280)
Cr(NH ₃) ₅ NC*S ²⁺	SCN-	0.01-0.20	0.06-0.40	pH 2.5	Hours (80°)	K	(11)
Cr(oxalate) ^{3³}	Cr*(H ₂ O) _{6³⁺}	0.01	0.01	0.02 HClO4	N 72 hr.		(329)
Cr(oxalate) ^{3²⁻}	Cr*(H ₂ O),Cl ₂ ⁺	0.005	0.005	0.05 HCI	N 1 hr.		(329)
Cr(oxalate) ³⁻	Oxalate*2-	0.06	0.01		N 25 min.	$(35^{\circ}) t_{1} \sim 25$ min. (racentiza-tion)	(306)
$Cr(en)_{3^{3^{+}}}$	Cr*(H20)62+	0.1	0.1	1 HNO ₃	N 50 hr. (40")	Some decomposition	(280)
$Cr(en)_{2^{3^+}}$	en*	0.1	0.16	1 HNO3	N 70 hr. (40°)	Accompanied by irreversible	(477)
Mo(CN) ^{g4-}	C*N-	0.05	0.05	pH 10	N 11 days	aquation	(6)
				-	-	-	

TABLE 10

D. R. STRANKS AND R. G. WILKINS

W(CN) ^{st-}	C*N-	0.01	0.17	pH 11.1	~500 days (dark)	Increased at pH 9.5 (de- composition); P	(194, 31)
W (CN) ₈ *- W (CN) ₈ *-	C.N-	0.01-0.02	0.15-0.32	рН 10.9-11.2 рН 9.0-10.4	10-12 days (hght) ~500 days	A P.; increased at pH 9.5 (de- composition)	(194, 31) (194, 31)
				Manganese group			
Mn(CN) ^{6⁴⁻ Mn(CN)^{6²⁻ Mn⁶(cooleto)⁴⁻}}	C*N- C*N- M_**2+	0.026 0.01-0.02	0.026 0.05-0.10 0.065	pH 11.8 pH 9-11	C 6 min. 35-80 min. (0°)	$\mathbf{K}; \boldsymbol{E} = 8.5$	(313) (10, 9, 313) (389)
Mn(AA):	Mn*2+	10.0	900-0	Wethanol Methanol	Tast Tast	Also manganous benzoyl- acetonate; fast (both Szilard-Chalmers)	(141)
				Iron group			
Fe ^{s+}	H20•	1.0	Excess	0.4-1.2 H ⁺	C 3.5 min.	Slower at lower acidities	(254)
Fe(CN) ⁶¹⁻	Fead	0.2	>0.2		None within precipita-	Precipitate forms on mixing	(453)
Fe(CN) ⁶⁴⁻	C*N	0.025	0.025	pH 10.3	N 77 hr.	$t_{j} = 33$ hr. (light)	(313, 9, 202)
Fe*(CN) ⁶ ²⁻	Fe ^{*s+}	0.025	0.045 0.14	pH 3.5	53 hr. N 6 days	Р. К. Г	(313) (453, 207, 208)
$Fe(CN)_{6^{3-}}$	C*N-	0.1	0.3	pH 9.5	N 64 hr.	Increased at low pH (de-	(66)
Fe(CN) ₆ ³⁻ Fc(CN) ₆ H ₂ O ³⁻	C*N- C*N-	0.05 0.025	0.05 0.025	01 Hq 01 Hq	N 5 days 38 hr. (dark)	P P P; increased at low pH (de-	(9, 313) (313)
Fe(CN) _b NO ²⁻	C*N-	0.025	0.025	pH 10.3	5.5 days (dark)	composition) P; decreased at low pH	(313)
Fe(CN)6 ³⁻ Fe(oxalate)3 ³⁻ Fr(oxalate)3 ³⁻	Fe ^{*3+} Fe ^{*3+} Ourlete*	0.005	0.005	pH 1.2 pH 1.5	C 5 min. C 5 min. C 90 222 / 950)		(208) (208, 207) (307-00)
Fe(malonate) ^{3²⁻}	Malonate ^{*2-}	0.14	0.11	0.0°% Trd	~30 min.	Decomposition during long	(66)
${\rm Fe}^{*}({ m dipy})_{s^{2+}}$	Fe*2+	0.01	0.01	pH 1.5	~5 hr.	separation time $K; E = 14.9$	(407, 474)
${\rm Fe}^{*}({\rm phen})_{s}^{2+}$	$\mathrm{Fe_{aq}^{*2+}}$	0.01	0.02	pH 1.5	~97 min.	K; $E = 19.4$	(407, 474)
Fe(EDTA) ²⁻	Fead	0.01	0.01	pH 2-5	<i>t</i> 4 < 1 min.	Nitrogen atmosphere	(268)
Fe(EDTA)-	Feag	0.006-0.025	0.006 - 0.025	pH 1-2.5	25 min. to 40 hr.	K	(268)
Ferrimethemoglobin	Fe ^{*2+}	0.0006	0.007	pH 3.6	N 48 hr.		(208)
Ferri(Pht-PO)	Feag			Acid-ethanol-benzene	N 5 days		(407)

ISOTOPIC TRACERS IN INORGANIC CHEMISTRY

				DUTUDO OL ALIGA	a		
Exchanging	Species		Exchange Coi	aditions	Exchange Rate	Remarks	References
				Iron group-Concluded			
Ferri(proto-PO)	Fc _{ag}	0.003	0.001	Alcoholic HCl	N 60 days		(407)
Ferrihemoglobin	Fe_{aq}	10-5	10-5		N 30 hr.		(407)
Ferri(PP)	Fe_{aq}^{*3+}			80% acctone	N 48 hr.		(407)
$O_8Cl_6^{2-}$	CI*-	0.06	0.06	0.1-2.0 H ⁺	N 63 days (50°)		(292)
				Cobalt group			
Co^{2+}_{0aq}	II ₂ O*	1.55	Excess	3.0 HClO4	C 2 min. (1°)		(176)
Co ^{s+} Coaq	H2O*	0.4 - 0.5	Execss	4.0 HClO ₄	C 2 min. (0°)	Presence of about 0.5 $M \operatorname{Co}_{\operatorname{Bq}}^{2+}$	(126)
Co(CN),*-	C*N-	0.02	0.03		C 2 min.		(5)
Co(CN)	Coad	0.005	0.005		N 2.5 days		(169)
Co(CN)e ³⁻	C*N-	0.05	0.05	pH 11	N 8 days	Slightly increased at pH 4	(6)
$Co(CN)_{6}^{3}$	C*N-	0.025	0.022	pH 2	Slight exchange, 75 hr.	Γ	(313)
$Co^{*}(NH_{2})_{6^{3+}}$	Coard	0.01	0.01		N 6 days (50 [°])	N 3.5 hr. in 1 M IICI (323)	(243, 441, 169)
Co*(NH3)6 ³⁺	Co_{aq}^{3+}	0.01	0.01	0.5 II ₂ SO4	N 90 min.	Some Co ²⁺ formed during	(243)
$C_0(NH_3^*)_{6^{3+}}$	H_zO	0.008-0.08	Excess	pH 4.7	14.5–57 min.	exchange K	(20, 22, 149, 365)
;		0.04	Excess	pH 5.6	8.5 min.		
Co(NH ₃) _h H ₂ O ³⁺	$\rm H_2^{*}O$				All II exchange		(365)
$C_0(NH_3)_5H_2O^{3+}$	H ₂ O*	0.02-0.12	Exeess	0.01-0.07 IICIO4	24 hr.	K	(410)
Co(NH ₃),NCS ²⁺	SC*N-	0.02-0.17	0.34 - 0.54	pH 2.5	Hours (90°)	К	(11)
Co(NH ²) Cl ²⁺	H ₂ O	0.02	Excess	pH3	5 hr. (38°)	C 1 min. at pH 12	(9)
Co(NH3),Cl2+	Coart	0.005	0.005		N 14 hr.		(169)
Co(NH3)sBr ²⁷	Br*-				N 2 hr.	Also from Szilard–Chalmers data	(1)
Co(NH3)5NO22+	0 ² 11				All H exchange	Also $trans$ -Co(NII ₃) ₄ (NO ₂) $_{2}^{+}$ (slow) (19)	(365)
Co(NII ₃) ₅ CO ₃ ⁺	$C^{*}O_{3}^{2-}$	0.006-0.04	0.003-0.05	p11 8.8-10	70 min20 hr. (0°)	ĸ	(434)
Co(NH ₃) ₄ CO ₃ [†]	0_2^* II		-		Several hours	Reference 33 reports rapid	(21, 365)
$C_0(NH_3)_4CO_3^+$	C*03 ⁺	0.005 - 0.09	0.007-0.036	pH 9.4-10.1	3-16 hr.	K; effect of μ studied (430)	(220, 217)
	.051		~~~		MOIG		(381)
Co(NH3)4(H2U)287	H ² 0		-		Fast		(33)
Co(NH ₃) ₃ (NO ₂) ₃	Co ^{*2+}	0.005	0.005		N 1 hr. (99°)		(169)
Co(NH3)3(NO2)2Cl	Co_{aq}^{*2+}	0.005	0.005		N 5 ltr.		(169)

TABLE 10-Continued

812

D. R. STRANKS AND R. G. WILKINS

Co(en*) ₃ ³⁺ Co(en) ₃ ⁴⁺ Co(en) ₂ ⁴⁺ Co(en) ₂ (NC*8) ₂ ⁺ cis-Co(n) ₂ Cl ₂ ⁺	H [*] ₂ O Co ^u t en* SCN- CI+	0.02-0.09 0.008 0.04 0.05	Fixcess 0.008 0.20 0.05	pH 4.7 pH 7.0 pH 6.5	27-67 min. N 24 hr. N 65 hr. (100°) Hours (80°) N 15 sec. (80°)	K Considerable aquation in this	(20) (468, 441) (477) (11) (152)
trans-Co(en) ₂ Cl ₂ ⁺ Co(en) ₂ (H ₂ O)Cl ⁺	cı+ cı+				N 25 sec. (80°) Slight; 35 sec. (80°)	time Considerable aquation in this time Probably occurs via reversi-	(152) (152)
<i>cis</i> -Co(en) ₂ Cl ₂ ⁺ Co(pn) ₂ Cl ₂ ⁺	CI*- Co ^{*2+} Co ^{*2+}	0.002 0.005	0.04 0.005	Methanol	100 min. (36°) N 5 hr.	ble aquation K	(11) (169)
Co(en)2CO ₃ + Co(nhen)2 ²⁺	C*0,2-	0.01-0.06	0.005-0.03	pH 9.2	3-8 hr.	К	(241)
Co(5CII ₃ -phen) ₃ ²⁺	Coaq	0.005	0.005		$t_1 < 36 \text{ sec.} (15^\circ)$		(469)
Co(5NO ₂ -phen) ₃ ²⁺ Co(CO ₃) ₃ ³⁻	Co ^{*2+} C*0 ₃ 2-	0.005	0.005		$t_{\rm f} < 25 {\rm sec.} (15^{\circ})$ N 15 hr.		(469) (319)
Co(oxalate)3 ³⁻	Oxalate*2-	0.06	0.01		N 25 min. (50°)		(307)
Co(AA) ₃ Co(AA) ₂ (H ₂ O) ₂	Co*2+ Co*Ac2	0.008	0.008	Pyridine Pvridine	$\sim 80 \text{ days} (30^{\circ})$ C 50 sec.		(468) (468)
Co(NN) ³	Co*2+	0.003	0.003	Pyridine	$\approx 20{-}30$ days		(468)
Co(F) ² Co(Ph-SM) ₂	Co*Ae2 Co*SO4	0.008	0.008	50% pyridine Pyridine	C 40 sec. C 50 sec.		(468) (468)
Co(3Tol-SM)2	Co*Ac2	0.008	0.008	Pyridine	C 45 sec.		(468)
Co(2Anisyl-SM)2 Co(OH-SM)2	Co*Ac2 Co*SO4	0.008	0.008	Pyridine Pyridine	C 40 sec. C 18 min	Slower in avveon	(468)
Co(dien)2 ³⁺	Co_{aq}^{*2+}	0.10	0.10		N 15 min.	Also from Szilard-Chalmers	(441)
$Co(trpy)_{2}^{2+}$	Coaq	0.005	0.005		2.8 hr. (15°)		(469)
Co(EDTA) ²⁻	Co ^{*2†}	0.005	0.005	рН 2.4–5	Fast		(309)
Co(EDTA)-	Coaq	0.005	0.005	pH 2.8	Slow		(309)
Co(SE)	Co^*Ac_2	0.0001	0.0001	Pyridine	20 min. (15°)	Much slower in oxygen	(470)
Co(SP)	Co*Aes Co*Aes	0.0017-0.017	0.0017-0.017	Pyridine Pyridina	48 min. to 7.5 hr. (15°) 2 days	K; $E = 17$	(470)
Co(P)	Co*Ac2	0.004	0.008	Pyridine	N 5 days		(468)
Co(P-tetrasulfonate)	Co ^{*2+}	0.001	0.017	pH 1	N 13 days		(468)
Co(meso PU) Vitamin B*12	Co*Ac2 Co*++ Couq			Pyridine pH 2–12	Slow N 14 days (55°)	Nitrogen atmosphere No exchange on conversion	(24) (59, 32, 155)
						to cobalarnins	

ISOTOPIC TRACERS IN INORGANIC CHEMISTRY

	References	and a second of the second	(~	a contract of the second se						~		~		_		_	~	~	_		~	~		-	-	263)	_	~				_		
			- (428	(198	(200	(428		308		(308)	6	(308	- (308		- (308.		(308)		(263	(263	(100	(263)	(100	(212)	(100	-	(212)	[2][2]	(212	(263	(212	(201	. (263)		. (263	(263	606)
	Remarks		No exchange with P*04 ⁵	(199); 5Zilard-Chaimers		Szilard-Chalmers		Precipitate forms on mixin	increased rate at low pll	Extraction separation	Precipitation separation	Measurable at high μ	Measurable at pH 7 (de-	composition) and high μ	Measurable at pH 4 (do-	composition) and high µ	$t_{1} = 5$ hr. $(\mu = 2.4)$								C 1 min. (dioxane); C 5 min.	(ethanol)			C 48 hr. (pyridine)				NH ₃ induces complete ex-	change	NH3 induces complete ex- change	C	Γ.
pa	Exchange Rate		Slow	Slow	N 1.5 hr. (hot)	Slow		N 1 min.		C 30 sec.	C 3 min.	C 25 sec.	C 30 sec.		N 9 min.		46 hr.		C 5 min.	C 5 min.	C 5 min.	C 5 min.	C 5 min.	C 5 min.	C 5 min.		C IU min.	~ H ur.	~ 20 hr.	N I hr.	C 5 min.	N 3 days (140°)	N 1 hr.		N I hr.	C 5 min.	E 10 ///
ABLE 10-Continu	nditions	Cobalt group-Concluded					Nickel group	pH 1 -8		pII 6.5-10.5	pH 10	0.3 M NH ₃	pII 11		pH 6-8, 0.007 potassi-	UIII OXANAUC	pH 10, 0.01 potassium	tartrate	Methyl cellosolve	Methyl cellosolve	Pyridine	Methyl cellosolve	Pyridine	Methyl cellosolve	Pyridine		memyi cellosolve Decidine		Methyl cellosolve	Acetone	Pyridine/methyl ccl- losolve	Xylene	Acetone	-	Acctone		
5	Exchange Co			0.01	0.009			0.006		0.02	0.05	0.005	0.005		0.00/		0.005							0.005			0.005	· · · ·			0.005						10 0-100 0
	<u> </u>			0.010	0.005			0.007		0.005	0.05	0.005	0.005		0.007	200	0.005							0.005		2007 0	0.005	P00.0			0.005						0.005-0.05
	Species		Rh ³⁺ aq	Br*-	Ir(py)2Cl4	Ir ^{s+}		Ni*2+		C*N	C*N-	$Ni^*(NH_3)_x^{x_1}$	N1*(en) ^{2⁺}		N1 ⁷ (0Xalate) ^{2⁴}		N1 ^(tartrate)		NIT (CIOA)2	NIT(CIU4)2	(M-C)	NI*(CIU4)2	(W*S-HO)	Ni*Cl2	(Me-S*M)	MT:4C1	NI-CI-		NIT(CIUI):		Ni*Cl2	Sulfur*	Ni*(ClO ₁)2			Ni ^{#2†}	en.
	Exchanging		$\mathrm{Rh}(\mathrm{en})_{3^{3^{+}}}$	IrBre*	Ir*Cl62-	Ir(en)3 ³⁺		Ni(CN)₄ ^{≠−}		Ni(CN)42	Ni(CN)42	Ni(CN)4	NI*(CN)+		NI(CN)4		NI(CN) ⁴ 2	17 He (1) AV	N1(5)2-21120	NI(SM) ₂	NI(SM)3	NI(OH-SM)2	Ni(OH-SM)2	Ni(Me-SM) ₂	$Ni(Me-SM)_2$	ALCONTY.	Ni(MooC).		$NI(Me, Bu-G)_2$	INIME, DZ-U/2	Ni(HQ)2	Ni(Etr-DC) ₂	Ni(Prr-DC)2	Nifess and DC	2/1/180-BIH2-021	$Ni(en)_{3}^{2+}$	Ni(en) ₂ ²⁺

814

D. R. STRANKS AND R. G. WILKINS
				and see the second s			annan a subha a' shirtiga a santa a sangarin siyuk kan
$Ni(tetrameen)_{2}$	Ni ²⁺ Niaq	0.005	0.015		67 min.	К	(476)
Ni(dipy) ²⁺	Ni*2-				5 min.		(263)
Ni(AE)	Ni*Cl ₂	0.005	0.005	Pyridine	N 2 days	N (methyl cellosolve)	(212)
Ni(SE)	Ni*(CIO4)2			Methyl cellosolve	N 2 days	N (pyridine and ethyl cello-	(212, 263)
						solve)	
Ni(SE)	S*E			Pyridine	N 24 hr.		(100)
Ni(30Mc-SE)	Ni*Cl ₂	0.005	0.005	Methyl cellosolve	N 2 hr.		(212)
Ni(40H-SE)	Ni*CI ₈	0.005	0.005	Methyl cellosolve	N 2 hr.		(212)
Ni(ST)	Ni*Cl ₂	0.005	0.005	Methyl cellosolve	C 5 min.		(212)
Ni(30Me-ST)	Ni*Cl ₂	0.005	0.005	Methyl cellosolve	C 5 min.		(212)
Ni(SD)	Ni*Cl ₂	0.005	0.005	Methyl cellosolve	C 5 min.		(212)
Ni(SP)	Ni*Cl ₂	0.005	0.005	Methyl cellosolve	N 44 hr.	N pyridine	(212)
Ni(SP)	S*P			Pyridine	N 90 hr.		(100)
Ni*(EDTA) ²⁻	Ni ^{*2+}	0.002	0.002	0.2-9.6	C 1 min.; N 24 hr.	K; complex pH dependence of rate	(309)
- UNDIPA	C*N-	0.05	0.05	H 10			(0)
DdC1.2					C o mun. Fact		(3) (108)
PdBr.	Br*	_			Fast		(198)
Pd(NH*).	н*О	0.07	F TOPE	- H & B	190 min (0°)	K	(10)
b/Erririn r	0.211			pH 7.7	13 min. (0°)	X	(41)
Pt(CN*)42-	CN⁺-	0.04	0.16		~1 min.		(202)
Pt(SCN),*	S*CN-				Fast		(198)
Pt(SCN) ⁶²⁻	S*CN-				Fast		(198)
PtCl42-	CI+-	0.004 - 0.017	0.06-0.27		13.2-15.3 hr.	K; PtCl ₃ (H ₂ O) initially ab-	(195, 390, 202)
		1				sent	
		0.004-0.017	0.01-1.0		4–19 hr.	K; PtCla(H2O) present in	(195)
						cquilibrium concentration (2-60%)	
PtBr42-	Br*-	0.05	0.20		~ 6 miu.	Rute depends on "aging time": see 195	(198, 202, 203)
Pt1.2-	I⊷	0.1	0.4		~4 nin.		(202)
PtCl ⁶²⁻	C 1 *-	0.02	0.005	pH 1.5	Few seconds	K; P; increased by PtCl4 ²⁻ ; domaged by PtCl4 ²⁻ ;	(390)
	-*12	0.000			60in (50°)	altrolat for morearism	(001)
Pt*Cle-	CI cis-Pt(NII3)2CI4	0.008	0.014		N in hot during recrys-		(200)
					tallization		
Pt*Cl62	PtCl.2	0.005	0.005	pH 2	$\sim 1 \mathrm{hr}.$	P; t ₄ < 30 sec.	(390, 200)
PtBre ^z	151 D_*-	0.19	0.35		C 30 mm. (100')		(199)
PtIs ²⁻		0.005		~	30 min. (18°)		(201)
Pt(N11,*),2+	0°H	0.14	Excess	p.H.5.5	35 min.	K	(10)
				-			

ISOTOPIC TRACERS IN INORGANIC CHEMISTRY

	References		(313)	(126)	(150, 33)	(200)	(408)	(142)	(142)	(144)	(142)	(142)	s (142)		(142)	(407)	(414)	(313)	(391, 392)	(455)		(378)	(313)	(296)	d (296)	(28)	(28)	(28)	(28)	(383)	(XZ)
	Remarks											K: E = 23	Also from Szilard-Chalmer	data (242)											Also benzoylacetonate an nicotinylacetonate	Also aqueous alcohol (315)					
per	Exchange Rate		C 2 min. Fast	Fast	Fast	Measurable (?)	C 2 min.	C 15 sec.	C 15 sec.	1_{3} \sim 10 800.	1 min.	2.1–26 hr.	9 hr. (50°)		37 hr.	N 48 hr.	Fast	C 2 min.	$0.77-4.2 \text{ min.} (0^{\circ})$	C 30 sec.		C 2 min.	C 2 min.	C 30 sec.	C 30 sec. (0°)	C 30 sec.	C 30 sec.	C 30 sec.	C 30 acc.	C 6 sec. (0°)	() 30 Rec.
ABLE 10-Continu	onditions	Copper group	pH 9.8				Chloroform	Pyridine	Puridine	ammint I	Pvridine	Pvridine	Pyridine	:	Pyridine	80% acetone	0.5 HCI	pH 10.3	pH 0-3	B.P'-Dichlorodiethyl ether	Zinc group	0.4 HCIO4	pH 10.3	Pyridine	Pyridine	Pyridine	Pyridine	Pyridine	Pyridine	:	Pvridne
L	Exchange Co		0.026		Excess			0.008	0.005	0.002	0.008	0.0015-0.015	0.008		0.004			0.026	0.003 - 0.076	0.016		Excess	0.026	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.16	0.01
			0.026		0.7			0.008	0.008	0.000	0.008	0.0015-0.015	0.008		0.001			0.026	0.003-0.012	0.002		0.2	0.026	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	10.01
	pecies		C*N- Br*-	Br+	H_2^*O	Cu ^{*++}	Cu*Ac2	Cu*Ac2	CurAc2	Cu Aci	Cu*Ac2	Cu*Ac2	Cu*Ae2		Cu*Ac2	Cu**	Cu_{aq}^{*2+}	C*N-	CI+	HCI		H_2O^*	C*N-	Zn*Ac2	Zn*Ac2	Zn*Ac2	Zn*Ac2	$\mathrm{Zn}^{*}\mathrm{Ac}_{2}$	Zn*Ac2	cu*	Zn^*Ac_2
	Exchanging S		Cu (CN)2 ⁻ Cu Bra-	CuBra-	Cu(NH ₃) ₄ ⁺⁺	Cu(glycine)2	Cu(AA)2	$Cu(S)_2$	Cu(SM)2 Cu(ML SM)	Cu(me-am/2 Cu(an)-2+	Cu(SN)	Cu(SE)	Cu(SP)		Cu(AE)	Cu(PP)	$Cu(S_2O_3)_2$	$Ag(CN)z^{-}$	AuCle	HAuCl		Zu ²⁺	$\operatorname{Zn}(\operatorname{CN})_{4^{2^{-}}}$	Zn(SCN)2	$Zn(AA)_2$	$Z_{II}(DT)_{1}$	$Zn(HQ)_2$	$Zn(\Lambda)_2$	$Zn(Me-SM)_z$	$Zn(en)_{3}^{2+}$	Zn(SE)

816

D. R. STRANKS AND R. G. WILKINS

							And the second se
Zn(SP)	7n•Aa.	0.001	0.001	Duridino	C 30 son (0')		(38)
Zn(AE)	Zn*Aca	0.01	0.01	Duriding	C 30 and		(206)
Zn(EDTA) ²⁻	Zn *2+			n J 1.11	C 1 min		(458)
Zn(P)	Zn*Ac2	0.002	0.002	Pyridine	N 35 days		(28)
$\mathrm{Hg}_{\mathrm{aq}}^{2+}$	H20*				Not rapid		(45)
Hg(CN)+	Hg*++	0.007-0.03	0.001 - 0.02	рН 2.6	15-88 min.	K; in presence of equilib-	(487)
						rium amount of Hg(CN) ²	
Hg(CN) ₂	C*N-	0.05	0.05	pH 10	C 15 sec.		(6)
Hg(CN),2-	C*N-	0.02	0.02	pH 10	C 5 min.		(6)
HgCl ₂	01+	0.001	0.002		C 1 min.		(391)
IIgCl4 ²⁻	CI+-	0.3	1.0		C 1 min.		(391)
$HgBr_2$	Br_2^{\bullet}	0.002	0.001	CS ₂	C 2 min. (<0°)		(137)
HgIs	-				C 2.5 min.		(380)
HgI. ²⁻	I*-	0.0005	0.3		C 30 sec.		(125, 380)
IIg(en)2 ²⁺	en*	0.006	0.01		C 6 sec. (0°)		(383)
+		-	-				and the second se
en = ethylenedian	ine		SH = S	alicylaldehyde			
pn = propylenedia	mine		$\omega = HNN$	-nitroso-g-naphthol			
dien – diethylenetri	amine		HQH = h	ydroxyquinoline			
tetrameen $= 2, 3$ -dimethyl	-2, 3-diaminobutane		$\mathbf{q} = 0\mathbf{q}$	orphyrin			
phen $= 1, 10$ -phenant	hroline		PP = p	heophytin			
dipy = 2, 2' - dipyridy	ļ		Ac = a	cetate			
tripy = $2, 2', 2''$ -terpy	ridine		P = 1	hthalocyanin			
AAH = acctylacetone			X = 4	4'-dicarbethoxy-3, 3', 5, 5	'-tetramethyldipyrromethe	ane.	
$EDTA \cdot H_{4} = ethylenedian$	ninetetrancetic acid						

ISOTOPIC TRACERS IN INORGANIC CHEMISTRY



TABLE 10-Concluded

D. R. STRANKS AND R. G. WILKINS

asterisks. Within a periodic group the exchanging species are arranged in order of increasing complexity. The species indicated are not necessarily those existing under the conditions of the exchange (e.g., pH will govern the predominant form).

Exchange conditions: Columns 3 and 4 indicate the concentration (in normalities or molarities) of the exchanging species listed in columns 1 and 2, respectively. Column 5 refers to any other important condition(s) used in the experiment. Unless otherwise indicated, all experiments were performed in water.

Exchange rate: Times listed in column 6 denote the exchange half-times. The letter N preceding a listed time signifies that ≤ 5 per cent exchange occurred at the highest concentration and temperature conditions. The letter C preceding a listed time indicates ≥ 95 per cent exchange occurred (usually within the separation time) at the lowest concentration and temperature conditions. All temperatures refer to 20–30°C., or room temperature, unless otherwise specified.

Szilard-Chalmers evidence of bond lability (fast or slow) is given only when no direct exchange results are available. When no quantitative information is available the rate is denoted simply by "fast" or "slow."

Remarks: Included in this column is an indication that a kinetic study was accomplished (K), that an activation energy for a simple mechanism was obtained (E = x kcal./mole), or that the exchange was photosensitive (P).

References: When more than one reference is given, then the conditions of the exchange refer to the first reference and, unless otherwise stated, the results of the other studies confirm the general conclusions of the first.

VII. ISOTOPE EFFECTS IN EXCHANGE REACTIONS

In many isotopic exchange studies it is assumed that the reaction rate of the labelled molecule is identical with that of the "parent" molecule. However, the fact that isotopes such as D, N¹⁵, and O¹⁸ can be concentrated by various chemical techniques is but one practical example of significant differences in isotopic reaction rates. The purpose of this section will be to examine the expected magnitude of such "isotope effects" and the limitations thereby imposed on quantitative exchange studies. It will also be indicated how a knowledge of isotope effects can be applied to the elucidation of the structure of exchanging molecules. Unless special new principles are involved, no mention will be made of the isotope effects exhibited by deuterium- or tritium-labelled molecules, since thorough reviews on both types of reactions have been recently published (193, 475).

A. THEORETICAL TREATMENT

The calculation of isotope effects in exchange reactions can be placed on a relatively firm theoretical basis. Consider the general exchange reaction:

$$aA + bB^* \rightleftharpoons aA^* + bB$$

where the superscript * denotes the heavier (normally the labelling) isotope. We may write the equilibrium constant of this reaction as:

$$K = \left(\frac{\mathbf{A}^*}{\mathbf{A}}\right)^a \middle/ \left(\frac{\mathbf{B}^*}{\mathbf{B}}\right)^b \tag{26}$$

the quantities (A^*/A) and (B^*/B) being the specific activities (or per cent atom abundance) of A and B. In most reactions the equilibrium constant should be unity if no differences in isotopic reaction rates occur; i.e., at exchange equilibrium the specific activities of the A and B molecular species should be equal. Conversely, a deviation of K from unity will indicate the existence of an isotope effect. For comparison purposes, an isotope effect will be defined by the relation:

Percentage isotope effect =
$$100(K - 1)$$
 (27)

the chemical exchange equations being always written such that K > 1; e.g., if K = 1.0775 then a "7.75 per cent isotope effect" will be said to be operative in the exchange system.

From statistical mechanics, equation 26 may be written in the form:

$$K = \left(\frac{Q_{A^{\bullet}}}{Q_{A}}\right)^{a} / \left(\frac{Q_{B^{\bullet}}}{Q_{B}}\right)^{b}$$
(28)

where the Q's indicate the total partition functions of the indicated molecules. The equilibrium constant for an isotopic exchange reaction may thus be derived directly from the calculated partition-function ratios for the two pairs of isotopic molecules. The partition-function ratio for two isotopic molecules is expressed rigidly by the equation:

$$\frac{Q^*}{Q} = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma^*} \left(\frac{M^*}{M}\right)^{3/2} \sum_i e^{-E_i^*/kT} / \sum_i e^{-E_i/kT}$$
(29)

where σ , σ^* are the symmetry numbers of the isotopic molecules, M, M^* are the molecular weights, and E_i , E_i^* refer to the energy of the i^{th} state of the respective molecules. All these energies are calculated relative to the same minimum of the potential energy curve, the shape of which is assumed to be the same for the two isotopic molecules. Expressing the total partition function as a product of the separate translational, vibrational, and rotational partition functions (since a ratio is only involved, the electronic partition function can be neglected for all but hydrogen isotopes) and employing the Teller–Redlich product theorem, Urey (459) has shown that equation 29 reduces to the form for a polyatomic molecule:

$$f = \left(\frac{Q^*}{Q}\right) \left(\frac{m}{m^*}\right)^{3/2n} = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma^*} \prod_i \frac{u_i^*}{u_i} \cdot \frac{e^{-u_i^*/2}}{e^{-u_i^*/2}} \cdot \frac{1 - e^{-u_i}}{1 - e^{-u_i^*}}$$
(30)

where $u_i = hc\omega_i/kT$ and ω_i is the frequency (strictly the zero-order frequency) of the *i*th vibrational mode of the appropriate molecule,

 $m, m^* =$ the atomic weights of the isotopic atoms,

n = the number of equivalent exchangeable atoms or groups,

and f is conventionally called the "isotopic partition-function ratio." For a diatomic molecule f is given by the analogous equation:

$$f = \left(\frac{Q^*}{Q}\right) \left(\frac{m}{m^*}\right)^{3/2n} = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma^*} \frac{u^*}{u} \frac{e^{-u^*/2}}{e^{-u/2}} \frac{1 - e^{-u}}{1 - e^{-u^*}}$$
(30a)

The equilibrium constant of the general exchange reaction may then be written as simply:

$$K = f_{\rm A}/f_{\rm B} \tag{31}$$

Whereas the calculation of the total partition function of a single molecule is quite complex, the estimation of an isotopic partition-function ratio is comparatively straightforward. The expressions for f do not require a knowledge of moments of inertia but simply the various vibrational frequencies of the two isotopic molecules. For the purposes of numerical calculation, equations 30 and 30a may be simplified into more convenient forms. Urey (459) has defined the quantities:

$$\chi_i = (u_i + u_i^*)/4 \tag{32}$$

$$\delta_i = (u_i - u_i^*)/2 \tag{33}$$

and equation 30 becomes for all isotopes except those of hydrogen

$$\ln f = \ln (\sigma/\sigma^*) + \sum_i \ln (u_i^*/u_i) + \sum_i \coth \chi_i \delta_i$$
(34)

with an analogous equation for diatomic molecules. Bigeleisen and Mayer (55) quote an alternative expanded form of equation 30 such that:

$$f = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma^*} \left(1 + \sum G(u_i) \Delta u_i \right) \tag{35}$$

where

$$\Delta u_i = u_i - u_i^* \tag{36}$$

and

$$G(u_i) = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{u_i} + \frac{1}{e^{u_i} - 1}$$
(37)

Numerical values of the function $G(u_i)$ are listed for values of u_i varying from 0.00 to 25.00 at intervals of 0.10.

The deduction of equation 30 is based on several assumptions. The assumptions that the vibrational molecular motions are harmonic and that there is no interaction between vibration and rotation are open to some criticism, as is the use of observed fundamentals (ν) rather than zero-order frequencies (ω). When sufficient data are available to make allowance for such effects, the error incurred by the assumptions is not as great as might be imagined; e.g., at 273°K. the corrected f values for C¹⁴-substituted carbon monoxide and hydrogen cyanide are 1.2162 and 1.2805 compared to the uncorrected values of 1.2155 and 1.2815 (440). In other molecules the errors may be greater, but the lack of suitable data precludes correction for such effects especially for polyatomic molecules. In the case of exchanges between gases and liquids, neglect of the relative vapor pressures of the isotopic compounds may lead to errors of up to 1 per cent in the calculated exchange equilibrium constants (459). Nevertheless it will be appreciated that because a ratio of f values is employed in the calculation of exchange equilibrium constants, errors, which may be quite large for single molecules, tend to cancel out. Under normal temperature conditions (0–100°C.) the uncertainties enumerated may only amount to an error of a fraction of a per cent in the final exchange equilibrium constants. This is well within experimental errors encountered in most tracer experiments.

Except for deuterated molecules, the vibrational frequencies for isotopically substituted molecules are frequently unknown and must be calculated from the frequencies of the normal molecules. For any diatomic molecule, the harmonic oscillator approximation relates the vibrational frequencies to the reduced masses (μ) of the isotopic molecules thus:

$$\omega_e^*/\omega_e = \sqrt{\mu/\mu^*} = \rho \tag{38}$$

and for the anharmonic coefficients:

$$\omega_e^* \chi_e^* = \rho^2 \omega_e \chi_e \tag{39}$$

always assuming the force constants for the isotopic molecules to be identical. For polyatomic molecules, the Teller-Redlich product rule (236) gives the product of the ω^*/ω values for all vibrations of a given symmetry type as a function of the masses of the atoms and the geometrical structure of the molecule. When more than one genuine vibration belongs to a particular symmetry type, then insufficient independent equations are available for calculating separate frequencies. Recourse must then be made to normal vibration equations, of which the valence-force approximation is most suitable. For instance, the stretching frequencies (ν_1 , ν_3) of a linear XYZ molecule (e.g., HCN) are given by:

$$4\pi^{2}(\nu_{1}^{2}+\nu_{s}^{2}) = k_{1}\left(\frac{1}{m_{s}}+\frac{1}{m_{y}}\right) + k_{2}\left(\frac{1}{m_{y}}+\frac{1}{m_{s}}\right)$$
(40)

$$16\pi^4 \nu_1^2 \nu_3^2 = \frac{m_x + m_y + m_z}{m_x m_y m_z} k_1 k_2 \tag{41}$$

If the molecule is isotopically substituted on atom Y, then the isotopic frequencies will be given by:

$$\frac{\nu_{1i}^{2} + \nu_{2i}^{2}}{\nu_{1}^{2} + \nu_{2}^{2}} = \frac{k_{1}\left(\frac{1}{m_{x}} + \frac{1}{m_{y}^{i}}\right) + k_{2}\left(\frac{1}{m_{y}^{i}} + \frac{1}{m_{z}}\right)}{k_{1}\left(\frac{1}{m_{x}} + \frac{1}{m_{y}}\right) + k_{2}\left(\frac{1}{m_{y}} + \frac{1}{m_{z}}\right)}$$
(42)

$$\frac{\nu_{1i}^2 \nu_{3i}^2}{\nu_1^2 \nu_3^2} = \frac{m_y}{m_y^i} \cdot \frac{m_x + m_y^i + m_z}{m_x + m_y + m_z}$$
(43)

where k_1 and k_2 , the stretching force constants for the X--Y and Y-Z bonds, are assumed to be equal for the isotopic molecules and *i* denotes the isotopic species. For more complex molecules the isotopic frequencies will be a function of atomic masses, force constants, and bond angles. In actual practice the computation of the isotopic frequencies is often the most time-consuming part of

the calculation of f values. Whilst normal vibration equations never completely describe the vibrations of a polyatomic molecule, they are quite accurate in estimating isotopic spectral shifts.

The magnitude of an exchange equilibrium constant depends on the relative magnitudes of the isotopic partition-function ratios (f) for the two molecular species. Inspection of equation 30 shows that the value of f for a pair of isotopic molecules depends on (a) the ratio of symmetry numbers σ/σ^* and (b) the spectral shifts on isotopic substitution. The ratio σ/σ^* is always unity if the molecule contains either one exchanging atom or several structurally equivalent atoms all undergoing exchange. Since this situation is encountered in all normal isotopic exchange reactions, the symmetry number ratio may be ignored in subsequent discussions. The ratio σ/σ^* differs from unity only when homomolecular ("randomizing" or "scrambling") exchange reactions are studied. In practice this only arises with enriched stable isotopes and tritium. For example, in the exchange system:

$$\mathrm{CO}_2^{18} + \mathrm{CO}_2^{16} \rightleftharpoons 2\mathrm{CO}^{18}\mathrm{O}^{16}$$

the equilibrium constant will be given by

$$K = \frac{\sigma_{18}\sigma_{16}}{\sigma_{18,16}^2} \times \frac{Q_{18,16}^2}{Q_{18}Q_{16}}$$
(44)

The symmetry number of a molecule may be defined as "the number of indistinguishable positions into which the molecule can be turned by simple rigid rotation" (482). Two such positions exist for the O¹⁶—C—O¹⁶ and O¹⁸—C—O¹⁸ molecules but only one for O¹⁶—C—O¹⁸. The symmetry number ratio will then be $2 \times 2/1^2 = 4$. Furthermore, to a very good approximation the partition function of a molecule such as CO¹⁸O¹⁶ is the geometric mean of those for CO¹⁸₂ and CO¹⁶₂ (the "rule of the geometric mean" (53)). The expected exchange equilibrium constant would be 4; the accurate calculated value is 3.9990 at 0°C. (459). Similarly for N¹⁵ homomolecular reactions, e.g.,

$$N_2^{14} + N_2^{15} \rightleftharpoons 2N^{14}N^{15}$$

the expected value of 4 is very close to that calculated of 3.9918 at 0°C. (459). Regardless of its value, the ratio of symmetry numbers cannot lead to isotopic enrichment since it merely represents the relative probabilities of forming symmetrical and unsymmetrical molecules. Therefore isotope effects in exchange reactions must arise from effect (b).

The magnitude of isotopic spectral shifts (and hence f) is determined by the form and size of the molecular vibrational frequencies, the temperature, the mass difference between labelling isotope and parent nuclide, and the atomic weight of the element undergoing isotopic substitution. For compounds of a given element the value of f at a given temperature will be greater the higher the vibrational frequencies in the molecule. Table 11 lists typical data for the C¹⁴ exchange of the cyanogen halides with free cyanide ion (440). It is seen that the isotope effect steadily decreases with decreasing vibrational frequencies. Therefore sub-

Halide	2 1	¥2*	78	f273	100 (K - 1)
	cm1	cm. ⁻¹	λ		-
$ClC^{12}N$	729	397	2201	1.2992	9.02
$ClC^{14}N$	718	378	2102		
BrC ¹² N	5 80	368	2187	1.2824	7.61
$BrC^{14}N$	567	352	2091		
IC ¹² N	470	321	2158	1.2650	6.15
IC14N	457	304	2066	1	1

TABLE 11 Exchange of C^{14} -cyanogen halides with cyanide ion

* ν_2 is doubly degenerate.

stantial isotopic discrimination may be anticipated in any exchange reaction between one molecule having high vibrational frequencies (strong bonds) and the other molecule having low vibrational frequencies (weak bonds). This important generalization is the basis for many applications of exchange isotope effects to chemical problems. The greatest isotope effects will occur when one of the exchanging species is an atom or a free monatomic ion of the element, for which the value of f is unity.

The value of f tends to a maximum value of $(1 + \Delta u_i/2)$ at low temperatures (equation 35), this value being simply determined by the difference in zero-point energies for the two isotopic molecules. At very high temperatures the value of Δu_i becomes vanishingly small and no isotope effect occurs. A typical variation in an exchange equilibrium constant with temperature is for the system:

$C^{13}O + O$	$C^{12}O_2$;	\rightleftharpoons C ¹³	$^{3}O_{2} +$	$C^{12}O$	
$100(K-1)\dots$ °A	$9.8 \\ 273$	$\begin{array}{c} 8.6 \\ 298 \end{array}$	$5.5 \\ 400$	3.8 500	2,9 600

Bigeleisen (51) has pointed out that for several isotopes of a single element the relative isotope effects are directly proportional to the mass difference between the respective isotopes and the parent nuclide. Thus tritium isotope effects will be twice those for deuterium, and carbon-14 effects twice those for carbon-13. This can be seen from an inspection of table 12. Tudge and Thode (456) have calculated equilibrium constants for S^{34}/S^{32} exchange systems and the isotope effects for S^{35}/S^{32} exchanges; i.e., 100(K-1) will be simply 1.5 times those quoted values. Similar considerations apply to Cl³⁷/Cl³⁵ and Cl³⁸/Cl³⁵ exchanges. For all the exchange systems listed in table 12, the tracer isotope will preferentially concentrate in the first-named species of the pair.

The exchange equilibrium constants approach unity with increasing atomic weight. Fluctuations do occur in this trend, owing to the influence of additional vibrations in some compounds and to the varying vibrational frequencies among analogous compounds. It will be seen that for tracers above atomic weight 40,

Exchanging Reactants	100(K-1)	Exchanging Reactants	100(K-1)	Reference
C18O2-C12O	9.4	C ¹⁸ O ₃ ² -C ¹² O ₂	1.2	(459)
$C^{14}O_2 - C^{12}O$	18.8	C14O22C12O2	2.4	(440)
N15O2-N14O	4.0	N15O3N14O2	5.3	(422)
(CO ¹⁸) ¹ -CO ¹⁶	1.3	$(CO_{2}^{18})^{\frac{3}{2}} - (CO_{8}^{16})^{\frac{1}{2}}$	2.2	(459)
S84O2-(S82)1/8	3.4	S ^{\$4} O ₃ -S ^{\$2} O ₂	4.1	(456)
S*5O2-(S*2)1/8	5.1	S ^{\$5} O ₃ -S ³² O ₂	6.0	
C187O2-(C125)	2.7	Cl87O2-Cl85O2	1.8	(459)
$Cl^{38}O_2 - (Cl^{35}_{2})^{\frac{1}{2}}$	4.0	ClasO3-ClasO2	2.7	
- 2-		Br ⁸¹ Oa(Br ⁷⁹)	0.8	(459)
		$I_{29}O_{3} - (I_{2}^{1})^{\frac{1}{2}}$	0.28	(459)
		I181O8(I127)	0.56	•

 TABLE 12
 Some typical exchange equilibrium constants

very little isotopic discrimination is likely. Measurable isotope effects are very likely for the important elements carbon, nitrogen, oxygen, phosphorus, sulfur, and chlorine in addition to hydrogen. For carbon, nitrogen, and oxygen exchange systems, effects up to a maximum of 20 per cent are possible provided of course that the exchange in a given system proceeds at a convenient rate. Isotopic partition-function ratios have been calculated for isotopes of hydrogen, lithium, boron (459), carbon (440, 459), nitrogen (422), oxygen (459), sulfur (456), and chlorine, bromine, and iodine (459).

B. LIMITATIONS IMPOSED BY ISOTOPE EFFECTS IN EXCHANGE REACTIONS

The general first-order exchange law (Section II) was first derived by McKay (325), neglecting the possibility of isotope effects. If isotope effects do occur (218), then the exchange still proceeds according to an accurate first-order rate law provided the tracer concentration is negligible. For simple bimolecular exchange mechanisms, the first-order rate law holds to within 1 per cent for even 100 per cent abundance of "tracer" isotope if the isotope effect is less than 2 per cent (77). For an isotope effect of 10 per cent the first-order law is only followed up to 20 per cent tracer abundance. In the case of a dissociative type of mechanism the first-order law is again followed accurately for isotope effects up to 10 per cent and tracer concentrations up to 10 per cent abundance. For tracer concentrations above these limits significant departures from the simple exchange law are possible. Apart from deuterium, such effects are only probable in highly enriched samples of C¹³, N¹⁵, or O¹⁸.

Although most exchange reactions will therefore be adequately described by a first-order law, neglect of isotope effects can introduce serious errors in the deduction of rate constants from kinetic studies. The observed exchange rate is that for the tracer, but the purpose of an exchange study is to determine the exchange rate for the unlabelled "parent" compound. Harris (218) has shown that for an isotopic exchange proceeding via a bimolecular mechanism and exhibiting significant isotope effect, the rate law is:

$$R = \frac{-2.303}{t} \frac{\epsilon ab}{\epsilon a + b} \log_{10}(1 - F)$$
(45)

(compared with equation 1). The isotope effect factor ϵ is identified with the exchange equilibrium constant, K. The rate of the exchange should therefore be calculated from the measured exchange half-time thus:

$$R = \frac{0.693}{t_{\rm i}} \frac{\epsilon ab}{\epsilon a + b} \tag{46}$$

Furthermore it is common practice to calculate x_{∞} from the simple equation 4. If an isotope effect is operative, the tracer will preferentially concentrate in one of the exchange species. Under these conditions the appropriate expression is:

$$x_{\infty} = \epsilon b x_0 / \epsilon a + b \tag{47}$$

for BX* initially labelled.

If isotope effects were neglected, the exchange rate (R') calculated from equation 5 would obviously be in error, this error varying with the concentration ratio f = a/b. The relation between the apparent rate R' and the true rate (R), i.e., the exchange rate of the unlabelled molecules, is:

$$R'/R = 1 - \left(\frac{\epsilon - 1}{\epsilon}\right) \left(\frac{1}{f + 1}\right) \tag{48}$$

For the isotopes of the important elements carbon, nitrogen, and oxygen, an isotope effect of 10 per cent is quite possible; i.e., $\epsilon = 1.10$. For f = 0.1, the error in R' is 8.3 per cent; for f = 1, 4.5 per cent; and for f = 10, 0.8 per cent. Hence if the existence of an isotope effect is suspected in an exchange yet cannot be measured, the true rate can be determined by exchanging a high concentration of an unlabelled reactant with a low concentration of labelled reactant. However, the more satisfactory procedure is always to calculate or measure the exchange equilibrium constant.

A knowledge of isotope exchange equilibrium constants is essential in precision mass-spectrometric analyses depending on equilibration of one compound with another. A notable example is the analysis of H_2O^{18} by equilibration with carbon dioxide (110), for which the equilibrium constant is 1.047 at 25°C.

The occurrence of isotope effects in exchange reactions is an important cause of variations in the isotopic abundances of chemicals derived from natural sources. A knowledge of the equilibrium constants is of substantial importance in drawing conclusions as to the previous history of samples but such geochemical topics will not be pursued further in the present review.

C. EXPERIMENTAL EXCHANGE EQUILIBRIUM CONSTANTS

An exchange equilibrium constant is most readily determined by the measurement of the equilibrium isotopic composition of the two exchanging molecular species (equation 26). Since isotopic equilibrium is reached in eight or ten exchange half-times, this method presumes a knowledge of the exchange rate. It should be appreciated that these equilibrium measurements demand high precision in isotopic assays. Frequently the isotope effect is not greater than 10 per cent, a value which is becoming comparable to the experimental errors especially for radiotracers. Moreover it is important that the separation procedure does not disturb the isotopic compositions of the two molecular species. A system in which such effects are serious is the C¹⁴ exchange between cyanogen iodide and cyanide ion in dioxane solutions (261), for which the calculated equilibrium constant is 1.052 at 30°C. (440). The observed equilibrium constant is the ratio of the specific activities of the cyanogen iodide fraction to that of the cyanide-ion fraction; the following results were obtained at 30.6°C.:

K Per cent dioxane	$\begin{array}{c} 1.08 \pm 0.02 \\ 0 \end{array}$	$\frac{1.15\pm0.02}{20}$	$\begin{array}{r}1.18\pm0.03\\28\end{array}$	$1.28 \pm 0.02 \\ 40$	$1.29 \pm 0.03 \\ 60$
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					

In dioxane solution the rate of the exchange is very fast compared to the rate of precipitation of cyanide ion as silver cyanide. It was postulated that there was an isotope effect in the precipitation reaction and that the system continuously equilibrated with the remaining cyanide. Under these conditions the observed equilibrium constant will vary with the relative concentrations of cyanogen iodide and cyanide ion.

Frequently secondary decomposition reactions become serious when an exchange reaction must be equilibrated for some ten half-times. Melander (328) has considered the exchange

$$AX + BX^* \stackrel{\alpha}{\underset{\beta}{\leftarrow}} AX^* + BX$$

in which α is the isotope effect for the forward reaction and β is that for the reverse reaction; $\alpha/\beta = K$. If y be the isotopic composition of BX (y_0 at t = 0) and z that for AX (z = 0 at t = 0), then it may be shown that:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left(\frac{y}{y_0}\right)_{t=0} = -\frac{\alpha R}{a} \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left(\frac{z}{y_0}\right)_{t=0} = +\frac{\alpha R}{b} \tag{49}$$

Thus the instantaneous time rate of change of the activities in both fractions at zero time should provide a measure of αR , where R is the rate of exchange of the unlabelled molecules. If AX is initially labelled, then βR could be similarly measured. Whilst this proposal is theoretically sound it would be extremely difficult to realize in practice except where large isotope effects occur. No experimental attempts have yet been reported.

Another method of estimating the isotope effect is to measure exchange rates separately with two isotopes of the same element: e.g., T and D; C¹⁴ and C¹³. In both these examples the ratio of exchange rates for the two isotopes will be in the same ratio as the rate ratio for the lighter isotope compared to the parent isotope. Yankwich and McNamara (488) found the ratio of C¹³ to C¹⁴ rates to be 1.038 \pm 0.028 for exchange of carbonate ion with carbonato-bis-(ethylenediamine)cobalt(III), thereby indicating the probable absence of any isotope effect.

With stable isotopes especially, exchange reactions may be conducted in a cascade or multistage system, thereby amplifying small isotope effects up to

considerable overall separation factors. For instance, an overall N^{15} enrichment of 2.5 was achieved with the system:

$$N^{15}O(g) + HN^{14}O_3(aq) \rightleftharpoons N^{14}O(g) + HN^{15}O_3(aq)$$

although the equilibrium constant for a single stage was only 1.045 (424). The preparation of 99.8 per cent N¹⁵ has been recently achieved using this exchange system (425). Similarly a separation factor of 3.0 was achieved by multistage exchange of N¹⁵O with nitrogen dioxide (423). Repetitive exchange between gaseous chlorine and aqueous chloride ion yielded an overall Cl³⁷/Cl³⁵ separation of 1.048 or an equilibrium constant of approximately 1.004 with the Cl³⁷ concentrating in the gas phase (409).

Urey (459) has summarized many exchange systems in which a direct comparison of calculated and observed isotope effects is possible; within the rather large experimental error, reasonable agreement is found. More recently the equilibrium constant for the β -induced exchange

$H_2 + T_2 \rightleftharpoons 2HT$

has been measured (321) as 2.87 ± 0.06 at 28° C., compared with the theoretical value of 2.57 (50, 269, 459). The significant difference was attributed either to the higher effective temperature in the electron beam of the mass spectrometer or to the fact that an equilibrium in a radiation field (in this case the tritium particles) may differ from the thermodynamic equilibrium constant. The latter point is one of considerable interest and merits closer attention. A similar effect has been observed (494) in the recently studied γ -ray-induced exchange between D₂O and dissolved hydrogen. The measured equilibrium constant for the system:

$\rm NH_3 + HD \rightleftharpoons \rm NH_2D + H_2$

was reported (373) as 5.26 ± 0.1 and 4.92 ± 0.1 for duplicates at 295° K.; the calculated value is 5.82 (281). The exchange equilibrium constant for the system

$$C^{14}O + COCl_2 \rightleftharpoons CO + C^{14}OCl_2$$

is adequately predicted over a 500°C. temperature range and a variety of experimental conditions (431, 433). The relatively large isotope effect, e.g., 9.9 per cent at 20°C., was shown from kinetic studies (435) to arise from a multiplication of isotope effects for the equilibrium:

$$COCI \rightleftharpoons CO + CI$$

and for the decomposition reaction:

$$\mathrm{COCl} + \mathrm{Cl}_2 \to \mathrm{COCl}_2 + \mathrm{Cl}$$

Substantial data have now accumulated on isotope effects in systems of the type:

$$Co(NH_3)_4CO_3^+ + HC^{14}O_3^- \rightleftharpoons Co(NH_3)_4C^{14}O_3^+ + HCO_3^-$$

for which Stranks and Harris (438, 439) first reported an equilibrium constant

of 0.875 at 0°C., increasing steadily to 0.900 at 30°C. The C¹⁴ tracer thus concentrated in the free carbonate ion, which is presumably the more strongly bonded state of carbon. For the corresponding ethylenediamine complex Co(en)₂CO₃⁺, Yankwich and McNamara (488) reported an equilibrium constant of 0.991 \pm 0.014 for C¹³ exchange and 0.990 \pm 0.019 for C¹⁴ exchange at 25°C. Stranks claimed (432) that a distinct isotope effect occurred in this system with K varying from 0.981 \pm 0.005 at 0°C. to 0.993 \pm 0.005 at 56°C. for C¹⁴ exchange. The difference between the magnitude of isotope effects for two apparently similar complexes has been attributed (216) to the existence of the second complex in the monodentate form



as distinct from the bidentate form for the other complex



in which considerable modification of the carbonate group could occur. In support of this view the monodentate complex $Co(NH_3)_5CO_3^+$ exhibited (432) an equilibrium constant of 1.0000 ± 0.0055 at 0°C. Saito and Lazard (411) have recently repeated the measurements on the tetrammine complex and, using unenriched C^{13} for both complex and carbonate, observed an equilibrium constant of 1.00 (compared to that expected from the C^{14} results of 0.95). However when labelled carbonate ion was used, K varied from 0.85 to 0.97 for C^{14} exchange and from 0.94 to 1.00 for C¹³ exchange. The equilibrium constant more nearly approached unity, the more the complex was "purified" by recrystallization. These observations seem compatible with the existence of a nonexchanging impurity in the carbonato complex, but Saito and Lazard could find no additional evidence for this impurity. However there appears to be some correlation between the water content of the solid carbonato complex and the expected percentage impurity (e.g., a sample for which Saito and Lazard observed K = 0.94, corresponding to an impurity of 6 per cent, has a water content of 0.90 mole of water per mole of complex; another sample having an expected impurity of 15 per cent has a water content of 0.79 mole of water per mole of complex). A provisional explanation may be that the bidentate form of the complex is not in rapid equilibrium with the monodentate form $Co(NH_3)_4CO_3 \cdot H_2O^+$ and the former is the nonexchanging entity. A variation in the equilibrium constant with temperature would thus be the gradual irreversible conversion of the bidentate form to the monodentate form. With more study, investigations of this type of system may

throw light on the actual form of existence of coördination complexes in aqueous solution.

In studying the exchange of H_2O^{18} with the first hydration sphere of cations, Feder and Taube (165) have observed distinct fractionation effects. The general equilibrium may be represented as:

$$\mathrm{H}_{2}\mathrm{O}_{h}^{16} + \mathrm{H}_{2}\mathrm{O}_{l}^{18} \rightleftharpoons \mathrm{H}_{2}\mathrm{O}_{h}^{18} + \mathrm{H}_{2}\mathrm{O}_{l}^{16}$$

for which

$$K = \frac{[\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}_h^{18}]}{[\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}_h^{16}]} / \frac{[\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}_l^{18}]}{[\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}_l^{16}]} = \frac{W_h^{18}}{W_h^{16}} / \frac{W_l^{18}}{W_l^{16}}$$
(50)

where the W's represent the number of water molecules. Setting $W_l^{18}/W_l^{16} = R$ (R_0 is the ratio with no salt present) then it follows that the fractionation factor, α , is given to a good approximation by:

$$\alpha \equiv (R_0/R - 1) = nm(k - 1)/55.5$$
(51)

where *m* is the molality of the solute and *n* the number of water molecules in the first hydration sphere. It is found that the quantity α/m is a function solely of the cation; e.g., α/m is equal for magnesium chloride and magnesium perchlorate or for sodium chloride, sodium iodide, and sodium perchlorate, but is different for magnesium chloride and sodium chloride. Moreover α is a linear function of *m* up to 12 molal solutions. A substitution inert ion such as $\operatorname{Co}(en)_3^{3+}$ has a very small value of α/m . The exchange equilibrium between the cationic hydration sphere and other water molecules is in competition with the equilibrium

$$H_2O^{16}(l) + H_2O^{18}(g) \rightleftharpoons H_2O^{18}(l) + H_2O^{16}(g)$$

which has a value of 1.0088 at 25°C. (466). When the bonding in the hydration sphere is strong, a relatively large fractionation effect will offset this opposing equilibrium and α is observed to be positive with O¹⁸ concentrating in the hydration sphere: e.g., Al⁺⁺⁺, Mg⁺⁺, Li⁺, Ag⁺. Conversely, with relatively weak bonding in the hydration sphere α becomes negative: e.g., Cs⁺, NH₄⁺, K⁺. In the case of sodium ion the two opposing fractionation effects balance and α is zero. From such measurements the product of the hydration number, n, and the exchange equilibrium constant for the hydration sphere, K, is obtained. The problem remaining is to separate this product and determine n. The most promising approach seems to be (446) the comparison of observed effects for unknown cations with that for a known cation such as Cr_{aq}^{3+} or comparing the method with a method based on the electronic absorption spectrum of colored eations of known hydration number in inert solvents (175). Direct calculation of K according to the methods outlined above is rendered very difficult because of the lack of suitable spectroscopic data.

Taube (446) has suggested that this exchange equilibrium approach may be quite useful in solvation studies in liquid ammonia in which solvent-solvent interaction is less and the lower temperatures attainable will enhance the discrimination effect. Another application would be to a study of outer-sphere association, i.e., whether a ligand actually replaces coördinated water or whether it interacts by outer-sphere association. Only when the ligand replaces the water will any marked change in the fractionation effect occur.

No difference was observed in the rates of exchange of C¹²O and C¹⁴O with carbon monoxide adsorbed on iron at -78°C. (145). However, O¹⁶ is preferentially adsorbed on copper surfaces (43), presumably owing to an exchange equilibrium between gaseous oxygen molecules and chemisorbed oxygen atoms. This isotope effect appears to be greater for the chemisorbed layer than for oxide films of 150–2500 A. thickness. Dole and Lane (134a) have found that O¹⁶ is preferentially chemisorbed on clean metal surfaces at room temperature. Steel surfaces exhibit a 2.5 per cent O¹⁶/O¹⁸ equilibrium effect, whilst the effect varies from 7.4 to 5.2 per cent for copper, depending on the extent of oxidation of the surface. The authors hope to gain information on the mechanism of the formation of oxide films from such studies.

VIII. THE TRACING OF TAGGED ATOMS THROUGH CHEMICAL REACTIONS

A. DETECTION OF BOND CLEAVAGE

The occurrence of bond fission during a chemical reaction can be easily shown by carrying out the reaction in the presence of the suspected fission fragment suitably labelled. Provided direct exchange processes are unimportant, then appearance of labelling in the product(s) supports bond cleavage during the reaction. Two simple examples will make this clear.

Inactive potassium chlorate decomposed in the presence of labelled potassium chloride at 510°C. to inactive potassium perchlorate (60, 73). This indicated that complete bond cleavage of the chlorate to chloride did not occur during the decomposition and excluded a proposed mechanism (188):

$$\text{KClO}_3 \rightarrow \text{KCl} + 30$$

 $\text{KCl} + 40 \rightarrow \text{KClO}_4$

The complex ion $Co(NH_3)_5Cl^{2+}$ reacts rapidly with a slight excess of Cr_{aq}^{2+} in perchloric acid to form $CrCl^{2+}$. If this reaction was carried out in the presence of excess Cl^{*-} , the amount of active chlorine found attached to the final $CrCl^{2+}$ was less than 0.5 per cent. This immediately confirms the suspicion that during the electron-transfer reaction the cobalt-chlorine link is not severed until after the chromium-chlorine link has almost formed, and that the activated complex must have an arrangement

permitting the chlorine transfer from cobalt to chromium without exchange with chloride ion in solution (449, 450). Neither $Co(NH_3)_5Cl^{2+}$ nor CrCl⁺ exchanges chlorine rapidly with chloride ion in aqueous solution.

By a logical extension of this method it is possible to differentiate between an intramolecular and a dissociative mechanism for a chemical reaction. Murmann and Taube (335) have investigated the $Co(NH_3)_5ONO^{2+}-Co(NH_3)_5NO^{2+}$

isomeric change using oxygen-18. This isomerization is believed to be intramolecular from the facts that the rate in solution is independent of nitrite concentration (370) and that the change occurs easily even in the solid state (12). It was observed (335) that when O^{18} -enriched $Co(NH_3)_3ONO^{2+}$ (either oxygen atom labelled separately) isomerized in the presence of normal nitrite ion in normal water at pH 5 or 6, no equilibration of oxygen occurred. The intramolecular mechanism was therefore confirmed and was pictured as:

$$[(\mathrm{NH}_3)_5\mathrm{CoONO}]^{2+} \rightarrow \left[(\mathrm{NH}_3)_5\mathrm{Co} \bigvee_{\mathrm{N}}\right]^{2+} \rightarrow [(\mathrm{NH}_3)_5\mathrm{CoNO}_2]^{2+}$$

The nitrito (or nitro) compound was converted into nitrite ion, which with sodium azide under carefully controlled conditions gave nitrous oxide (see below), which is easily purified and can be analyzed directly in a mass spectrometer. No difficulties arise from exchange between $Co(NH_3)_5ONO^{2+}$ and H_2O or between $Co(NH_3)_5NO_2^{2+}$ and nitrite ion under the conditions of the transformation.

A useful and novel way of detecting bond cleavage during chemical processes is by utilizing the phenomenon of "randomizing" (Section VII,A). The method is normally limited to stable isotopes (apart from tritium) which can be obtained in high enrichments. Using a remarkably similar approach Higginson and Sutton (239) and, independently, Cahn and Powell (89) investigated the mechanism of the oxidation of hydrazine by various oxidizing agents. N¹⁵-enriched hydrazine containing amounts of the various possible species governed by the equilibrium:

$$N^{15}H_2N^{15}H_2 + N^{14}H_2N^{14}H_2 \rightleftharpoons 2N^{15}H_2N^{14}H_2$$

$$K = \frac{[N^{15}H_2N^{14}H_2]^2}{[N^{15}H_2N^{16}H_2][N^{14}H_2N^{14}H_2]} = 4 \quad (\text{Section VII,A}) \quad (52)$$

was mixed with an excess of "ordinary" hydrazine. In the mixture the statistical equilibrium requirements will, naturally, no longer be satisfied. If in the oxidation of this mixed hydrazine no N—N bond fission occurs, then the nitrogen gas produced will have precisely the same abundance ratios 29/30 and 29/28 as those calculated for the hydrazine mixture with $29/30 \times 29/28 \neq 4$. This is the situation when the 4e oxidants IO_3^- , Tl(III), or $Fe(CN)_{6^3}^-$ are used:

$$N_2H_4 \xrightarrow{-4e} N_2$$

and this means that, for example, postulated bimolecular schemes of the following type are untenable:

$$N_2H_4 \rightarrow H_2N \rightarrow H_2N \rightarrow N \rightarrow NH_2 \rightarrow N_2H_4 + N_2$$

With other oxidants, however, less than four equivalents of oxidant per hy-

drazine molecule are used, and ammonium ion is formed as well as nitrogen. This shows that some nitrogen-nitrogen bond cleavage must occur during the oxidation, the amount of which can be estimated from the extent of approach to the statistical equilibrium ("randomization"). Although the limiting $1e^-$ oxidants of hydrazine are not attained in practice, Ce(IV) closely approaches this behavior; the evolved nitrogen is now almost 50 per cent randomized and a short extrapolation to the ideal $1e^-$ oxidant indicates that in this case half the total nitrogen came from a *single* hydrazine molecule and half from two separate cleaved hydrazine molecules. Clearly, schemes which have been suggested like

$$N_2H_4 \rightarrow NH_2NH \rightarrow NH_2NHNHNH_2 \rightarrow 2NH_3 + N_2$$

are not valid here either, because this would lead to 100 per cent randomizing. The mechanism suggested from this study involved the initial steps:

$$2H_2NNH_2 \rightarrow 2H_2NNH \rightarrow H_2N \stackrel{a}{\longrightarrow} H \stackrel{b}{\longrightarrow} H \stackrel{b}{\longrightarrow} H_2$$

Since the middle nitrogens a and b originate from different hydrazine molecules, loss of terminal NH_2 successively to form ammonia would mean that *complete* randomizing would be expected to occur:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} H_2 \overset{a}{N} & \stackrel{a}{\longrightarrow} \overset{b}{N} H & \stackrel{b}{\longrightarrow} H_2 & \rightarrow & H_3 \overset{a}{N} & + & H \overset{a}{N} & \stackrel{b}{=} \overset{b}{N} & \stackrel{b}{\longrightarrow} H_2 \\ H \overset{a}{N} & \stackrel{b}{=} \overset{b}{N} & \stackrel{b}{\longrightarrow} H_2 & \rightarrow & \overset{a}{N} & \stackrel{b}{=} \overset{b}{N} & + & \overset{b}{N} H_3 \end{array}$$

If, however, the intermediate N_3H_3 underwent tautomerism, rapid compared with the rate of loss of the final ammonia, the nitrogen evolved would in this case

$$HN^{a} = N^{b} - NH_{2} \implies H_{2}N^{a} - N^{b} = NH_{3}N^{a} + N^{b} = N$$

originate from one hydrazine molecule (H_2NNH_2) and the combined behavior would account for the observed 50 per cent randomization only.

Many oxidants such as Fe(III), V(V), and $Cr_2O_7^{2-}$, behave in an intermediate fashion and with simultaneous occurrence of the two types of reaction. In considering its isotopic composition the evolved nitrogen in these cases can be regarded as made up of nitrogen (a) unrandomized and (b) randomized. A straight-line plot of percentage randomization of nitrogen gas against per cent nitrogen gas by one-electron oxidations (from the oxidant stoichiometry) can be constructed, and the experimental results for various oxidants (using excess, to avoid isotope fractionation effects) are found to lie on this plot with the oxidants iodate ion and Ce(IV) at extreme ends of the line, thereby giving support to the dual mechanism.

Obviously such an approach is not possible by radioactive tracer methods, since a determination of "fine structure" is necessary by some physical method, such as mass spectrometry.

The randomizing of highly enriched O^{18} oxygen gas by "normal" ozone has been studied by Ogg and Sutphen (363, 364). A very thorough discussion of the

experimental methods and of the interpretation of mass-spectrometric examination of products, etc. is included in the paper describing this work (364).

So far the discussion has been concerned only with the detection of bond cleavage. Frequently when more than one mode of breakage is possible, tracer studies can detect the position of bond cleavage. Once again the principle involved here is simple. A reactant molecule is labelled at a particular position and made to react; the pure products, after separation, are analyzed for the tagged atom. To illustrate this point one might consider the reaction between nitryl chloride and nitric oxide, for which two mechanisms may be formulated. Mechanism 1 involves transfer of a chlorine atom, while mechanism 2 involves transfer of an oxygen atom:

$$O = N^{*} + NO \rightarrow O_2 N^* + C NO$$
(1)

$$\underbrace{\overset{O}{\overset{}}_{N^* \rightarrow Cl} + NO \rightarrow ON^*Cl + NO_2}_{O}$$
 (2)

If the nitryl chloride were tagged with nitrogen, then the tagged nitrogen would appear in one or other of the products depending on whether mechanism 1 or mechanism 2 applied (173). The success of such an experiment must depend on the nonexchange between nitrogen dioxide and nitrosyl chloride and between nitric oxide and nitryl chloride. Three examples taken from widely different researches will be used to illustrate the potentialities of the method.

Bunton and Llewellyn (82) have determined the actual position of bond cleavage in tracer experiments reminiscent of the classical ester-hydrolysis experiments of Polanyi and Szabo (379). The aquation and hydrolysis of acetatopentammino-cobalt(III) ion by O^{18} -enriched reagents produced acetate ion which contained very little O^{18} , proving that only cobalt-oxygen bond fission occurred:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} H_{2}O^{18} \ + \ [(NH_{3})_{5}Co\frac{!}{!}O - COCH_{3}]^{2+} \ \rightarrow \ [(NH_{3})_{5}Co(O^{18}H_{2})]^{3+} \ + \ CH_{3}COO^{-} \\ & (S_{N}1 \ or \ S_{N}2) \end{array}$$

$$O^{18}H^{-} + [(NH_3)_5Co^{-\frac{1}{2}}O - COCH_3]^{2+} \rightarrow [(NH_3)_5Co(O^{18}H)]^{2+} + CH_3COO^{-} (S_N^2) + CH$$

With trifluoroacetatopentammino-cobalt(III) ion, by contrast, there was substantially complete fission of the carbon-oxygen bond in the hydrolysis experiment (but not in the aquation experiments), leading to O^{18} -enriched trifluoroacetate (of content *about* 50 atom per cent from the water):

$$O^{18}H^- + [(NH_3)_5Co - O^{\frac{1}{4}}COCF_3]^{2+} \rightarrow [(NH_3)_5Co(OH)]^{2+} + CF_3COO^{18-} (B_{AC}^2)^{2+} + CF_3COO^{18-} +$$

The accuracy of the experiments did not allow a differentiation between two

possible bimolecular mechanisms: (I) when one of the two atoms of the isolated carboxylate will be derived from water (50 per cent), and (II) involving formation of a short-lived intermediate which will incorporate a small amount of O^{18} and lead to a carboxylate containing slightly more than 50 per cent isotopic abundance of water.

Mechanism I:

Machaniem II.

$$O^{18}H^{-} + \begin{bmatrix} CF_3 & NH_3 & NH_3 \\ -O & -Co & -NH_3 \\ 0 & NH_3 & NH_3 \end{bmatrix}^{2^+} \rightarrow \begin{bmatrix} CF_3 & NH_3 & NH_3 \\ -O & -Co & -NH_3 \\ 0 & NH_3 & NH_3 \end{bmatrix}^{+} \rightarrow \begin{bmatrix} O^{18} & -C & -Co & -NH_3 \\ 0 & NH_3 & NH_3 \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \rightarrow \begin{bmatrix} CF_3 & -C & -Co & -NH_3 \\ 0 & NH_3 & NH_3 \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \rightarrow \begin{bmatrix} CF_3 & -C & -Co & -NH_3 \\ 0 & -C & -C & -Co & -NH_3 \\ 0 & -C & -C & -Co & -NH_3 \\ 0 & -C & -C & -Co & -NH_3 \\ 0 & -C & -NH_3 & -CO & -Co & -NH_3 \\ 0 & -C & -C & -C & -Co & -NH_3 \\ 0 & -C & -C & -C & -Co & -NH_3 \\ 0 & -C & -C & -C & -Co & -NH_3 \\ 0 & -C & -C & -C & -NH_3 \\ 0 & -C & -C & -C & -Co & -NH_3 \\ 0 & -C & -C & -NH_3 & -C \\ 0 & -C & -C & -NH_3 & -C \\ 0 & -C & -C & -NH_3 & -C \\ 0 & -C & -C & -NH_3 & -C \\ 0 & -C & -C & -NH_3 & -C \\ 0 & -C & -C & -NH_3 & -C \\ 0 & -C & -C & -NH_3 & -C \\ 0 & -C & -C & -NH_3 & -C \\ 0 & -C & -C & -NH_3 & -C \\ 0 & -C & -NH_3 & -C & -C \\ 0 & -C & -NH_3 & -C & -C \\ 0 & -C & -NH_3 &$$

An experiment which throws light not only on the mode of bond fission but also on the structure of one of the reactants involves the reaction between tetrathionate and sulfite ions to form trithionate and thiosulfate ions, first studied and discussed by Christiansen and Drost-Hansen (98). If the tetrathionate structure contained a branched sulfur chain, then treatment of inactive tetrathionate with active sulfite would be expected to lead to active thiosulfate:

$$\begin{array}{cccccccc} O_3 \mathrm{SSSO}_3{}^{2-} &+& \mathrm{S*O}_3{}^{2-} &\to& O_3 \mathrm{SSSO}_3{}^{2-} &+& \mathrm{SS*O}_3{}^{2-} \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \end{array}$$

and not, as is observed, to inactive thiosulfate (98).

$$O_3SSSSO_3^{2-} + S^*O_3^{2-} \rightarrow O_3SSS^*O_3^{2-} + SSO_3^{2-}$$

This result is best explained by a nucleophilic displacement of a thiosulfate group in the linear nonbranched polythionate ion by a sulfite ion, as suggested by Foss (172). The possibility that the middle sulfur atoms are labile (as they are in certain alkyl polysulfides including diethyl tetrasulfide (205, 206)) and form thiosulfate with active sulfite is also ruled out by this experiment. Later Fava and Divo (159) confirmed these results in a more extensive study in which specifically labelled tetrathionate was decomposed by inactive sulfite and the actual position of activity in the trithionate determined by mild alkaline decomposition:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} 2SS^{*}O_{3}{}^{2-} & \stackrel{I_{2}}{\longrightarrow} & O_{3}S^{*}SSS^{*}O_{3}{}^{2-} \\ O_{2}S^{*}SSS^{*}O_{5}{}^{2-} & + & SO_{3}{}^{2-} & \to & O_{3}S^{*}SSO_{3}{}^{2-} & + & SS^{*}O_{3}{}^{2-} \\ & SS^{*}O_{3}{}^{2-} & + & 2Ag^{+} & + & H_{2}O & \to & Ag_{2}S & + & H_{2}S^{*}O_{4} \\ 2O_{3}S^{*}SSO_{3}{}^{2-} & + & 2OH^{-} & \to & O_{3}S^{*}S^{2-} & + & S^{*}O_{4}{}^{2-} & + & SO_{4}{}^{2-} & + & 2OH^{+} \end{array}$$

A final, more complicated example is the reaction between hydrazoic and nitrous acids to give nitrous oxide and nitrogen (104).

$$\operatorname{HNNN}^{a \ b \ a} + \operatorname{HNO}_{2} \rightarrow \operatorname{NNO}_{} + \operatorname{NN}^{a \ b} + \operatorname{H}_{2} O$$

Although it is apparent in this case how the bond cleavage might occur to give the desired products, tracer methods provide a unique solution to this problem. The nitrogens of hydrazoic acid and of nitrous oxide are nonequivalent and do not undergo intramolecular exchange reactions (103, 106). There are three parts to the study:

(a) The reaction between NaN¹⁵O₂ (containing 3.28 per cent N¹⁵) and inactive NaN₃ (normal N¹⁵ content = 0.37 per cent) was initiated by adding 5 per cent acetic acid solution, and the evolved nitrous oxide was converted to nitrogen gas by burning with excess hydrogen catalytically on platinum. The nitrous oxide had enriched N¹⁵, while the nitrogen gas had normal nitrogen.

HNNN + HN¹⁵O₂
$$\rightarrow$$
 N¹⁵₂O + N₂
1.82 0.37 exptl.% N¹⁵ content
 $\frac{0.37 + 3.28}{2} = 1.83$ (calculated)

(b) Inactive NaNO₂ and KN¹⁵NN¹⁵ (containing 1.52 per cent N¹⁵) were mixed and reacted as before. Both the nitrous oxide and the nitrogen gas contain N¹⁵:

. .

$$\begin{array}{r} \mathrm{HN^{15}NN^{15} + HNO_2 \rightarrow N_2^{10}O + N_2^{10}} \\ 0.95 & 0.97 \quad \mathrm{exptl.} \% \ \mathrm{N^{15} \ content} \\ \frac{1.52 + 0.37}{2} = 0.95 \ \mathrm{(calculated)} \end{array}$$

These experiments indicate that the middle nitrogen atom (bN) of the hydrazoic acid is always found in the nitrogen gas.

(c) A third and final experiment is necessary to find which of the two nonequivalent nitrogen atoms of nitrous oxide is enriched or whether there is even uniform labelling. In experiments (a) and (b) only a gross "tracing" of the nitrous oxide has been attempted. The actual location is accomplished by reacting purified nitrous oxide (obtained from NaN¹⁵O₂ and NaN₃) with sodium amide, when the known isotopic reaction (already examined by Clusius (103, 106)) occurs:



The isotopic composition of the azide formed is determined by reduction to ammonia and nitrogen with hydrogen iodide and subsequent analysis (106). It might have been expected that only NaNN¹⁵N would have been formed from the reaction of NN¹⁵O with sodium amide, but surprisingly this is not the case, a fact only established by tracer studies of this kind. Therefore only NN¹⁵O is formed from reaction (c) and the nitrogen–oxygen bond remains intact throughout. The results are therefore in agreement with the equation first given and the postulated mechanism is reasonable.

$$\stackrel{a\ b\ a}{\text{NNN}^-} + \stackrel{c}{\text{NO}^+} \rightleftharpoons \stackrel{a\ b}{\text{NNNN}^0} \stackrel{a\ c}{\rightarrow} \stackrel{a\ b}{\text{NN}} \stackrel{a\ c}{\rightarrow} \stackrel{a\ b}{\text{NN}} \stackrel{a\ c}{\rightarrow} \stackrel{a\ c}{\text{NN}} + \stackrel{a\ c}{\text{NNO}}$$

Clusius has reviewed his work using N¹⁵, which consists mainly of examples from organic chemistry but includes discussion of the techniques involved (101).

B. DETERMINATION OF MOLECULAR STRUCTURE

The observation of tracer movement through a chemical reaction or sequence of chemical reactions can give information on the structure of an intermediate which may or may not be stable. When the intermediate is a stable chemical substance, this method forms the basis of the frequently used determination of the equivalence or nonequivalence of atoms in a molecule by synthesis and decomposition. The structures of disulfur trioxide and nickel cyanide, for example, have been investigated by this means.

If dry sulfur, containing S^{35} , is added to excess liquid sulfur trioxide and the blue-green solid obtained ($S_2^{35}O_3$) is decomposed by adding dioxane, radioactive sulfur is re-formed with similar specific activity as the original in addition to the inactive compound of sulfur trioxide with dioxane.

Analysis	of reaction	n products from	N ² O	
		Calculated for NN ¹⁵ O	Calculated for N ¹⁵ NO	Calculated for 1:1 Mixture
Per cent N ¹⁵ in N ₂ (found)	1.21	1.24	1.68	1.46
Per cent N ¹⁵ in NH ₃ (found)	1.55	1.53	0.66	1.10
Total per cent N ¹⁵	3.96	4.02	4.02	4.02

TABLE 13 Analysis of reaction products from $N_2^{15}C$

 $S^{35} + SO_3 \rightarrow S^{35}SO_3 \xrightarrow{dioxane} S^{35} + SO_3 \cdot dioxane$

This provides strong evidence for an unsymmetrical formula for S_2O_3 (23). The structure SSO_3^{2-} was assigned to the thiosulfate ion in a related manner (18).

Although an attempt to study the exchange of Ni^{*2+} with Ni(CN)₄^{$\dot{2}-$} was thwarted by rapid precipitation of nickel cyanide, Long (308) has cleverly used this interaction to show that the latter most probably has the structure NiNi(CN)₄. Nickel⁶³ chloride solution was mixed with potassium tetracyanonickelate at pH 4-8 and the resultant suspension of nickel cyanide treated with excess alkaline dimethylglyoxime. The nickel dimethylglyoxime obtained had the same specific activity as the original nickel and this was explained on the following basis:

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{Ni}^{*2+} + \mathrm{Ni}(\mathrm{CN})_{4}^{2-} &\rightarrow \mathrm{Ni}^*\mathrm{Ni}(\mathrm{CN})_{4} \\ \mathrm{Ni}^*\mathrm{Ni}(\mathrm{CN})_{4} + 2\mathrm{Me}_{2}\mathrm{GH} &\rightarrow \mathrm{Ni}^*(\mathrm{Me}_{2}\mathrm{G})_{2} + \mathrm{Ni}(\mathrm{CN})_{4}^{2-} + 2\mathrm{H}^+ \end{split}$$

A more complicated example of tracer synthetic and degradative studies affording insight into the structure of an inorganic molecule is the work of Goehring and Ebert (189). The four sulfur atoms of sulfur nitride, S_4N_4 , were shown to be equivalent, in agreement with either the "cradle-like" structure involving many resonance forms (332) or the "cage-like" structure based on infrared and Raman spectra (304). Briefly the method involved the formation of sulfur nitride from S(II)- and $S^*(IV)$ -containing compounds and its subsequent degradation to an S(II) and an S(IV) compound. The equilibration of sulfur activity in the final products confirmed the equivalence of the sulfur atoms in S_4N_4 .

Sulfur nitride was prepared from the quantitative reaction in pyridine between thiazyl chloride $(ClS^*N)_3$ and inactive tetrasulfur tetraimide $(SNH)_4$:

$$4(\text{ClS*N})_3 + 3(\text{SNH})_4 \rightarrow 6\text{S}_4^*\text{N}_4 + 12\text{HCl}$$

The specific activity of the sulfur nitride was one-half of that of the original thiazyl chloride (both assayed as barium sulfate). The decomposition of sulfur nitride into two sulfur compounds was effected in two different ways:

(1)
$$N_4S_4^* + PbI_2 \xrightarrow{\text{liquid NH}_3} Pb(N=S^*)_2$$

 $N_4S_4^* + HgI_2 \xrightarrow{\text{liquid NH}_3} Hg\left(\begin{array}{c} N\\ N\\ N \end{array} \right)$
(2) $N_4S_4^* + 4C_5H_{10}NH \rightarrow 2(C_5H_{10}N)_2S^* + 2S^*(=N-H)_2$

In both cases the two products had the same specific activity, once again in terms of barium sulfate after oxidation. Table 14 lists molecular structures that have been investigated by the methods outlined in this section.

The value of tracers in throwing light on even the structure of an unstable intermediate in a chemical reaction is well illustrated by the work of Taube and

		Synthesis and decomposition trace	r experiments	
Reactants	Intermediate	Mode of Decomposition and Products	Remarks	References
$\operatorname{CuBr}(\mathbf{s}) + \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Br}_{\mathbf{z}}^{*}(\mathbf{g})$	CuBr [*] (s)	Heat; $\operatorname{CuBr}^*(s) + \Re \operatorname{Br}^*_2(g)$		(381)
$A_{u}B_{r}(s) + Br_{2}^{*}(l)$	AuBr [*] ₃ (s)	Heat; $AuBr^*(s) + Br_2^*(g)$		(381)
(IgI ₂ + 21*-	HgI4*2-	Ag^{\dagger} ; heat; $HgI_2^{*} + 2AgI^{*}$		(380)
Plumbite* + plumbate	Pb [*] 04	Boiling KOH solution; plumbite* + plumbate Dilute HNOa: plumbite* + plumbate*	Lead atoms are unoquivalent Dilute IINO, induces exchange (cf. 491)	(157) (157)
TI*3+ + 3TI+ + 6CI- (or Br-)	2TI2CI6 (or TI2Brs)	TI**+ + 3TI+	Thallium atoms are unequivalent	(324)
$PBr_3(l) + Br_3^*(l)$	$PBr_{5}^{*}(s)$	Heat; $PBr_3^*(1) + Br_2^*(g)$		(96, 381)
3b ⁶⁺ + Sb*a+	M2Sb*Cl6	$Sb^{*6+} + Sb^{*3+}$	Fast Sb ^{III} -Sb ^V electron transfer interferes	(457)
5* + SO3	$S_2^*0_3$	Treat with dioxane; $S^* + SO_3$ dioxane	Support for $S = SO_3$	(23)
$5^* + (C_2H_6)_2S_2$	(C ₂ H ₅) ₂ S [*]	NaOH; $S^* + (C_2H_4)_2S_2$	S-S links in (C ₂ H ₅) ₂ S ₂	(206)
5* + SO ₃ 2~	$S_2^*O_{s^{2-}}$	Silver sult heated in water (18) or heated 5.5 hr. (125°) in acid (14); $Ag_{s}S^{*} + SO_{s}^{2-}$ or $S^{*} + SO_{s}$.	Sulfur unequivalent in thiosulfate	(14, 18)
$(CIS^*N)_3 + S_4N_4H_1$ or $(CIS^*N)_3 + S_7NR$	S, N,	Treated with PbIs and liquid NH1 gives Pb(N=5*): Treated with Hgls and liquid NH1 gives	N4S4 contains equivalent sulfur atoms	(183)
		Treated with CsHuN gives (CsHuN):S* + S*(NH).		
34N4 + S*01	8 * NrO6	Hydrolysis; inactive 3D:	Activity of S.N.:O, is two-thirds that of the original; shows that 28O, enter S.N.;O, bydrolysis result sup-	(191)
Cr ² (SO4)3 + CrO4 ²⁻	Solid with Cr ³⁺ ;CrO ₄ ²⁻ ratio = 2:1	$\mathrm{HClO}_{4};\mathrm{Cr}^{\bigstar}_{2}(\mathrm{SO}_{4})_{4}+\mathrm{CrO}_{4}^{\bigstar}+$	puts events automute to curvents of the chromium atoms equivalent	(27)
$Ni^{*2+} + Ni(CN)_{4}$	Ni*(CN)2	Dimethylglyoxime (Me ₂ GH); Ni*(Me ₃ G); + Ni(CN),*	Supports NiNi(CN), structure for Ni(CN),	(308)

TABLE 14

ISOTOPIC TRACERS IN INORGANIC CHEMISTRY

Dodgen (447) and of Bothner-By and Friedman (61), both being good examples of the method and reasoning involved.

The reaction between chlorite and chlorine at neutral pH is very fast and goes virtually to completion (at this pH chlorine exists mostly as hypochlorite and chloride)

$$HOCl + 2ClO_2^- \rightarrow 2ClO_2 + Cl^- + OH^-$$

and

$$HOCl + ClO_2^- + OH^- \rightarrow ClO_3^- + Cl^- + H_2O$$

Chlorate ion is appreciably reduced by chloride ion in strong acid in the fairly rapid reaction

$$2\mathrm{Cl}^- + 2\mathrm{ClO}_3^- + 4\mathrm{H}^+ \rightarrow \mathrm{Cl}_2 + 2\mathrm{ClO}_2 + 2\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}$$

In both cases when labelled chlorine or labelled chloride, respectively, is used, the chlorine dioxide evolved only contains ~ 6 per cent of the activity expected if random distribution of the activity amongst all the chlorine atoms had occurred (447). The fact that the chlorine atoms of the two reactants for the most part remain distinct indicates that the major path is *not* via a symmetrical intermediate



or OCl but via an unsymmetrical one, e.g.,



The very similar departure from ideality (which would be 0 per cent activity in chlorine dioxide) in both cases strongly suggests that a common intermediate is involved. An explanation which satisfies these observations and is in agreement with the observed kinetics of the chloride-chlorate reaction is:

$$HOCl^* + ClO_2^- + H^+ \rightarrow Cl^*Cl \bigvee_{O}^{O} + H_2O \rightleftharpoons Cl^{*-} + ClO_3^- + 2H^+$$

followed by

 $2Cl^*Cl \bigvee_{O}^{O} \rightarrow Cl_2^* + 2ClO_2$

A prerequisite for the success of such an experiment is the demonstration that ClO^{-} and ClO_{2}^{-} (447), Cl_{2} and ClO_{3}^{-} (447), Cl_{2} and ClO_{2} (132), ClO_{3}^{-} and ClO_{3}^{-} (132) do not exchange to complicate the interpretation.

The mechanism of the reaction between nitrous acid and hydroxylamine to form nitrous oxide has been investigated using both N¹⁵ and O¹⁸ stable isotopes (61). This study affords a good illustration of the method of assignment of spectrometer mass numbers to particular isotopic species and the care with which this must be carried out. The results showed that when NH₂OH · HCl was mixed with sodium nitrite containing N¹⁶, the small amount of N¹⁶N¹⁶O produced indicated that no "randomizing" had occurred. Reaction via (say) nitroxyl, NOH (which has been a postulated intermediate), could therefore be excluded, since such an intermediate would mean that the two nitrogens of nitrous oxide would have originated randomly from the two starting nitrogen compounds. The excess N¹⁶ was approximately equally distributed between N¹⁶N¹⁴O and N¹⁴N¹⁶O, so that the nitrogen atoms originated one from NH₂OH and one from NO₂⁻ and a symmetrical intermediate, probably hyponitrous acid, is involved:

-- --

The reaction at pH = 1 produced about twice the amount of N¹⁴N¹⁵O compared to N¹⁶N¹⁴O and a reaction path involving an unsymmetrical intermediate, possibly *N*-nitrosohydroxylamine, is now important:

$$N^{14}H_2OH + HN^{16}O_2 \xrightarrow{-H_2O} N^{14}N^{16} = 0 \xrightarrow{-H_2O} N^{14}N^{16}O$$

By concurrently studying this acid reaction in H_2O^{18} , it was shown that approximately all of the excess oxygen was found as $N^{14}N^{16}O^{18}$ and $N^{14}N^{14}O^{18}$ and little, if any, as $N^{15}N^{14}O^{18}$. Because of this result, rapid O^{18} exchange could not have occurred between NH_2OH and H_2O or $H_2N_2O_2$ and H_2O , and O^{18} most probably entered the $N^{14}N^{16}O^{18}$ molecule via exchange between $HN^{16}O_2$ or $H_2ONN^{15}O$ and H_2O . Thus from this work information regarding mechanism, the structure of intermediates, and exchange processes was obtained, combining several important principles.

Finally some recent Russian work on the formation of tetrathionate using radiosulfur (66) demonstrates the advantage of labelled atoms in the elucidation of mechanism. The example is deliberately chosen in order to show the methods available for establishing the exact location of tagged atoms in a molecule, a particularly important consideration with polyatomic molecules. Potassium tetrathionate was prepared from S³⁵-tagged S₂Cl₂ and inactive sulfur dioxide. The tetrathionate had a specific activity of sulfur one-half the value of that of the original compound when the original S₂Cl₂ and the tetrathionate were assayed as benzidine sulfate. It is apparent from this result that the two sulfur atoms of S_2Cl_2 have been diluted by two inactive sulfur atoms from two sulfite molecules in agreement with the proposed mechanism:



The distribution of active sulfur within the tetrathionate was determined by using the rapid quantitative reaction with cyanide ion.

and the distribution of active sulfur in the thiosulfate determined by the reaction with silver ion in hot solution:

The sulfur compounds, after separation, were all converted into sulfate by Carius oxidation and assayed as benzidine sulfate, as before. The reaction with cyanide ion is not complicated by $SCN^{-}-S_2O_3^{2-}$ exchange (66), and although $S_4O_6^{2-}-S_2O_3^{2-}$ exchange is rapid (158) it occurs only by intact $S_2O_3^{2-}$ exchange and so cannot affect the activity distribution in the tetrathionate:

$$O_3SS^* | S^*SO_3^{2-} + S^*SO_3^{2-} \rightarrow O_3SS^*S^*SO_3^{2-} + S^*SO_3^{2-}$$

In addition, the two sulfur atoms of thiosulfate are nonequivalent and do not undergo mutual exchange. This stability has been particularly useful in the synthesis of specifically labelled polythionates.

C. SIGNIFICANCE OF ISOTOPE EFFECTS IN UNIDIRECTIONAL REACTIONS

That the reaction rate of a heavier isotopic molecule should differ from that of the parent molecule may be seen from an inspection of the Arrhenius equation:

$$k = A e^{-E/RT}$$
(53)

The preëxponential factor, related in the simple collision theory to the collision number of a molecule, will be reduced on isotopic substitution. Isotopic substitution will also cause a reduction in the fundamental vibrational frequencies with a consequent lowering of the zero-point energy of the isotopic molecule. For most reactions this results in a higher activation energy for the heavier isotopic molecule (see the recent review by Wiberg (475)). Since for all common elements the tracer isotope is heavier than the parent isotope, the tracer molecule usually reacts more slowly than the unlabelled molecule. As for exchange reactions, this is most serious for elements of atomic weight less than about 40. A knowledge of the magnitude of isotope effects is important in interpreting quantitative tracer results and can lead to valuable conclusions regarding mechanism.

In accordance with current convention, a ratio of isotopic reaction rates will be defined as:

$$\epsilon = \frac{\text{reaction rate of the tracer molecule}}{\text{reaction rate of the parent molecule}} = \frac{k^*}{k}$$
(54)

If a difference in reaction rates does exist, ϵ normally will be less than unity. The isotope effect in a unidirectional reaction will be defined as $100(1 - \epsilon)$; i.e., if $\epsilon = 0.85$, a "15 per cent isotope effect" will be operative.

In unidirectional reactions, care must be taken to distinguish between "intermolecular" and "intramolecular" isotope effects. The decomposition of C^{13} labelled nickel carbonyl (41, 42) involves the following alternative rate-determining steps:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} \operatorname{Ni}(\operatorname{CO})_4 & \stackrel{k_1}{\longrightarrow} & \operatorname{Ni}(\operatorname{CO})_3 \cdot & + & \operatorname{CO} \\ & \operatorname{Ni}(\operatorname{CO})_3 \mathbb{C}^* \mathbb{O} & \stackrel{k_2}{\longrightarrow} & \operatorname{Ni}(\operatorname{CO})_3 \cdot & + & \mathbb{C}^* \mathbb{O} \\ & \operatorname{Ni}(\operatorname{CO})_3 \mathbb{C}^* \mathbb{O} & \stackrel{k_3}{\longrightarrow} & \operatorname{Ni}(\operatorname{CO})_2 \mathbb{C}^* \mathbb{O} \cdot & + & \operatorname{CO} \end{array}$$

The intermolecular isotope effect ($\epsilon = 4k_2/k_1$) evaluates the relative rates of decomposition of a labelled and an unlabelled nickel carbonyl molecule. (The factor of 4 must be included, since with tracer concentrations of C¹³, each labelled nickel carbonyl molecule will only contain one isotopic atom.) Furthermore, within an individual labelled molecule there is the possibility that either labelled or unlabelled carbon monoxide will split off and the intramolecular isotope effect will be $\epsilon = 3k_2/k_3$. The intramolecular isotope effect therefore evaluates the relative probability of rupture of a C¹²—C¹³ bond compared to a C¹²—C¹² bond.

1. Theory of isotope effects in unidirectional reactions

Wiberg (475) has already described the theoretical treatment by Bigeleisen of isotopic reaction rates and a summary only will be given here. For the reaction:

$AB \rightarrow products$

$AB^* \rightarrow products^*$

where the asterisk denotes the molecule substituted with the heavy (tracer) isotope, the ratio of rate constants is given by:

$$\frac{k}{k^*} = \frac{\kappa}{\kappa_*} \frac{\sigma}{\sigma_*} \frac{\sigma_*^{i}}{\sigma^{i}} \frac{Q^{i}}{Q^{i}_*} \frac{Q_*}{Q} \left(\frac{\mu_*}{\mu}\right)^{1/2}$$
(55)

where κ = the relevant transmission coefficient,

- σ = the symmetry number,
- μ = the effective mass of the activated complex along the coördinate of decomposition,

Q = the complete partition function for unit volume, and

^{*} refers to the activated state.

Setting the ratios of both transmission coefficients and symmetry numbers to unity and neglecting the "tunnel effect" (valid for isotopes other than hydrogen isotopes above 0° C.), the simplified equation is obtained:

$$\frac{k}{k^*} = \left(\frac{\mu_*}{\mu}\right)^{1/2} \left\{1 + \sum_i G(u_i)\Delta u_i - \sum_i G(u_i^*)\Delta u_i^*\right\}$$
(56)

where the function G(u) has already been defined (equation 37). Equation 56 is separable into two factors: (1) the "reduced mass effect," evaluating the ratio of the rupture frequencies of the critical bonds within the two isotopic activated complexes; (2) the "zero-point energy effect," evaluating the isotopic shift of the equilibrium between reactants and activated complex (i.e., the isotopic equilibrium constant for "exchange" between reactants and activated complex). The reduced masses are usually calculated from the masses of the two atoms joined by the bond undergoing rupture (419). The calculations of the G(u)functions are in principle the same as already described for exchange reactions (q.v.). The vibrational frequencies of the activated complex are of course unknown. The crude approximation is frequently made of setting the force constant of the rupturing bond to zero and leaving all other force constants unchanged; the "vibrational frequencies" of the activated complex can then be calculated by, say, normal valence force equations. The estimation of the isotopic partitionfunction ratio for the activated complex is the most unsatisfactory feature of the theoretical calculations and must always be remembered in the "comparison of theory and experiment."

For normal reactions involving bond rupture, the force constants of the reactants are greater than those of the activated complex; i.e., $\sum G(u)\Delta u > \sum G(u^{\dagger})\Delta u^{\dagger}$. Or, expressed in terms of exchange between reactants and activated complex, the heavier isotopic will preferentially concentrate in the reactants which have the higher isotopic partition-function ratio. Hence the reaction rate of the lighter (parent) molecule will be greater than that for the heavier (tracer) molecule. However for reactions in which the rate-determining step is one of ring closure, the force constants of the activated complex may be greater than those for the reactants. Provided

$$\sum G(u^{\dagger})\Delta u^{\dagger} > \sum G(u)\Delta u + \frac{1}{2} \ln (\mu_{*}/\mu)$$

the heavier molecule could react faster than the ligher molecule. A "reverse" isotope effect observed in an organic reaction (427a) could not be substantiated (402).

For intramolecular reactions involving the same molecule $\Delta u = 0$ and there is evidence that $\Delta u^{i} = 0$ (52). An intramolecular isotope effect is thus solely determined by the reduced mass effect and will be substantially less than intermolecular effects, since the zero-point energy term principally determines the magnitude of k/k^* .

Bigeleisen (49) has calculated "maximum isotope effects" for common iso-

topes, but these values are based on the admittedly drastic assumption that the activated complex is an assemblage of free atoms. The magnitude of an intermolecular isotope effect can often be roughly estimated from the isotopic partition-function ratios for reactants and products: e.g., in the acidic decomposition of $\text{HC}^{14}\text{O}_3^-$ to C^{14}O_2 . The *f* values for these two molecules are, respectively, 1.451 and 1.397 at 20°C. (440). Since the activated complex would be intermediate in characteristics and allowance should be made for the $(\mu_*/\mu)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ factor, an isotope effect of not greater than 4 per cent might be reasonably predicted. In general, isotope effects in unidirectional reactions will be only slightly greater than those observed or predicted in comparable exchange systems.

2. Practical limitations imposed by isotope effects

If an isotope effect is operative, serious difficulties can arise when a labelled reactant or product is sampled at various stages of a reaction. For the general reaction scheme:

$$A + B \rightarrow X + Y + Z$$
$$A^* + B \rightarrow X^* + Y + Z$$

in which an intermolecular isotope effect is occurring, the specific activity ${}_{A}S_{f}$ of reactant A at a fraction of reaction f is related (41, 138, 495) to that at zero fraction of reaction, ${}_{A}S_{0}$, by the relation:

$${}_{\mathbf{A}}S_f/{}_{\mathbf{A}}S_0 = (1 - f)^{\epsilon - 1}$$
(57)

where ϵ is defined by equation 54. Alternatively the specific activity of the labelled product is described (439) by:

$${}_{\mathbf{X}}S_{\gamma/\mathbf{A}}S_0 = \epsilon (1-\gamma)^{\epsilon-1}$$
(58)

where $_{\mathbf{x}}S_{\gamma}$ is the specific activity of a small product increment collected over an interval of reaction γ between fraction of reaction f and $(f + \Delta f)$, whilst $_{\mathbf{A}}S_0$ and ϵ retain their previous significance. When the increment γ is small, $_{\mathbf{x}}S_{\gamma}$ will approximate to the specific activity of the product of fraction of reaction f. Figure 1 illustrates the variation in the specific activity of both reactant and product with the fraction of reaction for a 10 per cent isotope effect (a probable value for isotopes of carbon, nitrogen, and oxygen). The fractional product is collected at each 10 per cent of reaction.

A common experimental procedure for isotopic assays involves the conversion of a separated labelled molecule into a more suitable chemical form for assay purposes; e.g., a carbon compound converted to carbon dioxide or barium carbonate. Figure 1 shows that serious errors could arise if (say) the product were sampled in small fractions as reaction was proceeding. A sample collected between 85 per cent and 95 per cent reaction would have a specific activity 20 per cent higher than that of the product collected up to 10 per cent reaction. For the reaction of deuterated water with zinc at 400°C., the error involved in such a procedure has been recently measured experimentally (232). At 50 per cent conversion a correction of 42 per cent must be applied to the observed isotopic



Fig. 1. Variation in the specific activity of both reactant and product with the fraction of reaction for a 10 per cent isotope effect.

abundance of hydrogen. To insure an error of less than 5 per cent in the D/H ratio, at least 99 per cent conversion is necessary. Melander (327) has derived an expression for the specific activity of a reactant as a function of fraction of reaction for the condition that the labelled atom occupies only one of several equivalent positions within the molecule, e.g., in tritium-labelled benzene. The functional form of his relation is completely analogous to equation 57 and indicates that errors due to isotope effects are less the greater the number of equivalent positions within the molecule.

Hence it is an unwise procedure to sample labelled materials at different fractions of reaction unless the magnitude of the isotope effect is known or semiquantitative results only are required. The procedure for overcoming these difficulties is to allow the reaction to proceed to completion, insure that all the labelled product is thoroughly mixed, and then, if desired, divide the product into fractions and proceed with the isotopic assay. The collected total product will of course have the same specific activity as the original reactant. With intramolecular isotope effects, the specific activity of the two labelled products will still differ when these products are completely collected. The interpretation of isotopic assays of samples derived from an intramolecular reaction must be subject to these limitations. The magnitude of the error will, however, be less than that for intermolecular effects.

3. Determination and interpretation of isotope effects

As a minimum, the observation of an isotope effect in a reaction indicates that rupture of a bond to the isotopic atom is involved in the rate-determining step. This step is of course the slowest one involving the isotopic molecule. Especially if a labelled solvent is used, the slowest step for the solvent may not necessarily be the rate-determining step for the overall reaction mechanism. Should it be possible to compare a calculated isotope effect with an accurately measured value, then further valuable conclusions can be drawn as to the more detailed structure of the activated complex and the possible importance of preequilibria. With deuterium compounds it is possible to measure the rate of reaction of a completely deuterated compound and compare this with the reaction rate of the normal compound. Thus a recent study of the Fe⁺⁺-Fe⁺⁺⁺ exchange system in deuterium oxide showed that the exchange rate was half of that in ordinary water (245). The direct participation of water in the activated complex and the rate-determining rupture of an oxygen-hydrogen bond is therefore indicated. Similarly, the rates of hydrolysis of either $Co(ND_3)_5Cl^{2+}$ in water or of $Co(NH_3)_5Cl^{2+}$ in deuterium oxide are approximately half the corresponding rate for $Co(NH_3)_5Cl^{2+}$ in water (6). This is confirmatory evidence for the preëquilibrium:

$$Co(NH_3)_5Cl^{2+} + OH^- \rightleftharpoons Co(NH_3)_4(NH_2)Cl^+ + H_2O$$

already indicated from nontracer studies (183) and the observation of isotopic exchange of hydrogen (6). With all radiotracers and many stable tracers it is impracticable to measure the reaction rate of a pure isotopic molecule, and to measure isotope effects recourse must be made to a differential method based on equations 57 and 58 or suitable analogs. Equation 58 shows that a rapid method of estimating ϵ is to determine the specific activity of the product for the first few per cent of reaction and compare this with the initial specific activity of the reactant; the ratio of these two specific activities is then equal to ϵ . This approach is very useful in preliminary work designed to ascertain the magnitude of a possible isotope effect (403), but it can be difficult experimentally if the reactant or product at definite fractions of reaction and determine ϵ from an appropriate log-log plot. If the specific activity of accumulated product at a definite fraction of reaction ($_{\mathbf{x}}S_f$) is compared with the initial specific activity of reactant ($_{\mathbf{x}}S_0$), ϵ is given by the expression:

$$\epsilon = \ln \left(1 - rf \right) / \ln \left(1 - f \right) \tag{59}$$

where $r = {}_{\mathbf{X}}S_f/{}_{\mathbf{A}}S_0$ (427). For an intramolecular reaction the ratio of specific activities of the two alternative products at complete reaction is equal to ϵ .

Differences in reaction rates of Li^7 and Li^6 isotopes have been detected. Repetitive precipitation of lithium carbonate from concentrated lithium chloride solutions altered the Li^7/Li^6 ratio from 12.48 to 14.03 (463). A single partial precipitation of the carbonate alters the ratio from 12.87 to 13.07 and slightly less for the orthophosphate (92). Cameron (92) points out that such isotope effects could affect the determination of the atomic weight of lithium by Richards and Willard (393), who purified their lithium salts by several partial precipitations of lithium fluoride. The importance of these effects is shown by the variation in the Li^7/Li^6 ratio from 12.44 to 12.93 for commercial chemicals and 12.47 to 12.72 for minerals (92).

The heterogeneous combustion of carbon monoxide between 560°C. and 700°C. exhibits the rate ratios $k^{13}/k^{12} = 0.984 \pm 0.002$ and $k^{14}/k^{12} = 0.959 \pm 0.004$ (29). On the assumption that adsorption is the rate-controlling step, it was shown that the relative rates of adsorption for isotopic molecules would be

given by:

$$\frac{v_2}{v_1} = \left(\frac{m_1}{m_2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{-(E_2 - E_1)/kT} \simeq \left(\frac{m_1}{m_2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(60)

for a small difference in zero-point energies $(E_2 - E_1)$ and a high temperature. The predicted rate ratios are then 0.983 for C¹³O and 0.966 for C¹⁴O, values which agree well with those observed. (This ratio of adsorption rates also follows from the classical collision frequencies of the molecules with the vessel walls, neglecting any difference in the activation energies for adsorption.) On the other hand the homogeneous combustion of carbon monoxide at 580°C. exhibits no isotope effect. For the mechanism

$$CO + O_3 \rightarrow CO_2 + O + O$$
$$O + O_2 \rightarrow O_3$$

the activated complex was treated as $O-C \cdots O-M$, where $M \equiv O_2$ is a point mass. The Bigeleisen equation thereby predicts no measurable isotope effect.

The intermolecular isotope effect in the decomposition of C^{13} -labelled nickel carbonyl (vide supra) is expressed by the relation

$$k_1/4k_2 = 1.0481 - 6.7 \times 10^{-5} t \,(^{\circ}\text{C}).$$
 (61)

between 30°C. and 105°C. (42). In the theoretical calculation of the effect Bernstein (42) considered the vibrational frequencies of the activated complex to be identical with those of the reactant molecule except those involving stretching of the ruptured bond; these frequencies were assumed to be zero. The calculated value is substantially greater than the experimental but if slight weakening of the carbon-oxygen bond in the activated complex is considered, better agreement is obtained. Bernstein points out that whilst a measured isotope effect may help to establish certain allowable properties of the activated complex, it cannot reveal the individual importance of single vibrations in a multi-atom activated complex.

As more confidence is gained in the theoretical prediction of isotope effects, then the measurement of isotope effects may become a useful tool in discriminating between possible mechanisms or elaborating already postulated mechanisms. Fry and Calvin (181) found isotope effects of 2.7 per cent and 5.5 per cent for the decomposition of C¹³- and C¹⁴-labelled oxalic acid at 103°C. The authors show that it is necessary to postulate an acid-base equilibrium before the rate-determining step to obtain calculated isotope effects of 3.1 per cent and 6.0 per cent. Had this preëquilibrium been neglected, the predicted effects would have been 3.8 per cent and 7.2 per cent. No C¹⁴-isotope effects have been observed in the acidic decomposition of carbonatotetramminocobaltic nitrate (439), the pyrolysis of carboxyl-labelled lithium acetate at 490°C. (398), or the decarboxylation of barium adipate at 350°C. (54). The thermodecomposition of mercury formate at 80°C. (403) exhibits a measurable isotope effect.

Isotope effects should be useful in identifying a particular process or distinguishing between processes in catalytic reactions. The isotope effect will be

characteristic of a particular process at a given temperature, whereas kinetic data such as rate constants and activation energies are composite quantities involving many variables. The reduction of hydrogen peroxide by Ti(III) exhibits an O¹⁸ isotope effect of only 0.5 per cent at 5°C., whereas reduction by Sn(II), Fe(II), Cr(II), and Cu(I) causes effects of 6 per cent (88). Reduction by Ti(III) was postulated to involve a $1e^{-}$ change, but the other reducing agents were assumed to proceed predominantly via a $2e^{-}$ change. For the latter the oxygen-oxygen bond is supposed to be completely severed in the activated complex, thereby leading to a calculated maximum isotope effect of 6.1 per cent. For $1e^{-}$ reduction the oxygen-oxygen bond is merely loosened; a zero-point energy effect will persist in the activated complex and a small isotope effect should result. That the isotope effect for the Fe³⁺-catalyzed decomposition of hydrogen peroxide is the same as for the Fe(II) reduction is adduced in favor of a mechanism involving Fe(II) as a reduction intermediate rather than HO_2 in the former reaction. The O^{18} -isotope effect in the oxidation of hydrogen peroxide decreases with the mass of the halogen oxidant: I2, 2.4 per cent; Br2, 1.3 per cent; Cl2, 1.0 per cent.

In the photolysis of hydrogen peroxide two mechanisms may be proposed:

Mechanism I:

$$H_2O_2 + h\nu \to 2OH \tag{1}$$

$$OH + H_2O_2 \rightleftharpoons HO_2 + H_2O \tag{3}$$

$$2HO_2 \rightleftharpoons H_2O + O \tag{4}$$

Mechanism II:

$$H_2O_2 + h\nu \to H_2O + O \tag{1'}$$

$$O + H_2O_2 \rightleftharpoons OH + HO_2$$
 (2)

The O¹⁵-isotope effect for the production of water varies with acidity from 1.1 per cent to 1.9 per cent. Hunt and Taube (255) favor mechanism II, since although no variation in isotope effect should occur with acidity in the primary absorption process, reaction 2 could be rewritten as

$$O^* + OOH^- \rightleftharpoons O^*O + OH^-$$

thereby introducing an exchange equilibrium which could account for the observed variation in the isotope effect.

Bernstein and Pars (45) have studied the O¹⁸-isotope effect in the reaction of hydroxide ion with Hg²⁺_{aq} and Ag⁺_{aq}. The fractionation factor $\alpha = (O^{16}/O^{18})_{\text{oxide}}/$

	: isomeriz	anon of a	getoprop	ane	
Gas pressure (mm.)	0.4	45	77	80	700
$100(1 - \epsilon)$ (equation 54)	0.4	8.9	7.9	8.8	12.9
Experimental error	1.0		1.1	1.7	2.7

 TABLE 15

 Tritium isotope effects in the isomerization of cyclopropane

Reaction studied	Distribution of tracer products	Remarks	References
	Nitrogen		
N [*] ₂ H ₄ oxidation with IO ₅ ⁻ , Tl(III), and Fe(CN) ₆ ¹⁻ N [*] ₂ H ₄ oxidation with Ce(TV), Fe(III), Fe(III)-Cu(II) mix- tunes. (Fe(TV)-Cu(II) mixtures. V(Y). MnO. ⁻ , and Cr ₂ O ₂ ²⁻¹	N2 nonrandomized N2 partly randomized (+ NH3)	No N-N bond fission during oxidation Partial N-N bond fission, the amount depending on the oxidizing agents	(89, 239) (89, 239)
N_2H_1 heated (5N_2H_1 \rightarrow 6N H_3 + 2N_2 + H_2)	N2 partly randomized	Partial N—N bond fission in agreement with postulated free-redical mechanism	(389)
N*H2CON*U2 treated with hypobromite	N ₂ nonrundomized	Unimolecular mechanism; both nitrogen atoms of N2 from	(467)
N [*] II ₃ oxidized with OBr ⁻ in presence of N ₂ H ₄ or NII ₂ OH (2NH ₄ + 3 OBr ⁻ \rightarrow N ₂ + 3 H ₅ O + 3 Dr ⁻)	NoN [*] IA or N*H ₂ OH	one urea molecule N ₂ H ₄ or NH ₂ OH probably not intermediate in reaction or in side production of N ₂ O (cf. 107) or NO ₃ ⁻ (102)	(396)
a b a c c HNNN + IINO ₂	n s a b NNO + NN	Detection of position of bond cleavage	(104)
$a_{n,NII2}^{a} + ONN$	a b c a c b NaNNN (20%) and NaNNN (80%)		(103)
NH2N1I2 + C51160N*0 11NNN* acid reduction 11NNN* 112	+ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$ $+$	Product used in subsequent experiments	(106)
имм закалис анциции геоценов HNNN* acid permanganate oxidation	2142141 + 7214 113 and 2214214 + 521414 + 7214 113 and 2214214 + 5411403 + 5518 + 351150 (+ by-	Central and outer nitrogens different; ring structure for azide grouping ruled out	(001)
$NH_5SO_3H + HN^*O_3$	product N ₂ O) ON*N M		(103)
NHRUH-HCI + NBNYO2 (Natural pH) (pH 1)	NO RANDOMIZING OL NAU ODUMINE N*NO and NN*O in similar amounts [NN*O] > [N*NO]	NUTI Internetiate ruled out Symmetrical intermediate Unsymmetrical intermediate also involved in two reaction	(01) (61, 103) (61)
$N_{a}N^{*}O_{2} + (NII_{4})_{2}SO_{4} (99\% N^{15})$	NN* (97.3%); no randomizing	paths Both nitrogen atoms of N ₂ from one animonium nitrite	(101)
Decomposition of N*NO at 750°	No randomization in N2 N15N14O	motecule Rules out N atom-NO chain mechanism; in agreement with unimolecular decourosition mechanism	(178)
Decomposition of N ¹⁵ H ₄ N ¹⁴ O ₃		Dehydration meehanism	(177)
	Oxygen		
KCIO ³ + MnO ₂	Evolved O [*] lower isotopic abundance than KCIO ₃	[KCiO ₃ + MnO ₂] intermediate	(182)

TABLE 16

Chemical reactions studied by tracer methods

850

D. R. STRANKS AND R. G. WILKINS
$KCIO_3 + MnO_2^*$	Evolved O_2^* 20% isotopic abundance	Cyclic oxidation-reduction involving 20% of MnO_2	(65)
4MnO4 ⁻ + 40*H ⁻	$4MnO_{4}^{2} + 2H_{2}O + O_{2}^{*}$	O: completely derived from solvent; MnO, ²⁻ exchanges	(412)
Oxidation of H ₂ O ₂ by Ce(IV), MnO ₄ ⁻ , Cl ₂ , HClO, Cr ₂ O ₁ ²⁻ , H ₃ IO ₈ in presence of H ₅ O [*]	O ₂ contains no O*	which solventu 0	(81, 88)
Decomposition of HzO2 by Pt, Ag, MnO2, Fe(III), II2, Br Br in presence of H ₂ O*	O ₂ contains no O*	0-0 bond preserved	(81, 88)
Reduction of H ₂ O ₂ by Ti(III), Fe(II), Sn(II), Cr(II), Cu(I) in presence of H ₂ O [*]	0.5% isotope effect with Ti(III) 6% isotope effect with other reductants	1e ^r oxidation of Ti(III) 2e ⁻ oxidation of other reductants	(88)
$\begin{array}{l} H_{2}O_{2}^{*} + H_{2}O^{*} + \hbar\nu(2537\ A) \\ NO_{2}^{*+} + H_{2}O_{2} \rightarrow H_{2}O + NO_{3}^{*-} \end{array}$	Evolved O ₂ contains no O [*] Evolved O ₂ contains no O [*] NO_2^{n*-} at high $[NO_2^{-}]$; $n = 1$ varying to $n = 2$ at low $[NO_2^{-}]$	At high [NO ₂ ⁻¹] $ONO^{*}O^{*}II + NO_{2}^{-} \rightarrow ONO^{*} + O_{2}NO^{*} + H^{+}$	(255)
		At low [NO ₂ ⁻] $ONO^*O^*H \rightarrow O_2^*NO^- + H^+$	(16)
$2NO_2 + H_3O^4 \rightarrow NO_2^- + NO_3^- + 2H^4$	At low [NO ₂] 1.4 O [•] atoms per NO ₃ ⁻ $0.7 O^{•}$ atoms per NO ₂ ⁻	Proceeds via 0=N0 -N	(11)
	At high [NO ₂] 1.0 O* atoms per NO ₃ ⁻ ; O* in NO ⁵⁻ variable from 0 to > 1	Proceeds via activated complex	
		H 0 0	
	Sulfur	0.0 H	
$5^{+51}O_{5}^{2-} + 1_{2}$ $985^{*}O_{2^{-}} + 311_{0}C_{1} + 911_{*}O$	$0_3StS*S*St0_{2^-}$ $H_{ac''1_{-}}$ 311 as 1 as 0_{-} 1 as 1 as 1 as 1	Expected mechanism	(66, 228)
$0_{3}SS^{4}SO_{3}^{2} + CO_{3}^{2}$	1000000000000000000000000000000000000		(228) (65)
$O_{3}S^{*}SSS^{*}O_{3}^{2} + 3\Pi gCl_{2} + 4\Pi_{2}O$	$H_{g}Cl_{2}$, $2H_{g}S + 4S^{*}O_{4}Z^{-} + 4Cl^{-} + 8H^{+}$		(228)
$S_tO_{6^{2r}} + S^*O_3^{2r}$	+ 28 $0_{3}SSS^{*}O_{3}^{2^{-}} + S_{2}O_{3}^{2^{-}}$	Nonbranched chain for S ₄ O ₆ ²⁻	(88)
$S_2O_8^{2-} + S^{1*}O_3^{2-}$	$S_{2}^{1,5*}O_{4}^{2-} + S_{0,5*}O_{4}^{2-}$	58.0% similar but complicated	(493)
$S_2(0,2^- + S_1*0,2^-)$	$S_2^{1*}O_6^{2-} + SO_4^{2-}$		(493)
$S_{1}^{*}O_{6}^{*-} + SO_{3}^{*-}$	$S_{2}^{*}O_{6}^{2-} + S_{2}^{*}O_{3}^{2-}$	Extended study of 98	(159)
$0_{3}S^{3}S^{3}S^{3}O_{3}^{2} + S^{2}O_{3}$ $O_{3}S^{3}SSS^{0}_{3}^{2} + S^{2}$	$2S+S+03^{2-} + S^{2}$ $03S^{3-} + SS^{3}03^{2-} + 2S^{3}$	Bond cleavage OaSS : SSO ²²⁻ with alight side reaction (225) ~3% of main reaction	(228) (995)
			(077)

ISOTOPIC TRACERS IN INORGANIC CHEMISTRY

851

	TABLE 16-Conclud	ed	
Reaction studied	Distribution of tracer products	Remarks	References
	Sulfur—Continued		
$O_{45}S_{45}^*SO_{47}^* + 3CN^2 + H_2O$ $O_{45}O_{45}O_{47}^* - 10000^{-1} + H_2O$	$SO_{4}^{2-} + S*SO_{4}^{2-} + S*CN^{-} + 2HCN$		(99)
$0.555_3 50.7^\circ + 4.0.N + 11_20$ S*Cl ₂ + 2HSO ₈ -	$5*50_{3}^{2-} + 50_{4}^{2-} + 25*0^{-} + 2HCN$ $0_{3}SS*S0_{2}^{2-}$		(66) (65)
$S_{2}^{*}Cl_{2} + 2IISO_{3}^{-}$	03SS2SO22		(99)
$4505 + 211_{2}S^{*} + 6011^{-}$	38*50 2 ² + 5H ₂ O	Consistent with mechanism: 2HS ⁺ + HSO ₅ ⁻ \rightarrow 2S ⁺ + S + 3OH ⁻ 0H ⁻ + HSO ₅ ⁻ \rightarrow SO ₅ ²⁺ + H ₅ O	(347)
$S^{1*}SO_{3^{2-}} + SO_{3^{2-}}$ in presence of sodium arsenite	O ₃ SS3/4*SO ₃ ² and O ₃ SS3/4*S3/4*SO ₃ ²⁻	Indicates quantitative distribution of activity	(65, 66)
$5S^{1*}SO_{s^{2-}} + 4II^{+} at - 10^{\circ}$ (in presence of arsenite)	$\begin{vmatrix} S_{3}^{1*}(SO_{3})_{2}^{2^{-}} + 2SO_{4}^{2^{-}} + H_{2}S^{2/3*} + \\ & 3S^{2/3*} \pm H_{n}O \end{vmatrix}$	Arsenic acts to transfer thiosulfate sulfide (S') sulfur to two	(99)
$2S^{1*}SO_{3}^{2-} + 4\Pi_{2}O_{2}$	$O_3S^{1/4}S^{1/4}S^{1/4}O_3^{2-} + S^{1/2*}O_4^{2-}$	AND AND AND AND AN ANTIMA ANTIMA ANTIMA	(65)
S*SO ₃ ²⁻ + 110CH ₂ SO ₂ Na in presence of Co ²⁺	CoS (60-70% specific activity of origi-		
	nat)		
$S^{*}SO_{3}^{2-} + CSO_{2}II$ in presence of Cd^{2+} H ₁ N	CdS (48-85%)	S not formed therefore by simple mechanism such as: $H_2O + H_2SO_2 + H_2SO_3 \rightarrow H_5S^* + 2H_5SO_3$	(226)
$S^*SO_2^{2-} + CoSO_2$ in presence of Co^{2+} $SS^*O_2^{2-} + N_{33}S_2O_2$ in presence of Cd^{2+}	CoS (35-55%) CdS (~8%)		
$CoSO_2 + Nu_2S^*$	CoS [•] (100% original activity)	All sulfur originates from Na ₂ S	(226)
$HOCH_2SO_2Na + S^*SO_3^{2^2} + I_2 (acid)$	×.		(226)
$SO_3 + S^*Cl_2 (50^{\circ})$	$SO_2 + S^*OCl_2$	80-90% of sulfur in SOCl2; direct oxygen atom transfer from SO ₂ to SCl ₂	(340)
$S_3N_2O_2 + 3S^*O_3$	$S_3N_2O_5 + 3S^*O_2$	SO ₃ only an oxidant and sulfur of SO ₃ does not enter S ₃ N ₂ O ₅ molecule	(191)
$S_4N_4 + SOCl_2 + S^*O_2$ $S_4N_5 + S^*OCl_2 + SO_2$	SaN2O2 inactive SaN2O2 one-third original activity	One S from SOCl ₂ , two S from S ₄ N ₄ , and no S from SO ₂	(190)
25*5170 decomposition	$S_4N_4 + 2S^{*}O_2$	IN TO THANDAL OF PARTY & INCOMMINANT PLODOBER	(061)

852

D. R. STRANKS AND R. G. WILKINS

	Halogens		
$\mathrm{KClO}_3 \rightarrow \mathrm{KClO}_4$ in presence of KCl^* at 510° for 60 min.	KClO ₄ inactive	Rules out: $KCIO_{3} \rightarrow KCI + 3O$	(60, 73)
$H_2O + IO_4^- + 2I^{+-}$	$I_2^* + 20H^- + IO_3^-$	$KCI + 40 = KCIO_1$	(334)
$\mathrm{HCl^{*}O}+\mathrm{2ClO_{2^{-}}(pH\sim7)}$	$2\text{ClO}_2 + \text{Cl}^{*-} + \text{OH}^-$	Observed CIO ₂ activity: 5-8% of that expected for com-	(447)
$ m HCl^{*}O + ClO_{z}^{-}$ (pH $\sim 7)$ $ m Cl_{z}^{*} + 2\Pi ClO_{z}$ (pH $= 0.5)$	$ClO_{3^-} + Cl^{*-} + II^+$ $2ClO_2 + 2Cl^{*-} + 2H^+$	plete mixing of chlorine activities ClO ₃ -:9% ClO ₃ :5-7%	(447) (447)
$2CI^{*-} + 2CIO_{3}^{-} + 4H^{+} (4.5 M H_{2}SO_{4})$	$CI_2^* + 2CIO_2 + 2II_2O$	ClO2: 3-6%	(447)
	Miseellancous		
$Co(NH_3)_{SC12^+} + Cr^{2+}$ in presence of $C1^{*-}$	CrCl ²⁺ inactive	No free Cl ⁻ produced	(443, 450)
$Cr(Cl_3 \text{ (solid)} + Cr^{2+} \text{ in presence of } Cl^{*-}$	CrCl ²⁺ almost inactive		(450)
$CrOl_2^+$ + Cr_{aq}^{2+}	CrCl ²⁺ almost inactive		(450)
Co(N11s)aONO2+ isomerization in presence of H2O* or NO2	Co(NH3)6NO22 ⁺ unenriched	Intramolecular process	(335)
$C_0(NH_3)_0 OCOCH_3^{2+} + H_2O^*$ (or O^*H^-)	CH ₃ COO ⁻ unenriched	Co-O bond fission	(82)
$C_0(NH_3)_{5}OCOCF_3^{24} + \Pi_2O^{\bullet}$	CF ₃ COO ⁻ unenriched	Co-O bond fission	(82)
$Co(NH_3)_0COCF_3^{22+} + O^*H^-$	CH ₃ COO ⁻ enriched	C-O bond fission (CH2CICOO ⁻ and CCl ₂ COO ⁻ intermedi- ato boharier)	(82)
$C_0(NH_3)_6CO_3^+ + 2H^+ + H_2O^*$	$C_0(NH_3)_6H_2O^{3+}$	No Co-O bond cleavage; aquation proceeds by decarboxy-	(252)
	CO ₂ normal abundance	lation	(83)
$Co(NH_3)_4CO_3^* + 2H^* + H_2O^*$	$Co(NH_3)_4(H_2O)(H_2O^*)^{3+} + CO_2$	Confirms mechanism:	(384)
		$Co(NH_{1})CO^{3} + H^{1} + H_{2} + Go(NH_{1})(H_{1}O^{3}) - (CO_{2}H)^{2*} + CO_{3}$	

ISOTOPIC TRACEPS IN INORGANIC CHEMISTRY

853

 $(O^{16}/O^{18})_{water}$, was 1.018 for Hg_{aq}^{2+} when 1 ml. of 1 M sodium hydroxide was added to 100 ml. of 1 M mercuric nitrate, using reagents of normal isotopic abundance. Since tracer experiments showed that the oxygen of the precipitated mercuric oxide was derived exclusively from the cation hydration sphere and not from the solvent water, the fractionation may be interpreted as a kinetic isotope effect in the proton transfer from hydrate water to hydroxide ion. Inspection of figure 1 will show that in the early stage of such an intermolecular reaction, the lighter isotope would preferentially appear in the product oxide. For silver ion, $\alpha = 1.016$ when silver ion was added to excess hydroxide ion, but for the reverse addition α was less than 1.013. This somewhat surprising result might be interpreted in terms of a very rapid exchange equilibrium (either between hydroxide ion and water or between the hydrate water and free water) combined with another isotope effect in the slower precipitation reaction. This is similar to that previously discussed for the fractionation effects in the CNI-CN⁻ exchange system (Section VII,C).

A further significant application of isotope effects may be illustrated in the unimolecular isomerization of tritium-labelled cyclopropane to propylene. According to the Lindemann theory of unimolecular reactions, at high gas pressures the concentration of activated molecules is maintained by collision and the rate-determining step is the decomposition of the activated molecules. Therefore if rupture of a bond attached to a labelled atom is involved in the latter step, an isotope effect should occur. At low pressures, the concentration of activated molecules is no longer maintained and the slow step is the transfer of energy by collision, for which practically no isotope effect should occur. Such behavior was observed by Weston (472) when the isomerization of tritiated cyclopropane was performed in the region of 500° C. (see table 15). Reactions involving inorganic molecules which exhibit unimolecular characteristics might be similarly investigated.

Table 16 summarizes chemical reactions which have been studied by tracer methods. Reactions are classified according to the periodic group of the element labelled in the reaction study. Where atoms are designated by superscript letters, a study has been performed which has established the fate of all the indicated atoms in the reactant molecule; normally this involves multiple labelling. An asterisk(s) for the reaction product(s) denotes the fate of the labelling atom(s). Where a quantitative study of the tracer distribution among products has been performed, this is indicated by the tracer concentrations relative to a unit concentration of tracer in the original reactant.

IX. References

- (1) ACKERMANN, H., AND SCHWARZENBACH, G.: Helv. Chim. Acta 35, 485 (1952).
- (2) Adams, R. M., BERNSTEIN, R. B., AND KATZ, J. J.: J. Chem. Phys. 22, 13 (1954).
- (3) Adams, R. M., BERNSTEIN, R. B., AND KATZ, J. J.: J. Chem. Phys. 23, 1622 (1955).
- (4) ADAMSON, A. W.: J. Phys. & Colloid Chem. 55, 293 (1951).
- (5) ADAMSON, A. W.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 73, 5710 (1951).
- (6) ADAMSON, A. W., AND BASOLO, F.: Acta Chem. Scand. 9, 1261 (1955).
- (7) ADAMSON, A. W., AND GRUNLAND, J. M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 73, 5508 (1951).

- (8) ADAMSON, A. W., AND MAGEE, P. S.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 1590 (1952).
- (9) ADAMSON, A. W., WELKER, J. P., AND VOLPE, M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 72, 4030 (1950).
- (10) ADAMSON, A. W., WELKER, J. P., AND WRIGHT, W. B.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 73, 4786 (1951).
- (11) ADAMSON, A. W., AND WILKINS, R. G.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 3379 (1954).
- (12) ADELL, B.: Svensk Kem. Tidskr. 56, 318 (1944).
- (13) AMELL, A. R., AND DANIELS, F.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 6209 (1952).
- (14) AMES, D. P., AND WILLARD, J. E.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 73, 164 (1951).
- (15) AMPHLETT, C. B.: Quart. Revs. (London) 8, 219 (1954).
- (16) ANBAR, M., AND TAUBE, H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 6243 (1954).
- (17) ANBAR, M., AND TAUBE, H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 77, 2993 (1955).
- (18) ANDERSEN, E. B.: Z. physik. Chem. 32B, 237 (1936).
- (19) ANDERSON, J. S., BRISCOE, H. V. A., COBB, L. H., AND SPOOR, N. L.: J. Chem. Soc. 1943, 367.
- (20) ANDERSON, J. S., BRISCOE, H. V. A., AND SPOOR, N. L.: J. Chem. Soc. 1943, 361.
- (21) ANDERSON, J. S., JAMES, F. W., AND BRISCOE, H. V. A.: Nature 139, 109 (1937).
- (22) ANDERSON, J. S., JAMES, F. W., AND BRISCOE, H. V. A.: Nature 139, 508 (1937).
- (23) APPEL, R.: Naturwissenschaften 40, 509 (1953).
- (24) ASHELFORD, N., AND MELLOR, D. P.: Australian J. Sci. Research 5A, 784 (1952).
- (25) ATEN, A. H. W., JR., AND BIGOT, J. A.: Rec. trav. chim. 72, 1002 (1953).
- (26) ATEN, A. H. W., JR., KRIEK, E., HOVENKAMP, S. G., ROOS, A. M. DE, AND SPOON, W. A.: J. Inorg. Nuclear Chem. 2, 203 (1956).
- (27) ATEN, A. H. W., JR., STEINBERG, H., HEYMANN, D., AND FONTIJN, A.: Rec. trav. chim. 72, 94 (1953).
- (28) ATKINS, D. C., AND GARNER, C. S.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 3527 (1952).
- (29) ATTREE, R. W., BROWN, F., DUNN, G. E., AND LOUNSBURY, M.: Can. J. Chem. 32, 921 (1954).
- (30) AUDRIETH, L. F., AND KLEINBERG, J.: Non-Aqueous Solvents, p. 26. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York (1953).
- (31) BAADSGAARD, H., AND TREADWELL, W. D.: Helv. Chim. Acta 38, 1669 (1955).
- (32) BALDWIN, R. R., LOWRY, J. R., AND HARRINGTON, R. V.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 73, 4968 (1951).
- (33) BANKOWSKI, O.: Monatsh. 65, 262 (1935).
- (34) BARKER, F. B., AND KAHN, M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 78, 1317 (1956).
- (35) BARNES, J. W., AND DOROUGH, G. D.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 72, 4045 (1950).
- (36) BASOLO, F.: Chem. Revs. 52, 459 (1953).
- (37) BASOLO, F., HAYES, J. C., AND NEUMANN, H. M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75, 5102 (1953).
- (38) BASOLO, F., AND MATOUSH, W. R.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75, 5663 (1953).
- (39) BECKER, R. S., AND SHELINE, R. K.: J. Chem. Phys. 21, 946 (1953).
- (40) BEGUN, G. M., AND ALLEN, R. E.: Isotope Separation and Isotope Exchange. Technical Information Service, Oak Ridge, Tennessee (1954).
- (41) BERNSTEIN, R. B.: J. Phys. Chem. 56, 893 (1952).
- (42) BERNSTEIN, R. B.: J. Chem. Phys. 22, 710 (1954).
- (43) BERNSTEIN, R. B.: J. Chem. Phys. 23, 1797 (1955).
- (44) BERNSTEIN, R. B., AND KATZ, J. J.: J. Phys. Chem. 56, 885 (1952).
- (45) BERNSTEIN, R. B., AND PARS, H. G.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 77, 4433 (1955).
- (46) BETTS, R. H.: Can. J. Research 26B, 702 (1948).
- (47) BETTS, R. H., AND MACKENZIE, A. N.: Can. J. Chem. 29, 655 (1951).
- (48) BIEDERMANN, G.: Arkiv Kemi 5, 441 (1953).
- (49) BIGELEISEN, J.: Science 110, 14 (1949).
- (50) BIGELEISEN, J.: J. Chem. Phys. 18, 481 (1950).
- (51) BIGELEISEN, J.: J. Phys. Chem. 56, 823 (1952).
- (52) BIGELEISEN, J.: Can. J. Chem. 30, 443 (1952).
- (53) BIGELEISEN, J.: J. Chem. Phys. 23, 2264 (1955).

- (54) BIGELEISEN, J., BOTHNER-BY, A. A., AND FRIEDMAN, L.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75, 2908 (1953).
- (55) BIGELEISEN, J., AND MAYER, M. G.: J. Chem. Phys. 15, 261 (1947).
- (56) BLAU, M., CARNALL, W. T., AND WILLARD, J. E.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 5762 (1952).
- (56a) BOATA, G., CARERI, G., CIMINO, A., MOLINARI, E., AND VOLFI, G. G.: J. Chem. Phys. 24, 783 (1956).
- (57) BONHOEFFER, K. F.: Z. Elektrochem. 44, 3 (1939).
- (58) BONNER, F., AND BIGELEISEN, J.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 4944 (1952).
- (59) Boos, R. N., ROSENBLUM, C., AND WOODBURY, D. T.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 73, 5446 (1951).
- (60) BOSCH, A. V., AND ATEN, A. H. W., JR.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75, 3835 (1953).
- (61) BOTHNER-BY, A., AND FRIEDMAN, L.: J. Chem. Phys. 20, 459 (1952).
- (62) BREZHNEVA, N. E., ROGINSKIĬ, S. Z., AND SHILINSKIĬ, A. I.: J. Phys. Chem. (U.S. S.R.) 9, 296 (1937); Chem. Abstracts 32, 3693 (1938).
- (63) BRIL, K., BRIL, S., AND KRUMHOLTZ, P.: J. Phys. Chem. 59, 596 (1955).
- (64) BRODSKII, A. I.: Conference of the Academy of Sciences of the U.S.S.R. on the peaceful uses of atomic energy, July, 1955. Consultants Bureau, New York (English Translation).
- (65) BRODSKII, A. I., AND EREMENKO, R. K.: J. Gen. Chem. (U.S.S.R.) 24, 1137 (1954).
- (66) BRODSKII, A. I., AND EREMENKO, R. K.: J. Gen. Chem. (U.S.S.R.) 25, 1189 (1955).
- (67) BRODSKII, A. I., STRAZHESKO, D. N., AND CHERVYATSOVA, L. L.: Doklady Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. 75, 823 (1950); Chem. Abstracts 45, 3280g (1951).
- (68) BRODSKII, A. I., AND SULIMA, L. V.: Doklady Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. 74, 513 (1950); Chem. Abstracts 45, 424 (1951).
- (69) BRODSKII, A. I., AND SULIMA, L. V.: Doklady Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. 85, 1277 (1952); Chem. Abstracts 47, 930 (1953).
- (70) BRODSKIĬ, A. I., AND SULIMA, L. V.: Doklady Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. 92, 589 (1953); Chem. Abstracts 48, 5620 (1954).
- (71) BROWN, D. D., AND INGOLD, C. K.: J. Chem. Soc. 1953, 2680.
- (72) BROWN, D. D., INGOLD, C. K., AND NYHOLM, R. S.: J. Chem. Soc. 1953, 2674.
- (73) BROWN, F. E., AND WOODS, J. D.: Proc. Iowa Acad. Sci. 61, 250 (1954).
- (74) BROWN, F. E., AND WOODS, J. D.: Proc. Iowa Acad. Sci. 62, 258 (1955).
- (75) BRUNO, M., AND SANTORO, V.: Ann. chim. (Rome) 45, 123 (1955).
- (76) BUCKNALL, W. R., AND WARDLAW, W.: J. Chem. Soc. 1928, 2739.
- (77) BUNTON, C. A., CRAIG, D. P., AND HALEVI, E. A.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 51, 196 (1955).
- (78) BUNTON, C. A., AND HALEVI, E. A.: J. Chem. Soc. 1952, 4917.
- (79) BUNTON, C. A., HALEVI, E. A., AND LLEWELLYN, D. R.: J. Chem. Soc. 1952, 4913.
- (80) BUNTON, C. A., HALEVI, E. A., AND LLEWELLYN, D. R.: J. Chem. Soc. 1953, 2653.
- (81) BUNTON, C. A., AND LLEWELLYN, D. R.: Research (London) 5, 142 (1952).
- (82) BUNTON, C. A., AND LLEWELLYN, D. R.: J. Chem. Soc. 1953, 1692.
- (83) BUNTON, C. A., LLEWELLYN, D. R., AND STEDMAN, G.: Nature 175, 83 (1955).
- (84) BURG, A. B.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 69, 747 (1947).
- (85) BURSTALL, F. H., AND NYHOLM, R. S.: J. Chem. Soc. 1952, 3570.
- (86) BUSHRA, E., AND JOHNSON, C. H.: J. Chem. Soc. 1939, 1937.
- (87) BUTLER, E. B.: Nature 176, 1262 (1955).
- (88) CAHILL, A. E., AND TAUBE, H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 2312 (1952).
- (89) CAHN, J. W., AND POWELL, R. E.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 2568 (1954).
- (90) Calvin, M., and Bailes, R. H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 68, 949 (1946).
- (91) CALVIN, M., HEIDELBERGER, C., REID, J. C., TOLBERT, B. J., AND YANKWICH, P. E.: Isotopic Carbon. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York (1949).
- (92) CAMERON, A. E.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 77, 2731 (1955).
- (93) CAMERON, J. F.: Nature 176, 1264 (1955).
- (94) CHALLENGER, G. E., AND MASTERS, B. J.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 77, 1063 (1955).
- (95) CHALLENGER, G. E., AND MASTERS, B. J.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 78, 3012 (1956).

- (96) CHATTERJEE, S.: J. Indian Chem. Soc. 19, 49 (1942).
- (97) CHATTERJEE, S., AND RAY, P.: J. Indian Chem. Soc. 17, 524 (1940).
- (98) CHRISTIANSEN, J. A., AND DROST-HANSEN, W.: Nature 164, 759 (1949).
- (99) CLARK, H. C., CURTIS, N. F., AND ODELL, A. L.: J. Chem. Soc. 1954, 63.
- (100) CLARK, H. C., AND ODELL, A. L.: J. Chem. Soc. 1955, 3435.
- (101) CLUSIUS, K.: Angew. Chem. 66, 497 (1954).
- (102) CLUSIUS, K., AND BÜHLER, H. H.: Helv. Chim. Acta 37, 2361 (1954).
- (103) CLUSIUS, K., AND EFFENBERGER, E.: Helv. Chim. Acta 38, 1834 (1955).
- (104) CLUSIUS, K., AND EFFENBERGER, E.: Helv. Chim. Acta 38, 1843 (1955).
- (105) CLUSIUS, K., AND HAIMERL, H.: Z. physik. Chem. 51B, 347 (1942).
- (106) CLUSIUS, K., AND HÜRZELER, H.: Helv. Chim. Acta 36, 1326 (1953).
- (106a) CLUSIUS, K., AND KNOPF, H.: Ber. 89, 681 (1956).
- (107) CLUSIUS, K., AND RECHNITZ, G.: Helv. Chim. Acta 36, 59 (1953).
- (108) CLUSIUS, K., AND VECCHI, M.: Helv. Chim. Acta 36, 930 (1953).
- (109) COHEN, D., SULLIVAN, J. C., AND HINDMAN, J. C.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 352 (1954).
- (110) COHN, M., AND UREY, H. C.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 60, 679 (1938).
- (111) CONNICK, R. E., AND HUGUS, Z. Z., JR.: Isotopic Exchange Reactions and Chemical Kinetics, Brookhaven Chemical Conference No. 2, p. 164 (1948).
- (112) COOK, C. M., JR., AND LONG, F. A.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 73, 4119 (1951).
- (113) COOK, G. B., AND DUNCAN, J. F.: Modern Radiochemical Practice. Oxford University Press, London (1952).
- (114) Reference 113, pp. 27-32.
- (115) COOLEY, R. A., AND YOST, D. M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 62, 2474 (1940).
- (116) COOLEY, R. A., YOST, D. M., AND MCMILLAN, E.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 61, 2970 (1939).
- (117) COPESTAKE, T. B., AND URI, N.: Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) 228A, 252 (1954).
- (118) COTTIN, M., AND HAISSINSKY, M.: Compt. rend. 224, 1636 (1947).
- (119) COTTIN, M., HAISSINSKY, M., AND PESCHANSKI, D.: J. chim. phys. 48, 500 (1951).
- (120) COWAN, G. R., ROTENBERG, D., DOWNIE, A., CRAWFORD, B., JR., AND OGG, R. A., JR.: J. Chem. Phys. 21, 1397 (1953).
- (121) CRIST, R. H., MURPHY, G. M., AND UREY, H. C.: J. Chem. Phys. 2, 112 (1934).
- (122) CROMPTON, C. E.: In *Radioactivity Applied to Chemistry*, edited by A. C. Wahl and N. A. Bonner, p. 45. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York (1951).
- (123) CROSS, P. C., AND LEIGHTON, P. A.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 60, 981 (1938).
- (124) CURIE, I., AND JOLIOT, F.: Nature 133, 201 (1934).
- (125) DAUDEL, R.: Compt. rend. 215, 177 (1942).
- (126) DAUDEL, R.: Compt. rend. 215, 301 (1942).
- (127) DAUDEL, R., DAUDEL, P., AND MARTIN, M.: Compt. rend. 219, 129 (1944).
- (128) DAVIDSON, N., AND SULLIVAN, J. H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 71, 739 (1949).
- (129) DE LA MARE, P. B. D.: J. Chem. Soc. 1955, 3180.
- (130) DODGEN, H. W., AND LIBBY, W. F.: J. Chem. Phys. 17, 951 (1949).
- (131) DODGEN, H. W., AND ROLLEFSON, G. K.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 71, 2600 (1949).
- (132) DODGEN, H. W., AND TAUBE, H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 71, 2501 (1949).
- (133) DODSON, R. W., AND FOWLER, R. D.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 61, 1215 (1939).
- (134) DOLE, M.: Chem. Revs. 51, 263 (1952).
- (134a) DOLE, M., AND LANE, G. A.: J. Chem. Phys. 22, 949 (1954).
- (135) DONDER, T. DE., AND VAN RYSSELBERGHE, P. J.: Thermodynamic Theory of Affinity. Stanford University Press, Stanford, California (1936).
- (136) DORFMAN, L. M., AND MATTRAW, H. C.: J. Phys. Chem. 57, 723 (1953).
- (137) DOUGLAS, D. L., COOLEY, R. A., AND YOST, D. M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 71, 3237 (1949).
- (138) DOWNES, A. M., AND HARRIS, G. M.: J. Chem. Phys. 20, 196 (1952).
- (139) DOWNS, J. J., AND JOHNSON, R. E.: J. Chem. Phys. 22, 143 (1954).
- (140) DOWNS, J. J., AND JOHNSON, R. E.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 77, 2098 (1955).
- (141) DREHMANN, U.: Z. physik. Chem. 53B, 227 (1943).
- (142) DUFFIELD, R. B., AND CALVIN, M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 68, 557 (1946).

- (143) DUKE, F. R., AND PARCHEN, F. R.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 78, 1540 (1956).
- (144) EAGER, R. L., AND MCCALLUM, K. J.: Can. J. Chem. 32, 692 (1954).
- (144a) Edwards, R. R.: Ann. Rev. of Nuclear Sci. 1, 301 (1952).
- (145) EISCHENS, R. P.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 6167 (1952).
- (146) ELKELES, H.: Acta Chem. Scand. 7, 1012 (1953).
- (147) ELKELES, H.: Acta Chem. Scand. 8, 1557 (1954).
- (148) ELKELES, H., AND BROSSET, C.: Svensk Kem. Tidskr. 65, 26 (1953).
- (149) ERLENMEYER, H., AND GÄRTNER, H.: Helv. Chim. Acta 17, 1008 (1934).
- (150) ERLENMEYER, H., AND LOBECK, H.: Helv. Chim. Acta 18, 1213 (1935).
- (151) ERLENMEYER, H., SCHOENAUER, W., AND SCHWARZBACH, G.: Helv. Chim. Acta 20, 726 (1937).
- (152) ETTLE, G. W., AND JOHNSON, C. H.: J. Chem. Soc. 1939, 1490.
- (153) EVANS, C. C., AND SUGDEN, S.: J. Chem. Soc. 1949, 270.
- (154) EVANS, E. A., HUSTON, J. L., AND NORRIS, T. H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 4985 (1952).
- (155) FANTES, K. H., PAGE, J. E., PARKER, L. F. J., AND SMITH, L. E.: Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) 136B, 592 (1949).
- (156) FARKAS, A.: Orthohydrogen, Parahydrogen and Heavy Hydrogen. Cambridge University Press, London (1935).
- (157) FAVA, A.: J. chim. phys. 50, 403 (1953).
- (158) FAVA, A.: Gazz. chim. ital. 83, 87 (1953).
- (159) FAVA, A., AND DIVO, D.: Gazz. chim. ital. 82, 558 (1953).
- (160) FAVA, A., AND DIVO, D.: Gazz. chim. ital. 82, 564 (1953).
- (161) FAVA, A., AND PAJARO, G.: Ann. chim. (Rome) 43, 502 (1953).
- (162) FAVA, A., AND PAJARO, G.: Ann. chim. (Rome) 44, 545 (1954).
- (163) FAVA, A., AND PAJARO, G.: J. chim. phys. 51, 594 (1954).
- (164) FAVA, A., AND SALSILLI, L.: Ricerca sci. 24, 375 (1954).
- (165) FEDER, H. M., AND TAUBE, H.: J. Chem. Phys. 20, 1335 (1952).
- (166) FIALKOV, YA. A., AND KAGAN, F. E.: J. Gen. Chem. (U.S.S.R.) 24, 1 (1954) (English Translation).
- (167) FIALKOV, YA. A., AND NAZARENKO, YU. P.: Izvest. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R., Otdel. Khim. Nauk **1950**, 590; Chem. Abstracts **45**, 6025 (1951).
- (168) FIALKOV, YA. A., AND NAZARENKO, YU. P.: Doklady Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. 101, 1059 (1955).
- (169) FLAGG, J. F.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 63, 557 (1941).
- (170) FORCHEIMER, O. L., AND TAUBE, H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 3705 (1952).
- (171) FORCHEIMER, O. L., AND TAUBE, H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 2099 (1954).
- (172) Foss, O.: Acta Chem. Scand. 1, 8 (1947).
- (173) FREILING, E. C., JOHNSTON, H. S., AND OGG, R. A., JR.: J. Chem. Phys. 20, 327 (1952).
- (174) FRIEDLANDER, G., AND KENNEDY, J. W.: Nuclear and Radiochemistry. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York (1955).
- (175) FRIEDMAN, H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 5 (1952).
- (176) FRIEDMAN, H. L., TAUBE, H., AND HUNT, J. P.: J. Chem. Phys. 20, 1016 (1952).
- (177) FRIEDMAN, L., AND BIGELEISEN, J.: J. Chem. Phys. 18, 1325 (1950).
- (178) FRIEDMAN, L., AND BIGELEISEN, J.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75, 2215 (1953).
- (179) FROST, A. A., AND PEARSON, R. G.: Kinetics and Mechanism. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York (1953).
- (180) Reference 179, p. 325.
- (181) FRY, A., AND CALVIN, M.: J. Phys. Chem. 56, 897 (1952).
- (182) FUKUSHIMA, S., HORIBE, Y., AND CHITANI, T.: Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan 25, 245 (1952).
- (183) GARRICK, F. J.: Nature 139, 507 (1937).
- (184) GARRISON, W. M., AND HAMILTON, J. G.: Chem. Revs. 49, 237 (1951).
- (185) GAZITH, M., AND NOYES, R. M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 77, 6091 (1955).
- (186) GILFILLAN, E. S., AND POLANYI, M.: Z. physik. Chem. A166, 254 (1933).
- (187) GIRARDOT, P. R., AND PARRY, R. W.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 73, 2368 (1951).

- (188) GLASNER, A., AND WIEDENFELD, L.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 2464 (1952).
- (189) GOEHRING, M., AND EBERT, J.: Z. Naturforsch. 10b, 241 (1955).
- (190) GOEHRING, M., AND HEINKE, J.: Z. anorg. Chem. 278, 53 (1955).
- (191) GOEHRING, M., HOHENSCHUTZ, H., AND EBERT, J.: Z. anorg. Chem. 276, 47 (1954).
- (192) GOEHRING, M., AND ROMMEL, E.: Private communication.
- (193) GOLD, V., AND SATCHELL, D. P. N.: Quart. Revs. (London) 9, 51 (1955).
- (194) GOODENOW, E. L., AND GARNER, C. S.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 77, 5268 (1955).
- (195) GRANTHAM, L. F., ELLEMAN, T. S., AND MARTIN, D. S., JR.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 77, 2965 (1955).
- (196) GRIFFITH, R. O., McKEOWN, A., AND TAYLOR, R. P.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 36, 752 (1940).
- (197) GRIGG, E. C. M., AND LAUDER, I.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 46, 1039 (1950).
- (198) GRINBERG, A. A.: Conference of the Academy of Sciences of the U.S.S.R. on the peaceful uses of atomic energy, July, 1955. Consultants Bureau, New York (English translation).
- (199) GRINBERG, A. A., AND FILINOW, F. M.: Compt. rend. acad. sci. U.R.S.S. 23, 912 (1939).
- (200) GRINBERG, A. A., AND FILINOW, P.: Compt. rend. acad. sci. U.R.S.S. 31, 453 (1941).
- (201) GRINBERG, A. A., KOZLOVA, L. I., NIKOL'SKAYA, L. E., AND SHAGISULTANOVA, G. A.: J. Appl. Chem. (U.S.S.R.) 28, 5 (1955) (English translation).
- (202) GRINBERG, A. A., AND NIKOL'SKAYA, L. E.: Zhur. Priklad. Khim. 24, 893 (1951).
- (203) GRINBERG, A. A., NIKOL'SKAYA, L. E., AND SHAGISULTANOVA, G. A.: Doklady Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. 101, 1059 (1955).
- (204) GROSSE, A. V., AND AGRUSS, M. S.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 57, 591 (1935).
- (205) GUR'YANOVA, E. N., SYRKIN, YA. K., AND KUZINA, L. S.: Doklady Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. 86, 107 (1952); Chem. Abstracts 47, 1475 (1953).
- (206) GUR'YANOVA, E. N., SYRKIN, YA. K., AND KUZINA, L. S.: Doklady Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. 85, 1021 (1952); Chem. Abstracts 47, 5877 (1953).
- (207) HAENNY, C., AND ROCHAT, G.: Helv. Chim. Acta 32, 2441 (1949).
- (208) HAENNY, C., AND WIKLER, E.: Helv. Chim. Acta 32, 2444 (1949).
- (209) HAISSINSKY, M.: J. chim. phys. 47, 957 (1950).
- (210) HAISSINSKY, M., AND DAUDEL, R.: Bull. soc. chim. France 1947, 552.
- (211) HALFORD, R. S.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 62, 3233 (1940).
- (212) HALL, N. F., AND WILLEFORD, B. R., JR.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 73, 5419 (1951).
- (213) HAMILL, W. H., AND YOUNG, J. A.: J. Chem. Phys. 20, 888 (1952).
- (213b) HAMILTON, J. G., GILE, JEANNE D., AND GARRISON, W. M.: J. Chem. Phys. 20, 523 (1952).
 - HAMILTON, J. G., OVERSTREET, R., JACOBSON, L., AND SCOTT, K.: National Nuclear Energy Series. The Fission Products, Book 3, p. 1489 (1951).
 HAMILTON, J. G., ROSSI, G. B., JONES, W. B. AND HOLLANDER, J. M.: Phys. Rev.
 - HAMILTON, J. G., ROSSI, G. B., JONES, W. B. AND HOLLANDER, J. M.: Phys. Rev. 93, 256 (1954).
- (214) HAPPE, J. A., AND MARTIN, D. S., JR.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 77, 4212 (1955).
- (215) HARBOTTLE, G., AND DODSON, R. W.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 73, 2442 (1951).
- (215a) HARLE, O. L., AND CALVIN, M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 68, 2612 (1946).
- (216) HARRIS, G. M.: Quoted by F. Basolo (36).
- (217) HARRIS, G. M.: J. Chem. Phys. 18, 764 (1950).
- (218) HARRIS, G. M.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 47, 716 (1951).
- (219) HARRIS, G. M.: Private communication.
- (220) HARRIS, G. M., AND STRANKS, D. R.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 48, 137 (1952).
- (221) HART, E. J., GORDON, S., AND HUTCHISON, D. A.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75, 6165 (1953).
- (222) HAYES, F. N., WILLIAMS, D. L., AND ROGERS, B.: Phys. Rev. 92, 512 (1953).
- (223) HAYWARD, P., AND YOST, D. M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 71, 915 (1949).
- (224) HEIJDE, H. B. VAN DER: Rec. trav. chim. 72, 95 (1953).
- (225) HEIJDE, H. B. VAN DER: Rec. trav. chim. 72, 510 (1953).

- (226) HEIJDE, H. B. VAN DER: Rec. trav. chim. 73, 193 (1954).
- (227) HEIJDE, H. B. VAN DER: Rec. trav. chim. 73, 462 (1954).
- (228) Heijde, H. B. van der, and Aten, A. H. W., Jr.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 3706 (1952).
- (229) HEIJDE, H. B. VAN DER, AND ATEN, A. H. W., JR.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75, 754 (1953).
- (230) HEISIG, G. B., AND HOLT, R.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 1597 (1952).
- (231) HELLAUER, H., AND SPITZY, H.: Biochem. Z. 325, 40 (1953).
- (232) HENDERSON, W. G., JR., AND BERNSTEIN, R. B.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 5344 (1954).
- (233) HENRIQUES, F. C., KISTIAKOWSKY, G. B., MARGNETTI, C., AND SCHNEIDER, W. G.: Anal. Chem. 18, 349 (1946).
- (234) HERBER, R. H., AND NORRIS, T. H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 3849 (1954).
- (235) HERBER, R. H., NORRIS, T. H., AND HUSTON, J. L.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 2015 (1954).
- (236) HERZBERG, G.: Infrared and Raman Spectra of Polyatomic Molecules. D. Van Nostrand Co., Inc., New York (1945).
- (237) HEVESY, G., AND ZECHMEISTER, L.: Ber. 53, 410 (1920).
- (238) HEYDING, R. D., AND WINKLER, C. A.; Can. J. Chem. 29, 790 (1951).
- (239) HIGGINSON, W. C. E., AND SUTTON, D.: J. Chem. Soc. 1953, 1402.
- (240) HODGES, J. H., AND MICELI, A. S.: J. Chem. Phys. 9, 725 (1941).
- (241) HOLDEN, J. S., AND HARRIS, G. M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 77, 1934 (1955).
- (242) HOLMES, O. G., AND MCCALLUM, K. J.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 72, 5319 (1950).
- (243) HOSHOWSKY, S. A., HOLMES, O. G., AND MCCALLUM, K. J.: Can. J. Research 27B, 258 (1949).
- (244) HOWALD, R. A., AND WILLARD, J. E.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 77, 2046 (1955).
- (245) HUDIS, J., AND DODSON, R. W.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 78, 911 (1956).
- (246) HUDIS, J., AND WAHL, A. C.; J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75, 4153 (1953).
- (247) HUGHES, E. D., JULIUSBURGER, F., MASTERMAN, S., TOPLEY, B., AND WEISS, J.: J. Chem. Soc. 1935, 1525.
- (248) HUGHES, F. J., AND MARTIN, D. S., JR.: J. Phys. Chem. 59, 410 (1955).
- (249) HULL, D. E.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 63, 1269 (1941).
- (250) HULL, D. E., SHIFLETT, C. H., AND LIND, S. C.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 58, 535 (1936).
- (251) HUNT, J. P., AND PLANE, R. A.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 5960 (1954).
- (252) HUNT, J. P., RUTENBERG, A. C., AND TAUBE, H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 268 (1952).
- (253) HUNT, J. P., AND TAUBE, H.: J. Chem. Phys. 18, 757 (1950).
- (254) HUNT, J. P., AND TAUBE, H.: J. Chem. Phys. 19, 602 (1951).
- (255) HUNT, J. P., AND TAUBE, H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 5999 (1952).
- (256) HÜRZELER, H., AND HOSTETTLER, H. U.: Helv. Chim. Acta 38, 1825 (1955).
- (257) HUSTON, J. L.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 73, 3049 (1951).
- (258) HUSTON, J. L.: J. Inorg. Nuclear Chem. 2, 128 (1956).
- (259) IONIN, V. D., LUKOVNIKOV, A. F., NEIMAN, M. B., AND NESMEYANOV, AN. N.: Doklady Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. 67, 463 (1949); Chem. Abstracts 43, 7815 (1949).
- (260) JACOBSON, H.: J. Chem. Phys. 18, 994 (1950).
- (261) JENKINS, F. E., AND HARRIS, G. M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 79, 276 (1957).
- (262) JENKINS, W. A., JR., AND YOST, D. M.: J. Chem. Phys. 20, 538 (1952).
- (263) JOHNSON, J. E., AND HALL, N. F.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 70, 2344 (1948).
- (264) JOHNSON, R. E.: J. Chem. Phys. 21, 1405 (1953).
- (265) JOHNSON, R. E., NORRIS, T. H., AND HUSTON, J. L.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 73, 3052 (1951).
- (266) JOHNSTON, W. H., AND LIBBY, W. F.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 73, 854 (1951).
- (267) JOHNSTON, W. H., AND O'SHEA, C. J.: J. Chem. Phys. 21, 2080 (1953).
- (268) JONES, S. S., AND LONG, F. A.: J. Phys. Chem. 56, 25 (1952).
- (269) JONES, W. M.: J. Chem. Phys. 16, 1077 (1948).
- (270) JONES, W. M.: J. Chem. Phys. 19, 78 (1951).
- (271) JORIS, G. G.: J. Chem. Phys. 9, 775 (1941).
- (272) JULIUSBERGER, F., TOPLEY, B., AND WEISS, J.: J. Chem. Phys. 3, 437 (1935).
- (273) KAHN, M., AND FREEDMAN, A. J.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 929 (1954).

- (274) KAHN, M., AND WAHL, A. C.: J. Chem. Phys. 21, 1185 (1953).
- (275) KAMEN, M. D.: Radioactive Tracers in Biology. Academic Press, New York (1948).
- (276) KAPLAN, L., AND WILZBACH, K. E.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 2593 (1954).
- (277) KASARNOWSKY, I., LIPICHIN, N., AND TICHOMIROV, M.: Nature 178, 100 (1956).
- (278) KAUFMAN, J. J., AND KOSKI, W. S.: J. Chem. Phys. 24, 403 (1956).
- (279) KENNEDY, J. W.: Radioactive Atoms and Isotopic Tracers, 26th Annual Priestley Lecture. Pennsylvania State College (1952).
- (280) KING, W. R., JR., AND GARNER, C. S.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 5534 (1952).
- (281) KIRSHENBAUM, I.: Physical Properties and Analysis of Heavy Water. McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York (1951).
- (282) KLEIN, R., SCHEER, M. D., AND SCHOEN, L. J.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 78, 47 (1956).
- (283) KLEINBERG, J.: J. Chem. Educ. 33, 73 (1956).
- (284) KLEINBERG, J., AND SATTIZAHN, J.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 73, 1865 (1951).
- (285) KOSKOSKI, W., DODSON, R. W., AND FOWLER, R. D.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 63, 2149 (1941).
- (286) KOSKOSKI, W., AND FOWLER, R. D.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 64, 850 (1942).
- (287) KUKHTENKO, I. I., AND MIKLUKHIN, G. P.: Doklady Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. 100, 921 (1955).
- (288) LAIDLER, K. J.: Chemical Kinetics. McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York (1950).
- (289) LAMB, A. B., AND MYSELS, K. J.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 67, 468 (1945).
- (290) LAMB, A. B., AND STEVENS, R. G.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 61, 3229 (1939).
- (291) LAMER, V. K., AND HOCHBERG, S.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 61, 2552 (1939).
- (292) LARSON, L. L., AND GARNER, C. S.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 2180 (1954).
- (293) LATIMER, W. M.: Oxidation Potentials. Prentice-Hall, Inc., New York (1952).
- (294) LEE, D. A.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 2590 (1954).
- (295) LEIFER, E.: J. Chem. Phys. 8, 301 (1940).
- (296) LEVENTHAL, L., AND GARNER, C. S.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 71, 371 (1949).
- (297) LEWIS, G. N., AND MACDONALD, R. T.: J. Chem. Phys. 1, 341 (1933).
- (298) LEWIS, J., AND SOWERBY, D. B.: J. Chem. Soc. 1957, 336.
- (299) LEWIS, J., AND WILKINS, R. G.: J. Chem. Soc. 1955, 56.
- (300) LEWIS, W. B., CORYELL, C. D., AND IRVINE, J. W., JR.: J. Chem. Soc. 1949, S386.
- (301) LIBBY, W. F.: J. Chem. Phys. 8, 348 (1940).
- (302) LIBBY, W. F.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 62, 1930 (1940).
- (303) LIBERATORE, L. C., AND WIIG, E. O.: J. Chem. Phys. 8, 165 (1940).
- (304) LIPPINCOTT, E. R., AND TOBIN, M. C.: J. Chem. Phys. 21, 1559 (1953).
- (305) LLEWELLYN, D. R.: Private communication.
- (306) LONG, F. A.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 61, 571 (1939).
- (307) LONG, F. A.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 63, 1353 (1941).
- (308) LONG, F. A.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 73, 537 (1951).
- (309) LONG, F. A., JONES, S. S., AND BURKE, M.: Isotopic Exchange Reactions and Chemical Kinetics, Brookhaven Chemical Conference No. 2, p. 106 (1948).
- (310) LONG, F. A., AND OLSON, A. R.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 58, 2214 (1936).
- (311) LUEHR, C. P., CHALLENGER, G. E., AND MASTERS, B. J.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 78, 1314 (1956).
- (312) MACDIARMID, A. G., AND HALL, N. F.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75, 5204 (1953).
- (313) MACDIARMID, A. G., AND HALL, N. F.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 4222 (1954).
- (314) MACKENZIE, H. A. E., AND MILNER, A. M.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 49, 1437 (1953).
- (315) MALEY, L. E.: J. Roy. Soc. N. S. Wales 84, 130 (1950).
- (316) MARCUS, R. A.: J. Chem. Phys. 23, 1107 (1955).
- (317) MARTELL, A. E., AND CALVIN, M.: Chemistry of the Metal Chelate Compounds, pp. 225-37. Prentice-Hall, Inc., New York (1952).
- (318) MARTIN, P., DAUDEL, P., DAUDEL, R., AND MAGNIER, P.: Compt. rend. 224, 195 (1947).

- (319) MARX, D.: Compt. rend. 233, 865 (1951).
- (320) MASTERS, B. J., AND NORRIS, T. H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 77, 1346 (1955).
- (321) MATTRAW, H. C., PACKUCKI, C. F., AND DORFMAN, L. M.: J. Chem. Phys. 20, 926 (1952).
- (322) MAYBURY, P. C., AND KOSKI, W. S.: J. Chem. Phys. 21, 742 (1953).
- (323) McCallum, K. J., and Hoshowsky, S. A.: J. Chem. Phys. 16, 254 (1948).
- (324) McConnell, H., and Davidson, N.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 71, 3845 (1949).
- (325) McKAY, H. A. C.: Nature 142, 997 (1938).
- (326) MEIER, D. J., AND GARNER, C. S.: J. Chem. Phys. 17, 1344 (1949).
- (327) MELANDER, L.: Arkiv Kemi 2, 211 (1950).
- (328) MELANDER, L.: Arkiv Kemi 7, 287 (1954).
- (329) MENKER, H. E., AND GARNER, C. S.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 71, 371 (1949).
- (330) MITCHELL, A. D.: J. Chem. Soc. 1923, 2241.
- (331) MOELLER, T.: Inorganic Chemistry, p. 643. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York (1952).
- (332) Reference 331, p. 549.
- (333) MOELLER, T., AND QUINTY, G. H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 6122 (1952).
- (334) MOGNIER, P., KHROUNOFF, A., MARTIN, M., DAUDEL, P., AND DAUDEL, R.: Bull. soc. chim. France 1947, 626.
- (335) MURMANN, R. K., AND TAUBE, H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 78, 4886 (1956).
- (336) MUXART, R.: Compt. rend. 224, 1107 (1947).
- (337) MUXART, R.: Compt. rend. 231, 1489 (1950).
- (338) MUXART, R., CHALVET, O., AND DAUDEL, P.: J. chim. phys. 46, 373 (1949).
- (339) MUXART, R., AND DAUDEL, R.: J. chim. phys. 47, 610 (1950).
- (340) MUXART, R., DAUDEL, P., AND BOSCARDIN, B.: J. chim. phys. 46, 466 (1949).
- (341) MUXART, R., DAUDEL, P., DAUDEL, R., AND HAISSINSKY, M.: Nature 159, 538 (1947).
- (342) MYERS, O. E., AND KENNEDY, J. W.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 72, 897 (1950).
- (343) MYERS, O. E., AND PRESTWOOD, R. J.: Reference 464, Chap. I, p. 11.
- (343a) Myers, O. E., and Prestwood, R. J.: Reference 464, p. 34.
- (344) NAKATA, S.: J. Chem. Soc. Japan 64, 635 (1943).
- (345) NAZARENKO, YU. P., AND VOOK, T. V.: Ukrain. Khim. Zhur. 21, 16 (1955); Chem. Abstracts 49, 13003 (1955).
- (346) NEIMAN, M. B., GRONIKBERG, M. G., MILLER, V. B., SHAPOVALOV, YA. M., AND ZVEZDKIN, V. S.: Doklady Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. 92, 365 (1953); Chem. Abstracts 49, 5086a (1955).
- (347) NEIMAN, M. B., TORSUEVA, E. S., FEDOSEEVA, A. I., AND SHANTAROVICH, P. S.: Doklady Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. 86, 317 (1952); Chem. Abstracts 47, 438 (1953).
- (348) NEOGI, P., AND MUKHERJEE, G. K.: J. Indian Chem. Soc. 11, 681 (1934).
- (349) NEUMANN, H. M., AND BROWN, H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 78, 1843 (1956).
- (350) NISHINA, Y., IIMORI, T., KUBO, H., AND NAKAYAMA, H.: J. Chem. Phys. 9, 571 (1941).
- (351) NORRIS, T. H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 72, 1220 (1950).
- (352) NORRIS, T. H.: J. Phys. & Colloid Chem. 54, 777 (1950).
- (353) NORRIS, T. H., AND HERBER, R. H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 3849 (1954).
- (354) NORRIS, T. H., RUBEN, S., AND KAMEN, M. D.: J. Chem. Phys. 9, 726 (1941).
- (355) NOYES, R. M., AND ZIMMERMAN, J.: J. Chem. Phys. 18, 656 (1950).
- (356) NYLEN, P.: Z. anorg. Chem. 235, 161 (1938).
- (357) NYMAN, C. J., FUNG, SI-CHANG, AND DODGEN, H. W.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 72, 1033 (1950).
- (358) Ogg, R. A., JR.: J. Chem. Phys. 15, 337 (1947).
- (359) Ogg, R. A., JR.: J. Chem. Phys. 15, 613 (1947).
- (360) OGG, R. A., JR.: J. Chem. Phys. 21, 2078 (1953).
- (361) OGG, R. A., JR.: J. Chem. Phys. 21, 2079 (1953).
- (361a) OGG, R. A., JR.: Reference 364, p. 215.

- (362) OGG, R. A., JR., RICHARDSON, W. S., AND WILSON, M. K.: J. Chem. Phys. 18, 573 (1950).
- (363) Ogg, R. A., JR., AND SUTPHEN, W. T.: J. Chem. Phys. 21, 2078 (1953).
- (364) OGG, R. A., JR., AND SUTPHEN, W. T.: Discussions Faraday Soc., The Study of Fast Reactions, p. 47 (1954).
- (365) OKAMOTO, G., AND ABE, S.: J. Chem. Soc. Japan 57, 1175 (1936).
- (366) D'OR, L., AND TARTE, P.: Bull. soc. roy. sci. Liège 22, 276 (1953).
- (367) OWEN, J. H., AND JOHNSON, R. E.: J. Inorg. Nuclear Chem. 2, 260 (1956).
- (368) PAJARO, G., AND FAVA, A.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 78, 5203 (1956).
- (369) PAULING, L.: The Nature of the Chemical Bond. Cornell University Press, Ithaca, New York (1939).
- (370) PEARSON, R. G., HENRY, P. M., BERGMAN, J. G., AND BASOLO, F.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 5920 (1954).
- (371) PEDERSEN, K. J.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 53, 18 (1931).
- (372) PENNA-FRANCA, E., AND DODSON, R. W.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 77, 2651 (1955).
- (373) PERLMAN, M., BIGELEISEN, J., AND ELLIOTT, N.: J. Chem. Phys. 21, 70 (1953).
- (374) PERRIER, C., AND SEGRE, E.: Ricerca sci. 9, 638 (1938).
- (375) PESCHANSKI, D.: Compt. rend. 230, 85 (1950).
- (376) PETHICA, B. A., ROBERTS, E. R., AND WINTER, E. R. S.: J. Chem. Phys. 18, 996 (1950).
- (377) PFEIFFER, P., THIELERT, H., AND GLASER, H.: J. prakt. Chem. 152, 145 (1939).
- (378) PLANE, R. A., AND TAUBE, H.: J. Phys. Chem. 56, 33 (1952).
- (379) POLANYI, M., AND SZABO, A. L.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 30, 508 (1934).
- (380) POLESSITSKIJ, A.: Compt. rend. acad. sci. U.R.S.S. 24, 540 (1939).
- (381) POLESSITSKIJ, A., JASTCHENKO, M., AND BARANCHIK, N.: Compt. rend. acad. sci. U.R.S.S. 34, 83 (1942).
- (382) POLISSAR, M. J.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 58, 1372 (1956).
- (383) POPPLEWELL, D. S., AND WILKINS, R. G.: J. Chem. Soc. 1955, 4098.
- (384) POSEY, F. A., AND TAUBE, H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75, 4099 (1953).
- (385) PRESTWOOD, R. J., AND WAHL, A. C.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 71, 3137 (1949).
- (386) PRIEST, SAINT, SAUTREAU, R., MUXART, R., DAUDEL, P., AND DAUDEL, R.: Experientia 3, 239 (1947).
- (387) QUAGLIANO, J. V., AND SCHUBERT, L.: Chem. Revs. 50, 201 (1952).
- (388) REITZ, O.: Z. Elektrochem. 45, 100 (1939).
- (389) RICE, F. O., AND SCHERBER, F.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 77, 291 (1955).
- (390) RICH, R. L., AND TAUBE, H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 2608 (1954).
- (391) RICH, R. L., AND TAUBE, H.: J. Phys. Chem. 58, 1 (1954).
- (392) RICH, R. L., AND TAUBE, H.: J. Phys. Chem. 58, 6 (1954).
- (393) RICHARDS, T. W., AND WILLARD, H. H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 32, 4 (1910).
- (394) RICHARDSON, R. L., AND BENSON, S. W.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 73, 5096 (1951).
- (395) RIESEBOS, P. C., AND ATEN, A. H. W., JR.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 2440 (1952).
- (396) RILEY, R. F., RICHTER, E., ROTHERAM, M., TODD, N., MYERS, L. S., JR., AND NUS-BAUM, R.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 3301 (1954).
- (397) ROBINSON, C. V.: Science 112, 198 (1950).
- (398) ROE, A., AND FINLAY, J. B.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 2442 (1952).
- (399) ROGERS, M. T., AND KATZ, J. J.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 1375 (1952).
- (400) ROGINSKII, S., AND GOPSHTEIN, N.: Physik. Z. Sowjetunion 7, 672 (1935).
- (401) RONA, E.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 72, 4339 (1950).
- (402) ROPP, G. A.: J. Chem. Phys. 23, 2196 (1955).
- (403) ROPP, G. A., RAAEN, V. F., AND WEINBERGER, A. J.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75, 3694 (1953).
- (404) Rossotti, F. J. C.: J. Inorg. Nuclear Chem. 1, 159 (1955).
- (405) LE ROUX, L. J., AND SWART, E. R.: J. Chem. Soc. 1955, 1475.
- (406) RUBEN, S., FRENKEL, A. W., AND KAMEN, M. D.: J. Phys. Chem. 46, 710 (1942).

- (407) RUBEN, S., KAMEN, M. D., ALLEN, M. B., AND NAHINSKY, P.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 64, 2297 (1942).
- (408) RUBEN, S., SEABORG, G., AND KENNEDY, J.: J. Applied Phys. 12, 308 (1941).
- (409) RUTENBERG, A. C.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 77, 3001 (1955).
- (410) RUTENBERG, A. C., AND TAUBE, H.: J. Chem. Phys. 20, 825 (1952).
- (411) SAITO, E., AND LAZARD, B.: J. Inorg. Nuclear Chem. 1, 218 (1955).
- (412) SCHNEIDER, W., STRANKS, D. R., AND DAINTON, F. S.: To be published.
- (413) SCHWEBEL, A., ISBELL, F. S., AND MAYER, J. D.: J. Research Natl. Bur. Standards 53, 221 (1954).
- (414) Scoffier, G.: Compt. rend. 227, 63 (1948).
- (415) SEABORG, G. T.: Chem. Revs. 27, 199 (1940).
- (416) SHAPIRO, I., AND KEILIN, B.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 77, 2663 (1955).
- (417) SHEPPARD, J. C., AND WAHL, A. C.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 79, 1020 (1957).
- (418) SHEPPARD, W. A., AND BOURNE, A. N.: Can. J. Chem. 32, 4 (1954).
- (419) SLATER, N. B.: Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) 194, 112 (1948).
- (420) SLOTH, E. N., AND GARNER, C. S.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 77, 1440 (1955).
- (421) SMITH, R. E., AND BRONSON, J. F.: Science 107, 603 (1948).
- (422) SPINDEL, W.: J. Chem. Phys. 22, 1271 (1954).
- (423) SPINDEL, W., AND TAYLOR, T. I.: J. Chem. Phys. 16, 635 (1948).
- (424) Spindel, W., and Taylor, T. I.: J. Chem. Phys. 23, 981 (1955).
- (425) SPINDEL, W., AND TAYLOR, T. I.: J. Chem. Phys. 24, 626 (1956).
- (426) STEPHEN, M. J., AND DANBY, C. J.: Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) 232A, 271 (1955).
- (427) STEVENS, W. H., AND ATTREE, R. W.: Can. J. Research 27B, 807 (1949).
- (427a) STEVENS, W. H., AND CROWDER, D. A.: Can. J. Chem. 32, 792 (1954).
- (428) STIEGMAN, J.: Phys. Rev. 59, 498 (1941).
- (429) STRAATEN, H. VAN DER, AND ATEN, A. H. W., JR.: Rec. trav. chim. 73, 157 (1954).
- (430) STRANKS, D. R.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 48, 911 (1952).
- (431) STRANKS, D. R.: J. Chem. Phys. 21, 2232 (1953).
- (432) STRANKS, D. R.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 51, 492 (1955).
- (433) STRANKS, D. R.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 51, 499 (1955).
- (434) STRANKS, D. R.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 51, 505 (1955).
- (435) STRANKS, D. R.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 51, 514 (1955).
- (436) STRANKS, D. R.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 51, 524 (1955).
- (437) STRANKS, D. R.: J. Sci. Instruments 33, 1 (1956).
- (438) STRANKS, D. R., AND HARRIS, G. M.: J. Chem. Phys. 19, 257 (1951).
- (439) STRANKS, D. R., AND HARRIS, G. M.: J. Phys. Chem. 56, 906 (1952).
- (440) STRANKS, D. R., AND HARRIS, G. M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75, 2015 (1953).
- (441) SUE, P., AND KAYOS, G.: J. chim. phys. 45, 188 (1948).
- (442) SYMONS, M. C. R.: J. Chem. Soc. 1954, 3676.
- (443) TAUBE, H.: Private communication.
- (444) TAUBE, H.: "Hydration of Cations," paper presented at the Symposium on Valency and Chemical Bonding, University of Wisconsin, Madison, Wisconsin, June, 1956.
- (445) TAUBE, H.: Chem. Revs. 50, 69 (1952).
- (446) TAUBE, H.: J. Phys. Chem. 58, 523 (1954).
- (447) TAUBE, H., AND DODGEN, H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 71, 3330 (1949).
- (448) TAUBE, H., AND KING, E. L.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 4053 (1954).
- (449) TAUBE, H., AND MYERS, H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 2103 (1954).
- (450) TAUBE, H., MYERS, H., AND RICH, R. L.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75, 4118 (1953).
- (451) TAUBE, H., AND POSEY, F. A.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75, 1463 (1953).
- (452) THOMAS, H. C.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 63, 629 (1941).
- (453) THOMPSON, R. C.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 70, 1045 (1948).
- (454) TOPLEY, B., AND WEISS, J.: J. Chem. Soc. 1936, 912.
- (455) TUCK, D. G., CORYELL, C. D., AND IRVINE, J. W., JR.: J. Phys. Chem. 60, 378 (1956).

- (456) TUDGE, A. P., AND THODE, H. G.: Can. J. Research 28B, 567 (1950).
- (457) TURCO, A., AND MAZZONI, L.: Ann. chim. (Rome) 43, 853 (1953).
- (458) TURCO, A., SORDILLO, G., AND SCATENA, M.: Ricerca sci. 25, 2361 (1955).
- (459) UREY, H. C.: J. Chem. Soc. 1947, 562.
- (460) VOGE, H. H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 61, 1032 (1939).
- (461) VOGE, H. H., AND LIBBY, W. F.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 59, 2474 (1937).
- (462) VOGEL, R. C., AND PODALL, H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 72, 1420 (1950).
- (463) WAGNER, G., PELZ, A., AND HIGATSBERGER, M. J.: Monatsh. 85, 464 (1954).
- (464) WAHL, A. C., AND BONNER, N. A.: Radioactivity Applied to Chemistry. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York (1951).
- (465) WAHL, A. C., AND SEABORG, G. T.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 63, 2849 (1941).
- (466) WAHL, M. H., AND UREY, H. C.: J. Chem. Phys. 3, 411 (1935).
- (467) WALSER, M., GEORGE, J., AND BODENLOS, L. J.: J. Chem. Phys. 22, 1146 (1954).
- (468) WEST, B. O.: J. Chem. Soc. 1952, 3115.
- (469) WEST, B. O.: J. Chem. Soc. 1954, 578.
- (470) WEST, B. O.: J. Chem. Soc. 1954, 395.
- (471) WESTON, R. E., JR., AND BIGELEISEN, J.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 3074 (1954).
- (472) WESTON, R. E., JR.: J. Chem. Phys. 23, 988 (1955).
- (473) WHITEHOUSE, W. J., AND PUTMAN, J. L.: Radioactive Isotopes, Chap. I and IV. Oxford University Press, London (1953).
- (474) WHITNEY, I. B., SCHWEITZER, G. K., AND COMAR, C. L.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 77, 1390 (1955).
- (475) WIBERG, K. B.: Chem. Revs. 55, 713 (1955).
- (476) WILKINS, R. G.: Unpublished observations.
- (477) WILKINS, R. G., AND POPPLEWELL, D. S.: Rec. trav. chim. 75, 815 (1956) and unpublished observations.
- (478) WILKINS, R. G., AND WILLIAMS, M. J. G.: J. Chem. Soc. 1957, 1763.
- (479) WILLIAMS, R. J. P.: J. Chem. Soc. 1955, 137.
- (480) WILMARTH, W. K., AND DAYTON, J. C.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75, 4553 (1953).
- (481) WILMARTH, W. K., DAYTON, J. C., AND FLOURNOY, J. M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75, 4549 (1953).
- (482) WILSON, E. B.: Chem. Revs. 27, 17 (1940).
- (483) WILSON, J. N.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 60, 2697 (1938).
- (484) WILSON, J. N., AND DICKINSON, R. G.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 59, 1358 (1937).
- (485) WILSON, J. N., AND DICKINSON, R. G.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 61, 3519 (1939).
- (486) WOLFGANG, R. L., AND DODSON, R. W.: J. Phys. Chem. 56, 782 (1952).
- (487) WOLFGANG, R. L., AND DODSON, R. W.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 2004 (1954).
- (488) YANKWICH, P. E., AND MCNAMARA, J. E.: J. Chem. Phys. 20, 1325 (1952).
- (489) YOST, D. M., AND RUSSELL, H., JR.: Systematic Inorganic Chemistry, p. 193. Oxford University Press, London (1946).
- (490) ZABORENKO, K. B., NEIMAN, M. B., AND SAMSONOVA, V. I.: Doklady Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. 64, 541 (1949); Chem. Abstracts 43, 4565 (1949).
- (491) ZINTL, E., AND RAUCH, A.: Ber. 57, 1739 (1925).
- (492) ZWOLINSKI, B. J., MARCUS, R. J., AND EYRING, H.: Chem. Revs. 55, 157 (1955).

ADDITIONAL REFERENCES

(Added June 14, 1957)

- (493) ATEN, A. H. W., JR., LOUWRIER, K. P., COPPENS, P., KOK, H. A., ROOS, A. M. DE, KRIEK, E., HILLEGE, A., VOLLBRACHT, L., AND HARTOG, F.: J. Inorg. Nuclear Chem. 3, 296 (1956).
- (494) BARDWELL, J., AND DYNE, P. J.: Can. J. Chem. 35, 82 (1957).
- (495) BRODSKII, A. I.: Ukrain. Khim. Zhur. 22, 417 (1956); Chem. Abstracts 51, 3249 (1957).

- (496) DARBEE, L. R., JENKINS, F. E., AND HARRIS, G. M.: J. Chem. Phys. 25, 605 (1956).
- (497) HOERING, T. C., BUTLER, R. C., AND McDONALD, H. O.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 78, 4829 (1956).
- (498) HOERING, T. C., AND KENNEDY, J. W.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 79, 56 (1957).
- (499) JENKINS, F. E., AND HARRIS, G. M.: J. Phys. Chem. 61, 249 (1957).
- (500) JOHNSON, R. E.: Nucleonics 14, 96 (1956).
- (501) MASTERS, B. J., POTTER, N. D., ASHER, D. R., AND NORRIS, T. H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 78, 4252 (1956).
- (502) PAVLOV, V. L., AND FIALKOV, YU. YA.: Zhur. Obschchei Khim. 26, 1531 (1956).
- (503) WALTON, J. R., AND JOHNSTON, W. H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 78, 5991 (1956).